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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FIEEE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The global outbreak of novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic
brought challenges to the business environment in 2020. During 2021,
the COVID-19 pandemic was gradually brought under control and the
business environment improved during the Year. Hence, market demand
for many consumer products rebounded and the Group recorded a
growth in both revenue and profit after tax. The growth was contributed
by the increase in sales of e-cigarette products and integrated plastic
solutions.

The Group operates its business through three segments, namely
integrated plastic solutions segment, electronic cigarette (the
“e-cigarettes”) products segment and medical consumable products
segment. The integrated plastic solutions segment engages in mould
design and fabrication services as well as plastic component design and
manufacturing services. The e-cigarettes products segment engages in
the manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products under the brand
names owned by a well-known tobacco group. The Group's medical
consumable products segment engages in the manufacturing and
sales of disposable face masks products under our own brand name
of "CAREWE". The Group distributes our products within the domestic
market and to overseas markets, including Europe, Asia and the United
States (the "U.S.").

During the Year, the Group's total revenue amounted to approximately
HK$1,117.7 million, representing an increase of approximately
41.9% (2020: HK$787.4 million). The Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately HK$253.9 million (2020: HK$193.7 million) with a gross
profit margin of approximately 22.7% (2020: 24.6%).

The Group recorded a profit for the Year attributable to equity holders of
the Company of approximately HK$96.3 million (2020: HK$73.7 million).
Basic earnings per share attributable to equity holders of the Company
were approximately 15.53 HK cents (2020: 11.89 HK cents).
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The Group has been increasing its production capacity for the current
and new products through the addition of new machines. In addition,
the new factory premises were still under construction during 2021,
the Group is considering to lease out the new factory premises after
completion. During the Year, the capital expenditure incurred by the
Group amounted to approximately HK$80.9 million, including HK$17.2
million for the addition of new machines and HK$60.2 million for the
construction of new factory premises.

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

Although there was a temporary relief of the COVID-19 pandemic during
2021, the COVID-19 pandemic was rebounded in late 2021. It still casts
doubt on the global economy and business environment, which may
affect the demand for the Group’s products. In view of the uncertainty
of the market, the Group plans different measures including (but not
limited to) leasing out the new factory premises, which is expected to be
completed in the first quarter of 2022, to independent third party.

Under the uncertainties of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group will stay
competitive in the market by diversifying our product portfolio through
further research and development and enhancing the quality of our
products.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere gratitude
towards the continual support from the shareholders and the valuable
contributions of the staff. The management team will continue to fulfill
its duties to create more values for the shareholders.

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EfEs#RR iR

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS
Integrated Plastic Solutions

Revenue from the integrated plastic solutions business division was
mainly derived from (i) the design and fabrication of plastic injection
moulds; and (ii) design and manufacturing of plastic components
employing the plastic injection moulds fabricated internally or by our
subcontractors.

The Group is able to specifically engineer and fabricate, plastic injection
moulds with cavities, to shape the plastic components in accordance
with the desired and customised design, features and specifications.
The Group has the technical capabilities to fabricate moulds that meet
the MT1 precision level as defined by the “National Standard of the
People's Republic of China GB/T14486- 2008-Dimensional Tolerances
for Moulded Plastic Parts” (15 AR HAMEBKIZLECB/T14486-2008-
SRR {4 R <A Z) which is the highest precision level under the
national guidelines. By utilising the plastic injection process and applying
the plastic injection moulds fabricated by the Group or, in limited cases,
external subcontractors, the Group manufactures plastic components
for office furniture, office electronic products, home appliances,
communication products, automobiles and solar system.

Manufacturing of e-cigarette products

The Group manufactures e-cigarettes products as an original equipment
manufacturer (“OEM”). Such e-cigarette products include disposable
e-cigarettes, refillable e-cigarettes, battery rods, clearomisers,
liguidpods and heated tobacco device.

Manufacturing of medical consumable products

The Group manufactures disposable face masks by utilising the
cleanroom facilities in the Group's production plant in Huizhou and
acquiring disposable face mask production machines since 2020, as
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 7 July 2020.

The cleanroom facility in Huizhou has been certified in compliance with
the cleanroom standard of ISO14644-1:2015 Class 8, as recognised by
the U.S. National Environmental Balancing Bureau. The manufacturing
quality system, complemented by medical device sterilization controls,
has fulfilled the international standard of EN IS013485:2016 Medical
Devices Quality Management Systems as certified by the Société
Générale de Surveillance S.A. (“SGS”). In addition, the Group has been
granted Medical Device Manufacturing Enterprise License (E8/&Ez3i 4
EFF A7) on medical device production issued by the National Medical
Products Administration in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS (conTINUED)
Manufacturing of medical consumable products (Continued)

The procedure face masks have been tested and proved to be meeting
up to the standard of ASTM F2100 Level 3 in the U.S. and the standard
of EN14683 Type IIR in Europe. Apart from the procedure face masks,
the Group also developed face masks with higher level of protection,
such as particulate face masks — KN95 and FFP2. The particulate
face masks — KN95, has passed the requirements of GB2626- 2016
standard in the PRC and NIOSH N95 — Pre-Certification Test issued by
the ICS Laboratories and Nelson Laboratories in the U.S. In addition, the
particulate face masks — FFP2, has also passed the requirements of EN
149:2001+A1:2009 standard, credited as FFP2 NR protective respirator,
and certified with CE Mark (through SGS Fimko Oy, Notified Body #0598)
granted by the SGS.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$1,117.7 million, representing an increase of approximately HK$330.3
million, or approximately 41.9%, from approximately HK$787.4 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The integrated plastic solutions segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$481.4 million, accounting for
approximately 43.1% of our total revenue and representing an increase
of approximately HK$142.1 million, or approximately 41.9%, from
segment revenue of approximately HK$339.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2020. This was primarily due to the recovery of global
economy and increase in orders from the Group's major customers
during the year.

The e-cigarettes products segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2021 was approximately HK$634.3 million, accounting for
approximately 56.8% of our total revenue and representing an increase
of approximately HK$192.6 million, or approximately 43.6%, from
segment revenue of approximately HK$441.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2020. The increase was attributable to the increase in
orders for e-cigarettes products during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsi R iR

FINANCIAL REVIEW (coNTINUED)
Revenue (Continued)

The medical consumable products segment revenue for the year ended
31 December 2021 was approximately HK$2.0 million, accounting for
approximately 0.1% of our total revenue and representing a decrease of
approximately HK$4.4 million, or approximately 68.8%, from segment
revenue of approximately HK$6.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. This decrease was resulted from the rising number of
new competitors in the disposable face masks market, which adversely
affected the unit price sold and market penetration of our products.
Besides, due to the high transportation cost in 2021, orders from
overseas customers decreased during the year.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$253.9 million (2020: HK$193.7 million), representing a gross profit
margin of 22.7% (2020: 24.6%).

Segment gross profit for integrated plastic solutions for 2021 was
approximately HK$120.2 million (2020: HK$85.8 million), representing a
gross profit margin of 25.0% (2020: 25.3%).

Segment gross profit for e-cigarettes products for 2021 was
approximately HK$137.4 million (2020: HK$105.4 million), representing a
gross profit margin of 21.7% (2020: 23.9%). This decrease was resulted
from the decrease in unit price sold.

Segment gross loss for medical consumable products for 2021 was
approximately HK$3.8 million (2020: gross profit HK$2.5 million),
representing a gross loss margin of 190.0% (2020: gross profit margin
39.1%). Amidst the keen competition of the disposable face masks
market, the unit price sold and sales volume decreased during the year.
In addition, for the sake of a reliable level of protection, the Group insists
on producing high quality disposable face masks with high unit cost.
Apart from these, the Group has provided an allowance for inventories
on slow-moving medical consumable products for the year ended 31
December 2021, which resulted in a gross loss for medical consumable
products.

Other Income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$7.1 million, which was similar to that for the year ended 31
December 2020 of HK$7.6 million.

8 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (coNTINUED)
Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December
2021 were approximately HK$7.4 million, representing a decrease
of approximately HK$1.1 million, or approximately 12.9%, from
approximately HK$8.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The decrease was resulted from the decrease in transportation costs of
medical consumable products during the year.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2021 were approximately HK$126.3 million, representing an
increase of approximately HK$30.1 million, or approximately 31.3%, from
approximately HK$96.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
The increase was due to an increase in headcount, the performance
bonus to the directors and senior management and consultation fee
expenses.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2021 were approximately
HK$7.7 million, which was similar to that for the year ended 31
December 2020 of HK$8.8 million.

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021
were approximately HK$16.1 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$2.3 million, or approximately 16.7%, from
approximately HK$13.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Such increase was primarily due to the increase in profit before tax.

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, profit for the year ended 31 December
2021 was approximately HK$96.3 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$22.6 million, or approximately 30.7%, from
approximately HK$73.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.

THE IMPACT OF THE COVID-19

As the COVID-19 pandemic was under better control during 2021, our
business has been recovering gradually. The Group will keep paying
close attention to the development of the COVID-19 pandemic and
evaluate its impact on the Group's financial position and operating
results in order to make timely response and adjustments on our
business strategies as appropriate going forward.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREsi R iR

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$114.7 million (2020: HK$117.0 million). Interest-
bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$235.3 million (2020: HK$230.0 million) with weighted average
effective interest rate of approximately 2.73% per annum (2020:
3.34% per annum). The Group's gearing ratio as at 31 December 2021,
calculated based on the total borrowings to the equity attributable to
owners of the Company, was 36.3% (2020: 44.5%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transaction of the
Group are mainly carried out and conducted in Hong Kong dollars, U.S.
dollars and Renminbi. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk
by performing regular reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange
exposures and to mitigate the impact on exchange rate fluctuations
by entering into foreign currency forward contracts, if necessary. As
at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any outstanding foreign
currency forward contracts. The Group will continue to evaluate the
Group's foreign currency exposure and take actions as appropriate.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has made no material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated companies.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, buildings and right-of-use assets in respect
of the prepaid land lease payments with aggregate net carrying
amount of approximately HK$279.4 million (2020: HK$277.3 million),
key management insurance contracts with fair value of approximately
HK$30.5 million (2020: HK$29.6 million), trade receivables in connection
with factoring arrangement of approximately HK$4.7 million (2020:
HK$2.7 million) and certain machinery and equipment with aggregate
net carrying amount of approximately HK$61.5 million (2020: HK$67.3
million) were pledged as security for bank facilities.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

No material events occurred subsequent to 31 December 2021 which
may have a significant effect on the assets and liabilities or future
operations of the Group.

10 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group's remuneration policy is to compensate its employees
based on their performance, qualifications and the Group's operational
results. The total remuneration of employees includes basic
salaries, performance bonus and share options. Directors and senior
management of the Group receive compensation in the form of fees,
salaries, allowances, discretionary bonus, share options, defined
contribution plans and other benefits in kind with reference to those paid
by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance of the
Group. The Group also reimburses its Directors and senior management
for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for the
provision of services to the Group or executing their functions in
relation to the operations of the Group. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages (including
incentive plans) of its Directors and senior management, by reference
to, among other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of its
Directors and senior management and the performance of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not hold any
significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report and the announcement of the Company
dated 8 October 2019 regarding the construction of new factory
premises in the remaining land area in Huizhou, the Group has no plan
to make material investments or increase its capital assets.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and any of its subsidiaries have not purchased, redeemed
or sold any of its listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2021.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK1.5 cents
per share) to the shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company at the close of business on 17 June 2022. The
proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders at
the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 30 May 2022. The
final dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on 30 June 2022.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR ~ HIBREIBHKRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This Environmental, Social and Governance (‘ESG") Report of the Group
refers to the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("HKEX ESG Reporting Guide”) to define its report content. The areas
of focus of this report include environmental and social performance
in various aspects. We endeavor to provide a balanced, honest and
transparent account of our performance. The data disclosed in this
report is prepared and provided by the respective administration
departments of Huizhou factories of the Group. Disclosure content of the
ESG report has been reviewed and confirmed by the Board.

REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE

The scope of this report includes the Group's office operation in Hong
Kong and operations of integrated plastic solutions, manufacturing
of electronic cigarette (the “e-cigarettes”) products and medical
consumable products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

Reporting period: 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021

REPORTING PRINCIPLES
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To identify the material ESG-related issues to the Group, we conducted stakeholder

engagement to identify and prioritise material ESG issues in our business operations.

Reporting Principles Application
EREA ERA
Materiality

B2

Quantitative

REIAHAEEAERZENZE  BRIETTROELEUEE RMELZBERME
BREZRFERE HeMEREE -

Quantitative metrics are disclosed in this report to keep track of and evaluate our ESG

performance. We measure and report key performance indicators (KPls) across our
environmental and social performance with the aid of a data monitoring system. Through
the reporting of these KPIs and information in our report, we disclose elements that have
greatest impact to our business and stakeholders.

21k RBECHRBEENIER - URHERTHEMANRE £ RERKRR - HFINASIERE
B Rt 8 RERRMINERIR I &R AR E ISR KPI) - BRAERFHHREPE
WA ERBESIEREREN  BARBEHEBRFOEFESANEER -

Balance This report provides an unbiased disclosure on the Group's ESG performance by
highlighting both achievements and challenges on ESG management.

1 FRRNBFIRE L ERECEENKRERE - AREAEMBERATENIRE -

e REARR

Consistency

This report is prepared according to the ESG Reporting Guide issued by the Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong to provide consistent and comparable disclosures. We would provide
explanation to any changes to the calculation methods or Key Performance Indicators

("KPIs") used, if any.
—H%

AHERELHIABELNRE L@ REAHERIRE - §ERH—BETHLEN
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REFERENCE GUIDELINES

This report has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out
in the "Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under
Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

OVERVIEW
CORE VALUES/MANAGEMENT PRINCIPLES

The Group always strives to promote sustainable development in its
business operations. The Group takes environmental protection into
account in their business operations and tries to strike a balance among
economic development, the environment and society.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible business, we have the responsibility to build a thriving
future where we can create long-term value for our stakeholders.
We maintain an open dialogue with our stakeholders, including
management, employees, customers, suppliers, business partners,
charity groups and investors, to receive their comments and understand
their expectations on what the ESG issues matter most via meetings,
interviews and discussions. We tried to reach our stakeholders through
all channels and consider ESG issues that are deemed as important by
both the Group and stakeholders as material ESG issues. Material ESG
issues we have identified are:

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS
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Categories Key Issues

il BREE

Friendly Environment Environmental management system and related policies
BRIRIE IR EIRE R RABBEDCR

Measures to reduce emissions and achievements
D BERL Y HE e K B RR

Waste management and recycling method
REYE R R E BT A

Water consumption and wastewater discharge control

IKERIE A5k

Social Responsibility

HERE BT mBlRAX

Employees’ rights and turnover rate

Occupational health and safely

BxzzkEE

Employees’ training and development

B THEIINER

Employment practices to avoid child labour and forced labour

By 1EE T skoRbilss T

BRI

Supply chain management

HrEEER

Product safety and quality assurance management
EmZr2kmEnREE
Anti-corruption policies

RES

Donation and community investment

BRETERE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group has a clear organizational hierarchy to carry out different
parts of operations within the Group. The Board is responsible for
overseeing long-term sustainable development for all operating
companies under the Group. The Group has achieved ISO 9001 and ISO

14001 certifications, the ISO department under the Board is mainly

responsible for reviewing ESG strategies and policies, and also act as a
coordinator to oversee ESG performance in our factories and operations.
In turn, information and management on sustainability risks and
performance is reported to the Board by the ISO department, through
regular meetings.

A.

14

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

The Group is well aware of the effect of environmental
performance to our business, especially for daily operational
challenges regarding greenhouse gas ("GHG") emission reduction,
energy conservation and waste management. Therefore, the Group
have put extensive efforts in our environmental management
system to minimize the environmental impact.

The Group has setup an environmental management system
in accordance to ISO 14001:2015. Also, the Group have an
environmental data collection system to keep track of the
performance and review the efficiency of the measures adopted in
the past years.

All businesses conducted by the Group are in strict compliance
with all national and local laws, regulations, and other related
industrial standards, such as the Environmental Protection Law
of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes and the
Law of the PRC on Appraising of Environment Impacts.

The business operations of the Group did not undergo any major
changes in the reporting period and complies with the latest
environmental-related laws and regulations in the regions we
operate.

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS

Other than the above-mentioned compliances with the national
and local laws and regulations, the Group has put additional efforts
in regulating gas emissions, waste generation and usage of water
during the daily operation. The Group has established "Procedures
for Managing Wastewater, Exhaust Gas and Noise” which outlined
the daily procedures on reducing emissions on site.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (coNTINUED)
ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)
Gas Emissions

The major business for the Group is providing integrated plastic
solution services and manufacturing of e-cigarettes products
as an original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”). The Group also
engaged in manufacturing and sales of medical consumable
products. The Group has identified the major gas-emitting source
in the operation site, which is the operation of injection molding
machines.

During the reporting period, the GHG emissions (Scope 1)
increased from 139 tonnes in 2020 to 411 tonnes in 2021. This
was mainly due to the increase in production level during 2021,
the use of electricity consumption and stationary combustion
increased accordingly. The Group will continue to implement
measures to reduce the consumption of energy resources and
carbon emissions. The Group has set a target of reducing carbon
emissions and energy usage by no less than 5% by 2030, with
2021 set as the baseline. To achieve that, regular checking on the
motor vehicles and production facilities are conducted to ensure
their energy efficiencies and the exhaust emissions comply with
the national standard. Furthermore, the Group endeavours to raise
employees awareness on energy saving, for instance, employees
are encouraged to turn off the unnecessary electrical equipment
after work, take public transportation and stop the car engine
while idling. The Group will closely monitor the GHG emission level
and strive to alleviate the environment impact.

Major Gas Emission Indicators

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS
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Air Pollutant Emissions E RIS RYBEK

Direct Emissions Unit 2020
HEEEWRE B{L 2020 F
Nitrogen Oxides (NOx) kg 51.76 4445
AE ? (NOY NI

Sulphur Oxides (S0x) kg 0.40 0.40
ma b (S0y) NI

Particulate Matter (PM) kg 3.57 3.13
FERLYHE RN (PM) NI
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

A. ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) A, BREFEE®

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued) BEAT: HElee
Major Gas Emission Indicators (Continued) FEREHNIEEE)

GHG Emissions by Scope REEE SR ERBHEN

Direct Emissions Unit 2020
HEHENE E=L|v2 2020 4F
Total GHG Emissions t-C0O2 eq. 21,510.68 17,165.18
REREBEENE WE S LIRE &

GHG Emissions — Scope 1 t-C0O2 eq. 410.60 139.11
hE RSB — FEN WE—fbiE 8

GHG Emissions — Scope 2 t-COz eq. 20,984.86 16,902.06
BERASHE —#E 2 WE— S LIRE 2

GHG Emissions — Scope 3 t-C0O2 eq. 115.22 124.01
BEREHEN —#E 3 WS LIRE 2

GHG Emissions by Source BRFRE DB EREBHER

Total GHG Emissions Unit 2020
RERBELENE = 1v2 20204
Direct emissions from t-C02 eq.

stationary combustion 337.97 66.29

BB — BIEME WE—fbiE 8

Direct emissions from vehicles t-C0O2 eq. 72.63 72.82
EEHN— 2 WE— S LIRE 2

Indirect emissions from t-C02 eq.

electricity consumption 20,984.86 16,902.06

MEEN—AE WS LIRE =

Indirect emissions from flights t-C0O2 eq. 0.64 3.78
MEER— AR WE— S LIRE 2

Fresh water emissions t-C02 eq. 72.44 76.36
I BER — 7K WE—SEALIRE 2

Sewage treatment emissions t-C02 eq. 34.74 36.02
R — 57K R I8 WS LIRE =

Other indirect emissions t-CO2 eq. 7.39 7.86
HAth RS BERR W — LIRS &

Major Emission Intensity FEHHGEE

Emission Intensity (per million revenue)  Unit 2020
s E (B R8T iEs) B 2020
Total GHG Emissions t-C0O2 eq./million HKD revenue 19.25 21.80
BERBEHENE WA tiE 2 BEE TG
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)
Waste Management

The Group has a well-established system to handle various types
of waste (hazardous and non-hazardous). The Group ensures the
disposal of waste within the operation sites are in compliance with
the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Wastes, the Measures for the Administration of
Permit for Operation of Dangerous Wastes, the National Hazardous
Waste List and other related laws and regulations.

“Procedures for Waste Management” is established to guide the
employees on how to dispose hazardous and non-hazardous
solid waste properly. For hazardous waste, all chemical wastes
are properly stored in a designated indoor warehouse on site
with secondary containment to prevent leakage. The removal
of chemicals on the ground requires the use of specific cloth or
sawdust to clean the site. And all the hazardous waste is collected
by authorized collectors. For non-hazardous waste, some of
the recyclable waste such as toner cartridges and batteries are
separately collected and handled by external recyclers. The other
general waste is stored in refuse area and collected by local
environmental and hygiene department. The Group has tried its
best to prevent any contamination of the underground water.

During the reporting period, the hazardous waste increased
from 10 tonnes in 2020 to 33 tonnes in 2021. This was resulted
from the increase in production level during 2021. In addition,
the Group is responsible for the treatment of certain waste oil on
behalf of our customer this year, which also contributes to the
increase in hazardous waste. On the other hand, construction
waste decreased from 901 tonnes in 2020 to 668 tonnes in 2021
because the construction of new factory was nearing the stage of
completion in 2021. The Group believes that construction waste
will be reduced next year. The Group has also set the waste
reduction target as reducing hazardous and non hazardous waste
by around 5% by 2030, with 2021 set as the baseline. To achieve
that we will reduce waste generation at source through reduction
and we closely monitor the monthly waste data at our factories to
keep track of our waste reduction and recycling performance.

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS

18

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS (Continued)

A. BEFEH

BHEA1 - BEpuE)

Major Waste Generation Indicators FEEEYERE

Waste Types EEEYER

Waste Types Unit 2020
REZEYRRE E=L|v2 2020 F
Hazardous Waste Tonnes 33.08 10.17
BEEEYD A

Construction Waste Tonnes 667.80 900.90
RERREEEY) U]

Waste Intensity BEYELRE

Waste Intensity (per million revenue) Unit 2020
BEEYEERE(BEETHE) By 2020 &
Hazardous Waste Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.03 0.01
BEEEYD WE, BB ATk

Construction Waste Tonnes/million HKD revenue 0.60 1.14
BEEEY WE, & &8 ies

ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES BEA2 : ERER

The Group promotes resource efficiency in order to reduce the AEE-EEREBHDRESERERAN

environmental risk for our business. In a bid to achieve this
objective, the Group establishes “Procedures for reducing usage of
resources and energy’”.

The Group hires professional and certified electricians for the
maintenance of the electricity system on site. The use of electricity
is recorded on a monthly basis. The Group also encourages the
employees to reduce the consumption of resources.

Water

Water is not the major component in the manufacturing process
as the Group focus on using injection molding and other waterless
technigues. Nevertheless, the Group has implemented measures
to reduce our consumption of water for operation and domestic
use. The Group strictly complies with the Law of the PRC on the
Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Urban Sewage
Treatment Plant Pollutant Discharge Standard and other related
laws and regulations.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (coNTINUED)
ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES (continued)
Water (Continued)

The Group has strictly regulated the handling of water discharge
during operations. All sewage is connected to the government
sewage pipeline and transferred to the local sewage treatment
plant. The Group has no issue in sourcing water, and has set the
water efficiency target as reducing water consumption by no
less than 3% by 2030, with 2021 set as the baseline. To achieve
that, the cooling water system of the Group adopts recycling and
reuse measures. The Group monitors the system daily to prevent
any leakage. In addition, the Group conducts wastewater quality
monitoring annually.

Major indicators for resource consumption

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

RESE S
EBEA2 : ERFER®
Ik 4)

ARER B B AR ) 2 EHIR A5 K BRI ©
B HEKER B BRR 5K EE M E
EBE )5 KEIERR o A5 B SREUE A 7K
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FREFHEEER

Resource Consumption Unit 2020
BB E=L(v2 2020 4F
Electricity Kilowatt hour 33,725,898 27,588,434
B TR

Gasoline Litre 27,305 26,889
YU 7+

Natural Gas Cubic metre 33,560 32,777
RIAR AV N

Paper Kg 1,540 1,637
iR /NIy

Water Tonnes 173,724 180,092
7K 7

Packaging materials Tonnes 1,697 602
BEME A

Plastic Recycling Tonnes 388 323
BRI E A

Paper Recycling Tonnes 56 45
BBl E i

Major Resource Consumption Intensity FTEERERRE

Resource Consumption Unit 2020
BB Bfr 2020 F
Electricity kWh/million HKD revenue 30,175 35,038
) TR, BEBTWE

Water kWh/million HKD revenue 155 229
K TR, BEBTE
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RIE ~ HIBREIGHRS
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE (coNTINUED)

ASPECT A3: THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group considers all related environmental risk during the
planning of its business development. We are committed to
applying industry best practices and comply with legislation,
review and improve the environmental management system as
well as maintain effective communication with stakeholders. We
also assess our manufacturing process and machines regularly
in order to minimize the impacts on the environment and natural
resources.

ASPECT A4: CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change is one of the most vital issues over the decade.
Global warming gives rise to extreme weathers including
rainstorm, floods, droughts or other natural disasters.
Corporations and governments must take the responsibility to
cope with the climate change.

The Group establishes different environmental measurements and
promotes energy saving habits in the factories to mitigate the risks
brought by climate change. We have identified that the natural
disasters due to extreme weather, such as typhoon may have
an impact on the Group. In order to manage the potential threat,
the Group conducts safety inspection regularly and establishes
emergency plans to minimize the loss from natural disasters.
In the meantime, the Group will continue to review the impact of
climate change in the future.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE B. i&xRH

ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT BEB1 : B

In order to achieve the business targets and to drive innovation, RTERFEBHE - WHESHEIFEE - B
the Group relies on a talented workforce of 1,065 employees as B+ -_A=+—H AEEEE
at 31 December 2021(2020: 1,030). The total workforce sorted 1,065%(2020 : 1,030 5 )BHREE < AT
by gender, employment type, age group and geographical region BIEER - BT - FERARRIE S

categories, are shown below.

HHETIHR -

Distribution of employees BB 2021 2020
Number of Number of
people people
2021 & 2020 4F
A AE
All employees RES 1,065 1,030
By gender RER &l D
Male S 608 575
Female egia 457 455
By employment type RBEERE D
Other staff HET 923 893
Management EIRE 142 137
By age group RERA R B2
18-30 18 - 30 5% 218 229
31-50 31-5073% 776 742
51 or above 51 5Re A E 71 59
By geographical region % EE 5
Hong Kong 5B 20 20
PRC HR 1,045 1,010
Average monthly employee turnover rate THAERERAE 2021
Number of
people
2021
N -
By gender i RI8l D
Male St 4.5%
Female egis 4.7%
By age group RFERRAERB S
18 - 30 18 - 30B% 8.8%
31-50 31 -505% 3.7%
51 or above 51 BRI E 1.4%
By geographical region Zith EE 5
Hong Kong 575 0.8%
PRC a3 4.7%
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT (Continued)

In a bid to maintain continuity of performance of the Group and
reduce turnover rate, the Group conducts exit interviews with
resigned staff to understand the reasons for resignation and
to address the concerns of existing employees. In addition, to
promote fair working environment and employment practices, the
Group sets up a management system to evaluate salary reviews
and promotions, the system includes assessment of employees’
performances, capability and contribution to the company.

The working hours of the employees are set as 8-hour per day and
five working days per week. Upon the approval from the human
resources department, the employees can be arranged to work
overtime with a maximum of 3 hours per day and shall not exceed
a total working hour of 60 hours per week. The Group also states
the off-work periods of the employees and provides them paid
leaves as remuneration benefits and welfare. Trainings are also
provided to all employees, details please refer to the “Development
and Training” section below.

The Group also provides free housing and meal to our employees
in Huizhou. To promote diversity in our workplace, the Group's
“Management Procedures on Anti-Discrimination” endorsed by the
human resources department provides a clear structure on a fair
employment practice during recruitment. The policy clearly states
that any discrimination on race, gender, religion, national origin,
physical or mental disability, age, sexual orientation, and gender
identity are strictly prohibited during the employment process. The
procedure also clearly sets out the standard operation procedures
when discrimination practices are detected in workplace.
Trainings are provided to eliminate any discrimination practices
among employees. If any discrimination or harassment reports are
received, the Group will establish a working group to investigate
into the incident. The Group is honored to receive the SA8000:2014
Social Accountability Certification that recognizes our socially
acceptable practices in the workplace. The Group strives for a
better working environment for our employees.

The Group strictly complies with the related laws and
regulations, such as Cap. 57 Employment Ordinance, Cap. 480
Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Cap. 487 Disability Discrimination
Ordinance, Cap. 527 Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Cap.
602 Race Discrimination Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Employment
Promotion Law of the PRC, the Labour Dispute Mediation and
Arbitration Law of the PRC and other related local labour laws and
regulations. During the reporting period, the Group is not aware
of any non-compliance with relevant rules and regulations on
employment, discrimination and welfare.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) B. ME@&RRA«»

ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT (Continued) BEB1 : MEW®W)

During the year, the Group held various of recreational activities REAN AEBREITRPSHIRET
for staff to promote employee’s work-life balance. g UREREE TREEET 4 -

RIEER
Mid Autumn Festival Party

ERRLE

Table Tennis competition

T

DERLE

Badminton competition
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

The employees’ health and safety are one of the Group's top
priority items, therefore, the Group implements “Management
Procedures on Health and Safety” to eliminate all potential
safety hazards and ensure a safe working environment to
protect employees from occupational injuries. The management
procedures cover all manufacturing operations in the factories
and highlight the safety requirements for the suppliers. The
safety committee conducts a risk assessment among the
factories and identify all potential health and safety hazards. The
representatives of the committee also tailor a health and safety
educational and training programme to all employees. In addition,
all supervisors from different departments are responsible for
monitoring the workers to prevent accidents and providing training
on the proper operating procedures to workers. If there are any
operating procedures that may endanger the workers' safety,
supervisors shall immediately report to their seniors and carry out
remediation process to reduce all potential hazards. Furthermore,
if there is any malfunctioning of machineries, workers have to
report to their supervisors. All passages along the working area
are strictly prohibited for storage and workers are not allowed
to leave the machines running while away. During the reporting
period, there were 5 cases (2020:9) of work-related injuries, and a
total of 1,294 hours (2020: 552 hours) of lost working hours were
recorded. No work-related fatality cases were reported over the
past three years.

Apart from our internal management procedures, the Group also
complies with relevant local laws and regulations, including Cap.
509 Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong,
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Fire Control Law of the PRC, the
Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational
Diseases and the Measures for the Ascertainment of Work-related
Injuries. To prevent the outbreak of fire within the operation areas,
the security guards have to patrol the building site daily, such as
dormitory, factories, garages, lavatories and kitchen. They will also
ensure all equipped fire extinguishers are functioning properly.
The human resources department will guide the fire safety
committee to carry out one to two fire drill practices annually.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY (Continued)

Lastly, to offer a healthy workplace environment to all employees,
the Group demands a clean and tidy working environment in all
operation areas. Ventilation machines are switched on during
working hours to ensure sufficient air ventilation indoors.
Sanitizing equipment and tools are provided among the dining
areas and spitting is strictly prohibited in the factories. The Group
also circulates notices to the employees to take precautionary
measures during peak seasons of influenza. We believe all the
aforementioned procedures can safeguard the employees’ health
and safety and minimize all potential workplace occupational
hazards.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 epidemic, the Group has
implemented specific workplace health and safety measures in
accordance to the Prevention and Control of Disease Ordinance
(Cap. 599). Employees are required to wear masks and avoid
large gathering in workplace. Flexible working hours and lunch
hours are implemented to prevent cross-infection. Non-essential
business travel is banned.

BRE SRR

Emergency first-aid training
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group has stipulated the “"Management Procedures on
Development and Training” for in-house training and distribution of
work, which lists out the requirements and performance indicators
to enhance the employees’ occupational skillset and quality. It
also reinforced the development and training systems to ensure
all programmes are carried out in @ smooth and continuous
practice. The human resources department is also responsible for
the instructions of job duties of each position and formulates an
annual training development plan.

Furthermore, the Group tailors different training courses to the
employees. For example, for the new employees, comprehensive
pre-job trainings and orientation programmes are provided
to them for introducing the company's background, culture,
regulations and safety requirements. New employees are also
subject to on-job trainings offered by their reporting departments.
Trainings are provided to newly promoted employees to enhance
their practical skills and adaptability in new positions. The Group
invites external institutions to organize training courses to the
employees regularly. The human resources department will revise
the annual training programmes in accordance with the reviews
and feedbacks of each department. During the reporting period,
the Group provided trainings to 1,655 staff (2020: 1,435). The
total training hours were 6,366 hours (2020: 11,879). The Group
believes the vocational training practices will allow us to nurture a
better, sustainable working environment and learning atmosphere
to the employees.

tEERR
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BTEGICRBARENRDT » AKE
BIE TIEIBREEFM] o % T Mo
ST BRMERIER - MRS RSB
ERBEMEE - AFMMRT REHER
FIBF R ARHERR - HEIRPTA &t B EB IR
MEFEHET - ANBERBFIEAEEHE
BB RS - W HIEFEEIIE R

E

o - NREE BB REERESEEIE
2o fln BANBATESFE - A
AN ERNHBNEZE2ENR . AFES
REE2E BTSN ABSZINETE - 3
EEHLFEEZHEIBFRENTRE
e REBMINAFSAE TIRESEI - A
R MITER AL _E A E B AL FlE fE bt
7o REBIETFHEBIINIKIERE TE
PHEIIRIE © AN BIRFBFIAGIR IR S 56T
RFEME RIS FEEIFE - £35S
HBARS - KRB A16558 8 T (20204 -
1,435 5 )RRMIE - BIEIIRHE A 6,366
N (20204 11,879/ BF) o N B 1R
2 BESJENSTEFTHNET T
AREMNTIERENEERE -

Percentage of employees trained ZHE T Al 2020
2020

By gender EHERIE D

Male S 57% 54%

Female g 43% 46%

By employment type RBKERES

Other staff HMET 87% 92%

Management EIB[E 13% 8%
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED) B.

ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING (Continued)

RIE ~ HIBREGHRS

tERR e
BmB3 : RAZI (4w

Average training hours received BB I HWFEIEE 2020
per employee Hours
2020 4F
N
By gender i RIElo
Male S 4.7 8.9
Female gegis 7.6 7.6
By employment type BRBKEENE S
Other staff HMET 5.3 7.7
Management EEE 10.4 15.0

TERIEI
On-Job Training
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B4: LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group strictly abides by all labour-related laws and
regulations of Hong Kong and the PRC, including Cap. 57
Employment Ordinance, Cap. 485 Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, Cap. 509 Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance, Cap. 608 Minimum Wage Ordinance, the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor and the Law of the PRC
on the Protection of Minors. In addition to the compliance of the
labour-related laws and regulations, the Group has established
“Management Procedures on the Prohibition of Child Labour”.
Human Resources Department is not allowed to hire child
labour, who are aged under 16. During the recruitment process,
identification check is conducted, especially for those junior
workers who are aged between 16 and 17.

In case any child labour, our employees shall report to the
human resources department directly and senior departments
for immediate verification. The Group will report to local Labour
Department without delay. The Group is committed to protecting
human rights, to prohibiting forced labours, and to creating a
workplace with respect and fairness for our employees. During the
reporting period, the Group is not aware of any non-compliance
with relevant rules and regulations on preventing child or forced
labour.

ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

To ensure that the Group's products fulfill the expectations of
customers, and to minimize any potential environmental and social
risks from our suppliers, the Group has established “Management
Procedures on Supply Chain” to select qualified and outstanding
suppliers. The Group also adopts the sustainable and responsible
selection criteria to promote environmentally preferrable
products. The procedure grades all suppliers by relevant rating
systems: outstanding suppliers are rating from 90 to 100 and
suppliers with rating from 65 to 89 are classified as pass; while
the rest are considered failed. The purchasing department is
responsible for managing all production and nonproduction
services suppliers. The ISO department is responsible for the
assessment of suppliers. Apart from these, the Group will visit the
suppliers regularly to ensure that the suppliers comply with the
environment, health and safety standards.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B5: SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT (Continued)

During the engagement process, the Group will assess all potential
suppliers based on their certification of management systems,
company profile, manufacturing procedures, status of production
and inspection equipment, environmental control and the
applicable operation or production license of certain hazardous
chemicals. Besides, the Group will select the suppliers who
have attained the certification of 1IS09001:2015 or other related
documents. All samples and products have undergone applicable
quality test on-site. Inspection is carried out bi-annually for
suppliers rated as outstanding; while annual inspection is carried
out for suppliers rated as pass.

The table below shows our number of suppliers by geographical
region during the reporting year:
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Number of suppliers

HEREE
Regions & 2020
20204
Hong Kong B 99 92
PRC R 1,333 1,170
Others Eb 25 20
Total mE 1,457 1,282

ASPECT Bé6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

To protect consumer data privacy and other confidential
documents, the Group strictly follows Cap. 528 Copyright
Ordinance, Cap. 486 Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance in Hong
Kong, the Law of the PRC on the Protection of Customer Rights and
Interests and has established clear instructions on how to prevent
leakage of confidential documents and effective management
of documents. The "Management of Confidential Documents”
classifies all documents into three broad categories: A, B or C
grade, based on the extent of sensitivity of the documents. The ISO
department is responsible for the classification, management and
distribution of documents. During the reporting period, the Group
did not record any personal data breach or leakage case.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT Bé6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY (Continued)

The Group acknowledges the importance of intellectual
property rights. The Group will not plagiarize the design of
other organizations. The employees are required to maintain
confidentially of the Group’'s technology and trade secrets,
considering all such properties belong to assets of the Group.
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
complaints or non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
in relation to the intellectual property right.

The Group also complies with related national laws and regulations
on product safety. The Group will provide our best effort to ensure
our products are of top quality by conducting regular checks.
Besides, the Group also adopts responsible advertising and
labeling manner to minimize customer dissatisfaction. The Group
has implemented “Procedures on Information Exchange” to ensure
Operation Department are responsible for the product quality and
safety.

The Group values customers’ opinion. In order to understand
customers’ needs and meet their expectations, the Group
has formulated different communication channels to collect
their feedbacks, which include telephone, e-mail and daily
communication. The quality control department is responsible
for handling customers’ feedbacks or complaints. The Group is
committed to improve customer satisfaction and maintain a long-
term relationship with them. When there is any dissatisfying
product quality found, the quality control department will carry
out follow up action on a timely basis. Proper measures will also
be adopted to prevent the issue from happening again. During the
reporting period, there was no material claim or complaint brought
against the Group by our customers. Meanwhile, the Group had
not experienced any material litigation, return on sales, recalls, or
repairs from our customers during the reporting period.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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SOCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONTINUED)
ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group expects the employees to carry out their work in a
responsible and honest manner. The Group strictly complies with
relevant laws and regulations, including Cap. 201 Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, Cap. 615 Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-
Terrorist Financing Ordinance Hong Kong, the Criminal Law of the
PRC and its Judicial interpretation, the Criminal Procedure Law
and its Judicial interpretation, the Interpretation on Several Issues
Concerning the Applicable Laws to Handling Criminal Cases of
Embezzlement and Bribery, and the Anti-Money Laundering Law
of the PRC. In addition, the Group's "Management Procedures on
Anti-Bribery” applies to all entities among the corporate in order
to regulate all business activities.

The Group embraces responsible business practices and we
expect high moral standards and integrity from the employees and
business partners. To prevent employees from any malpractices
that may potentially threaten the Group's interest and reputation,
we regularly remind our employees to comply with the code of
practices. Anti-corruption training is also provided to directors
and employees regularly. Besides, it is clearly stated that all
capital and assets of the Group shall only be used in a legal and
appropriate manner. Any forms of bribery, extortion, fraud, money-
laundering and embezzlement are strictly forbidden. Employees
are allowed to report on any suspicious misbehavior of unethical
businesses to the senior management directly. All whistle-blowing
procedures are conducted in a confidential manner and the Group
will ensure all measures are undertaken to protect the privacy and
identity of the whistle-blower. The Group accepts zero tolerance to
any dishonesty and unethical business behaviors if any violation
is found, the Group will report to the government authorities
in accordance with the law and the involved employee will be
penalized immediately.

During the reporting period, the Group did not observe nor receive
any legal cases regarding corrupt practices.

ASPECT B8: COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group endeavors to support the community development
by participating in social activities. The Group also encourages
the employees to devote themselves in volunteering services to
the community. During the reporting period, the employees have
performed community education services. The Group intends
to participate in more charitable activities, in particular, we are
planning to set up a voluntary team to coordinate community
services. In order to fulfil the social responsibility, we will devote
more resources to the social and environmental protection areas
in the future.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERRREHE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Tsan Lam, aged 61, is the founder of the Group. Mr. Chan is an
executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
He is primarily responsible for formulating corporate strategies,
overseeing the overall management of business and operation of the
Group. Mr. Chan is also a director of all of the Company's subsidiaries.
Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in marketing, strategic
planning and business management in the manufacturing industry.
From 1991 until Mr. Chan founded Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited
("Sun Leader HK") in September 2000, Mr. Chan worked as a sole
proprietor specializing in mould design and manufacturing. Mr. Chan is
the father of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an executive Director of the Company,
and Mr. Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company.
He is one of the controlling shareholders of the Company.

Ms. POON Po Han Lisa, aged 59, is an executive Director, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Poon is primarily
responsible for financial planning and management and overseeing
the accounting department of the Group. Ms. Poon has over 20 years of
experience in financial management, accounting and taxation working
in professional and commercial accounting sectors. Ms. Poon holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in accounting from The University of Hull
in the United Kingdom, and a Master's degree in Corporate Governance
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong. Ms. Poon is
a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and an
associate of The Chartered Governance Institute. Ms. Poon joined the
Group in May 2008 and was appointed as Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary in April 2017 and executive Director in May 2019.

Ms. CHAN Yin Yan, aged 32, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operating Officer. Ms. Chan is primarily responsible for overseeing
the overall management of business and operation of the Group and
responsible for the marketing of the Group. Ms. Chan joined the Group in
June 2013 and has been responsible for managing part of the business
and developing the Group's customer base and is the key personnel in
developing the Group's e-cigarette business. Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor's
degree in Commerce from Curtin University of Technology in Australia.
Ms. Chan is the daughter of Mr. Chan, an executive Director, Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the elder sister of Mr.
Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. NG Chi Wai, aged 43, is an independent non-executive Director.
He has over 15 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
corporate management. He has worked at the audit department of two
international accounting firms and he has held senior management
positions in different listed companies. He is currently a practicing
director of CN CPA Limited. Mr. Ng holds a bachelor of art degree in
accounting and finance from Leeds Metropolitan University, the United
Kingdom. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ng has joined our Group since May
2019.

Mr. HUNG Chun Leung, aged 55, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hung joined Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors as a
consultant solicitor in July 1997 and has become a partner of Messrs.
Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors since February 2016. Mr. Hung has
over 26 years of experience in handling legal matters in the areas of
conveyancing, mortgage finance transactions, commercial contracts,
acquisition of shares, matrimonial cases, civil litigation and estate
agents disciplinary inquiry hearings. Mr. Hung has joined our Group
since February 2018. Mr. Hung obtained his bachelor of laws degree
with honours and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University
of Hong Kong. Mr. Hung was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme
Court of Hong Kong in October 1993 and has been a member of the Law
Society of Hong Kong since then.

Mr. CHAN Bing Kai, aged 75, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan has over 40 years of experience in the industry of
manufacturing electronic products. Mr. Chan is the co-founder of a
company that designs and manufactures a comprehensive line of audio
and LED products, including CD, DVD, iPod docking or accessories and
other high-fidelity multimedia for LED OEM customers. Mr. Chan has
joined our Group since February 2018.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERERERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU Chen-Tong, aged 65, joined the Group in December 2015, is
the technical consultant to the Group’s research and development
department and he is primarily responsible for overseeing the
development and manufacturing of new products and quality control.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu worked as senior management in
Taiwan and Hong Kong companies where he gained vast experiences in
product design and development. Mr. Wu holds a Bachelor’'s degree in
Electronic Engineering from National Taiwan Ocean University.

Mr. YUEH Yung Chan, aged 49, is the vice general manager of the
Group's engineering department and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing the operation of the Group's production plant. Prior to joining
the Group in February 2015, Mr. Yueh has over 15 years of experience
in project engineering. Mr. Yueh obtained his Bachelor of Engineering
degree in manufacturing engineering, Postgraduate Diploma in
Mechanical Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and Master of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. CHAN Tsz Wai, aged 27, joined the Group in October 2016, is the
vice president of marketing. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible for the
development and marketing of new products of the Group. Mr. Chan
obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Business & Management from
The University of Lincoln in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chan is the son of
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and the younger brother of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an
executive Director of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MEASURES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. The Board has adopted the principles
and the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure that
the Company's business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper and prudent manner.

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles and code
provisions of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
(as in effect from time to time) as the basis of the Company's corporate
governance practices. The Company has complied with all the applicable
code provisions of the CG Code, save and except for the code provision
A.2.1. Details of the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 are explained
in the section “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” of this corporate
governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the "Model Code”) as its code of conduct regarding dealings in the
securities of the Company by the Directors and the Company's senior
management who, because of his/her office or employment, is likely to
possess inside information in relation to the Company'’s securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the Model Code during the Year. In addition, the Company is
not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code by the senior
management of the Company during the Year.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises of 6 members, consisting of 3 executive
Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRIRS

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly
identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
under “Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
Save as Ms. Chan Yin Yan is the daughter of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, none of
the members of the Board is related to one another.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (“Mr. Chan”) is the chairman of the Board and
chief executive officer of the Company. Although this deviates from the
practice under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, where it provides
that the two positions should be held by two different individuals, as
Mr. Chan has considerable experience in the enterprise operation and
management of the Company, the Board believes that it is in the best
interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole to continue
to have Mr. Chan as chairman of the Board so that it can benefit from
his experience and capability in leading the Board in the long-term
development of the Company. From a corporate governance point of
view, the decisions of the Board are made collectively by way of voting
and therefore the chairman should not be able to monopolise the
decision-making of the Board. The Board considers that the balance
of power between the Board and management can still be maintained
under the current structure. The Board shall review the structure from
time to time to ensure appropriate action be taken should the need arise.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Company has complied with the CG Code.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Throughout the Year, the Board has at all times met the requirements
of the Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules of having three
independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one third of
the Board) with at least one of them possessing appropriate professional
gualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Independent Non-Executive Directors (Continued)

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experience and independent judgement to the
Board and they are invited to serve on the board committees of the
Company. Through active participation at board meeting, taking the
lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of interests, all
independent non-executive Directors have made various contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided adequate checks
and balances to safeguard the interests of both the Group and the
shareholders.

The Company has received written confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent in light of the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-executive
Directors

All Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term, subject
to renewal upon expiry of the existing term. Each executive Director
is engaged on a service agreement for a term of three years. The
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than
three months’ written notice. Each of the independent non-executive
Directors of the Company is appointed for a term of three years, which
appointment may be terminated by either party by not less than one
month's written notice.

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
Directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of Association (the
“Articles”). The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
board composition, monitoring the appointment of directors and
assessing the independent non-executive Directors.

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time being
(if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation at each
annual general meeting provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years.
In addition, any new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy in the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting
after appointment, and any new director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the Board shall hold office until the next following annual
general meeting of the Company. The retiring Directors are eligible for
re-election by the shareholders at the respective general meetings.
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THE BOARD (coNTINUED)

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-executive
Directors (Continued)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"),
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa and Mr. Ng Chi Wai will retire at the AGM pursuant
to the Articles provisions stated in the foregoing paragraph. All the above
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at
the AGM. The Board and the Nomination Committee recommended their
re-appointment. The Company's circular, sent together with this annual
report, contains detailed information of the above retiring Directors as
required by the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of the
Group, assessing, monitoring and controlling the operation and financial
performance, ensuring that the Directors perform their proper duties
and act in the best interests of the Group and hold discussions on
various important and proper businesses of the Company in a timely
manner. All Directors are entitled to raise and include any matters
that should be submitted to the Board for discussion in the agenda of
the board meeting. The management shall provide members of the
Board and specialised committees under the Board with appropriate
and sufficient information in a timely manner so as to update them
with the latest developments of the Group and to better facilitate the
discharge of their duties. The management team is accountable to the
Board, executing the strategies and plans formulated by the Board, and
making decisions in relation to the day-to-day operation of the Group.
The management reports monthly to the Board on the operation and
financial performance of the Group.

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company's corporate
governance policies which include:

(a)  to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to
the directors and employees; and

(e)  to review the compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in the
corporate governance report.
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THE BOARD (cONTINUED)
Training, induction and continuing development of Directors

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given relevant guideline
materials and attended a training regarding the duties and
responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations
applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest in the Group.
Such induction materials and briefings will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors.
Continuing briefings and professional development to Directors will be
arranged whenever necessary. The Company will continue to arrange
and fund the training in accordance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code.

Board Meeting

During the Year, four board meetings were held and the attendance
records of individual Directors are set out below:
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Meeting held

Attendance/ on 28 May 2021
Number of M2021F
Board Meetings 5H28H
HE 258 BITHRR
SERE BERE
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRIZM I (£ /) Lk 1/1
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EERZ T 44 11
Ms. Chan Yin Yan BREERZ T 44 111
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBTESE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REREE Lk 111
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HERE A 171
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PR SRBE ST 44 0/1
Board committees EExeZEY
Nomination committee BEZEEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with code provision A5 of the CG Code.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)

The duties of the Nomination Committee include, without limitation,
(a) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service) of the Board at least annually and make recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy; (b) to determine the policy for the nomination of
directors, identify individuals suitably qualified to become members
of the Board and may select individuals nominated for directorship;
(c) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors; and (d) to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re- appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking
into the Company’s corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future.

The Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Mr. Hung
Chun Leung and Mr. Ng Chi Wai. Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is the chairman of
the Nomination Committee.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met once to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, assess the independence
of the independent non-executive Directors and other related matters of
the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to enhance the quality
of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company'’s corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the nomination
of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge,
industry and regional experience and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
will bring to the Board.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)
Nomination Policy

A “Nomination Policy” for Directors was formally adopted and this
incorporated the nomination criteria and principles for Directors that
are set out in the Nomination Committee’'s terms of reference. The
Nomination Policy applies to the directors of the Company and where
applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions under the
succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company; (ii) ensure
that the Board of the Company has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and (iii) ensure the
Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

4 Character and integrity;

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the Board
Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

o Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;

. Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

o Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and
gender diversity;

o Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties
as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the
Company; and

° Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and
succession planning.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)
Nomination committee (Continued)
Nomination process
Appointment of new directors

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including but
not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral by other
member of the management and external recruitment agents.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(iii)  If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iv)  The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

(v)  For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such candidate
based on the criteria as set out above to determine whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship.

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of directors at general meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director and the level of participation and performance on the
Board.

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet the
criteria as set out above.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination process (Continued)

Re-election of directors at general meeting (Continued)

(iii)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect a candidate
as director at the general meeting, the relevant information of the
candidate will be disclosed in the circular to shareholders and/or
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and
regulations.

Details of attendance of members at meeting of the Nomination
Committee held during the Year are set out as follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HEERERE

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) PRIGMIE E (L) A

Mr. Hung Chun Leung HER A /1

Mr. Ng Chi Wai RERLELE 171

Audit committee BERESE

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit Committee”) ZAA A 2018F 2 A8HKIEZLZES([E
on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with V?E%J) CWARR ETRAIZE 321 R R B

Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and code provision C3 of the CG Code.

The duties of the audit committee include, without limitation, (a) to be
primarily responsible for making recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and
to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal; (b) to review
and monitor the external auditor's independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards; and (c) to discuss the risk management and internal control
system with management to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have effective systems.

BasTRIZ ST RIS EE C3 1R HIRT Em s A

EZZEeNBEEEETRRIQEEZEE
EREME ENEERFREINEZHBMAES
@?EH:'@E%&?ﬁt?&ﬂ‘ﬁ%ﬁ?ﬁ(ﬁﬂiE’\]M%&%E@ﬂ?&
Ko A REBEMEBE T RIEAMRE
B R %ﬂﬁq?%‘(ﬁﬂmﬁﬁili&%%ﬂlil%&
*ETL%@FHE’\]Tﬁﬁg‘%ﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁgﬁfﬁﬁﬁxﬁﬂﬁ &
OHEBEENmAREERABEIERL - 1#E
1%@I§EE??H&%L.L§)&E’]A” °

AEREEERERA 43
2021$$$ﬁ



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREIRIRS

THE BOARD (continued)
Board committees (Continued)
Audit committee (Continued)

The audit committee consists of Mr. Ng Chi Wai, Mr. Hung Chun Leung
and Mr. Chan Bing Kai. Mr. Ng Chi Wai is the chairman of the audit
committee.

During the Year, the audit committee met four times to review the
annual financial statements of the Company and the effectiveness of
the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.
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Details of attendance of members at meetings of the audit committee BREZEEKENFENLEBEZZESEEN

held during the Year are set out as follows: FFIBIATE

Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HEEBRE

Mr. Ng Chi Wai (Chairman) SREREE(EE) INIA

Mr. Hung Chun Leung HEREE 44

Mr. Chan Bing Kai PR SR SR 44
Remuneration committee FHESZE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms
of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
paragraph B1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules.

The duties of the remuneration committee, under the principle that
no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration,
include, without limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company's policy and structure for all directors and senior
management remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy; (b) to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management; and (c) to review
and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference
to the Board's corporate goals and objectives.

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Chan Bing Kai, Mr. Ng Chi
Wai and Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. Mr. Chan Bing Kai is the chairman of the
remuneration committee.
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THE BOARD (Continued)
Board committees (Continued)
Remuneration committee (Continued)

During the Period, the remuneration committee met three times to
review the remuneration policy for all directors and senior management.
Details of attendance of members at meeting of the remuneration
committee held during the Period are set out as follows:
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Attendance/

Number of

Meetings

HEEBRE

Mr. Chan Bing Kai (Chairman) PR SEE(EE) 3/3

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam BRIE NI £ 3/3

Mr. Ng Chi Wai RERLELE 3/3
COMPANY SECRETARY NEHE

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
Biographical details of Ms. Poon are set out under “Directors and Senior
Management” section in this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 59 to 66 of this annual report.

The fees paid/payable to TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited, the Company's
auditors, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are analysed below:

RRBZARMERBTERL L YA L™
RAMBCEERE - BULZBEHBER
REREELSRERE |5 o

ShES 1% BB K Bl &

RN RSN R BB B 1 S AN R BB E 2021
F1I2ANBLEFENYBRRNZBFETNHE
BB N AR FEIREE 59 B X 66 AHVBAZBIAD
WEA o

HZE2021F12A31BIEFE - B ERAAK
NAZHEBR(EE)SHMEBEEMAR AR
R M IEZBIREER SO ¢

Fees paid/
payable
Types of services provided by the external auditors SMNEREE IR MRS ESE B ENER
HK$'000
F#ET

Audit services fee for the year ended 31 December 2021 HE2021F12 A31 BIEFER
RERGE 900
Agreed-upon procedures of interim financial statements P HB I IR R IR T 133
Total e 1,033

*

The auditor’s remuneration disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements included HK$186,000, which was paid/payable to the statutory
auditors of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company (not TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited).
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year, which
give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
results and cash flows of the Group for that year and in compliance with
relevant law and disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. In preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Directors have selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are reasonable,
and have prepared disclosure of the financial position of the Group with
reasonable accuracy at any time.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective internal
control and risk management systems in order to safeguard the
Group's assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control and risk management
systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that the internal control
and risk management systems in place are adequate. The purpose is
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatements, errors, losses or fraud, and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure in achieving the Group’s business objectives.

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the size of
the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Board, through its Audit Committee
carries out reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control and risk
management systems. The Audit Committee had reported during the
Audit Committee meetings the key findings identified by the Company's
external auditor in respect of the Group's internal controls and risk
management and discussed findings and actions or measures taken in
addressing those findings. The Company considers the internal control
and risk management system is effective during the year under review.
No material issues on the Group's internal control and risk management
system have been identified during the year ended 31 December 2021
which required significant rectification works.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general
meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks
fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company,
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

If a shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a shareholders’
meeting, the shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding
requirements set out in the above paragraph headed “Procedures for
shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”, may follow
the same procedures by sending a written requisition to the Board
or the company secretary at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong. The shareholder should state his/her proposals
in the written requisition and submit the written requisition as early
as practicable to enable the company secretary to make necessary
arrangement.

Procedures for directing shareholder’s enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for putting
forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact details are as

follows:

Address: Workshop Unit 6, 13th Floor, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial
Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong, Hong Kong

Email: info@hktcgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the
original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry
(as the case may be) to the above address and provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’
understanding of the Groups’ business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable shareholders and
investors to make the best investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The Chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or in their absence,
other members of the respective committees, and, where applicable, the
chairman of the independent board committee are available to answer
questions at the shareholders’ meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.hktcgroup.com where up-to-date information and updates
on the Company's business operations and development, financial
information and other information are available to public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Period, the Company did not make any changes to its Articles.
An up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Company is investment holding. Principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion on
the Group's future business development and an analysis of the Group's
performance during the year using key financial performance indicators
are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” on pages 4 to 5 and the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 11 of this annual
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was not aware of
material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND
EMPLOYEES

We recognise that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to our
sustainable development. We are committed to establishing a close and
caring relationship with our employees, providing high quality products
and services to our customers and maintaining cooperation with our
suppliers.

We provide a fair and safe workplace, promote diversity, and provide
competitive remuneration packages and career development
opportunities for our employees based on their performance and
experience. The Group also provides regular training and development
resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include market
and financial risks.

Market Risks

The fluctuation of prices of raw materials exposes us to risks. While
we monitor the price of raw materials and adjust our price quotations
accordingly, we may not be able to directly pass on any increase in the
price of raw materials to our customers in time or at all, which may have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (coNTINUED)
Financial Risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
shown in Note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection and
has adopted stringent measures for environmental protection in order
to ensure our compliance with the prevailing environmental protection
laws and regulations.

During the year, the Group did not have any violation of relevant
environmental regulations and rules which gives rise to significant
impact to the Group's development, performance and businesses.

The environmental, social and governance report are provided in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance report” on pages 12 to 31 of this
annual report.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 187 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2021 to the shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company at
the close of business on 17 June 2022. The proposed final dividend is
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The final dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid
on 30 June 2022.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM to be held
on 30 May 2022, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from 25 May 2022 to 30 May 2022, both dates inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to
attend and vote at the AGM, unregistered holders of the Company should
ensure that all share transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant
share certificates, are lodged with the Company's branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than
4:30 p.m. on 24 May 2022.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (CONTINUED)

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 15
June 2022 to 17 June 2022 (both days inclusive) for the purpose of
determining the identity of members who are entitled to the final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021, during which period no
transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the final dividend, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates, must be lodged with the Company’'s Hong Kong branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level
54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 14 June 2022.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the past
five financial years are set out on page 188 of this annual report. The
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in the Group's property, plant and equipment
during the year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2021
are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the Company’'s share capital during the
Period are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 28 December 2018, the Board approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements, future business growth and its shareholding value.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Period.
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RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Company and the Group
during the Year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ng Chi Wai
Mr. Hung Chun Leung
Mr. Chan Bing Kai

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Company's Articles, Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa
and Mr. Ng Chi Wai will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a services agreement with
the Company for a term of three years, which may be terminated by
either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years, unless
terminated by either party giving to the other not less than one month’'s
notice in writing.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "Related Party Transactions”
in this report and Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements,
no Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the Period.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURE

At no time during the Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire by means of acquisition of shares, or debt securities, including
debentures, of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this report, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinances
(the "SF0Q")), as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company
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RAHRERRRE > NAFHERMEMNEQTF
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DA EAEAB BRI HEHES(E
R M -

EEREM HRERMRREENE
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RAREAH  ARFEFRTETHRAER
AR R EEEEE(EE AR R LBAE &P
(TRHFRMEHRS ) EXVE) iy - HERERHD
KABRERE T A A TARIRRE 7 M A B 15155 352
RSN & GATEN BT ANBRIORE -
HARIE E MRS PrE EMBETAESHE
TRFXHNRETRNRETRA DAMNG A
NA MRS MOAR

RAEAFCBITEBRNE R

Number of
Number of underlying Approximate
shares of shares of Total percentage of
the Company the Company interests shareholding
Name of Director Capacity RAT PNV R RERA
EEHR 514 ROEE KRHHBE BRER Aotk
(Note 2)
(Bt 2)
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam Interest in controlled 373,395,000 - 380,915,000 61.4%
corporation (Note 1)
BRIGMR I &= REGEE RS (A1)
Beneficial interest 6,900,000 620,000
BEmigm
ChanYin Yan Beneficial interest - 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
PR AE R EniEnm
Poon Po Han Lisa Beneficial interest - 6,200,000 6,200,000 1%
EEIN EmiEes
Hung Chun Leung Beneficial interest - 500,000 500,000 0.08%
HER BEmigm
Chan Bing Kai Beneficial interest = 500,000 500,000 0.08%
e BEniEam

Note 1. These shares are held by Oceanic Green Group Limited (“Oceanic Green"),

New Strength Ventures Limited ("New Strength”), Gold Alliance Ventures
Limited ("Gold Alliance”) and Treasure Line Holdings Limited ("Treasure
Line"), all of which are wholly owned by Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. By virtue of the
SFO, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is deemed to be interested in the shares held by
Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line.

Kat1: ZEROHTIBBREEERABN(NEE]) -
NEIRERAB(HAD]D 2 HBEKRERA
A]([# # J) & Treasure Line Holdings Limited
([Treasure Line ) # A + %1 A1 A REM
EEREBEA - RBFEF RGNS - BREKE
EWARABRER - 3N - 1% K Treasure Line
BENRNDFHEEER -
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DIRECTORS ' INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (coNTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Note 2: These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the date of this report, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company

EFENKD HREBROREEENHE

F=1C))

RAEQATECRITEBROERE 5

M2 - RERD AR DRBREERES S (TEE
T3 2 BT E RS T BT RER Y

Betn -

B EXFTREE S - RAME B AR
AEFAESFRABRKA R REIHAE
(6 5238 % T B B0 667 58 XV 36 60 9 - 1RIR
BB 5 5 R A 5 AR 8 3 A 438 352
RS P H ) SRR PO M S A
SIE AR A < B A 2D ) TR 22 T
SR -

FEBRR B 15 B AR (e 2
RAREBRH U TAL(ARREERTET
BABERIN AR B AD MARRE R D P AR

1578 5 KM BB 16D 3 336 1R R RIRE B INRX 6P
e E M AR

RAEARCRITEBRNER

Number

Number of  of underlying Approximate

ordinary shares of  shares of the percentage of

the Company held Company held® Total shareholding

Name of shareholder(s) Capacity g NG| g ¥ NG| R
BERERE HE 514 ZERYE HERGEHB® w3t #Esk
Oceanic Green' Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
sl ERBEA 127,100,000% A% 15 - 127,100,0008%R% 1% 20.5%
New Strength™ Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 shares - 127,100,000 shares 20.5%
sl ERBEA 127,100,0008% % {5 - 127,100,0008%8% 1% 20.5%
Gold Alliance™ Beneficial Owner 94,395,000 shares - 94,395,000 shares 15.2%
T ERBEA 94,395,000 % 10 - 94,395,0008%8% (0 15.2%
New Straits Ventures Limited® Beneficial Owner 79,205,000 shares - 79,205,000 shares 12.8%
EREIRBR DAY ERBEA 79,205,000% A% {5 - 79,205,000 1% 12.8%
Treasure Line™ Beneficial Owner 24,800,000 shares - 24,800,000 shares 4.0%
Treasure Line! ERBEA 24,800,000/ 8% 1 - 24,800,0000%% (% 4.0%
Ms. Fung Suk Yee May? Interest of Spouse 380,915,000 shares - 380,915,000 shares 61.4%
g L2 foiBtEs 380,915,0008% B% 15 - 380,915,0008%8% (% 61.4%
Mr. Cheng Chak® Interest in controlled 79,205,000 shares - 79,825,000 shares 12.9%

corporation
EDZ S A XS EEE S 79,205,000% A% {5 - 79,825,000/%8% 1% 12.9%
Beneficial Owner - 620,000 shares
ERfEA - 620,0008 %1%

Ms. Chong Po Lin Pauline Interest of Spouse 79,825,000 shares - 79,825,000 shares 12.9%
HEELLY foiBtEa 79,825,000% A% {7 - 79,825,0008%% 1% 12.9%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES (cOoNTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line is wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan, who is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares
held by each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance, and Treasure Line.

(2) Ms. Fung Suk Yee May is the spouse of Mr. Chan. Therefore, she is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Mr. Chan is interested for the purpose of the
SFO.

(3) New Straits Ventures Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Chak. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Cheng Chak is deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company held by New Straits Ventures Limited.

(4) Ms. Chong Po Lin Pauline is the spouse of Mr. Cheng Chak. Therefore, she is
deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company in which Mr. Cheng Chak
is interested for the purpose of the SFO.

(5) These represent the Shares to be issued and allotted by the Company upon
exercise of the options granted under the Option Scheme (as defined herein
below).

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other members
of the Group, or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or
short positions were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 28 May 2019, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing reward to selected
participants for their contribution to the Group. Eligible participants of
the Option Scheme include, without limitation, employees, executive
directors, non-executive directors, shareholders, advisers and
consultants.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has the following
share options granted to the eligible participants under the Option

AR E (2

HE2021F 12831 BIEEE - AARERE
BB ERAERREER AT ERE

Scheme:
Options
cancelled/
Options Options Options lapsed/ Options
outstanding granted exercised forfeited outstandingat Exercisable at
at 1 January during during during 31 December 31 December
2021 the year the year the year 2021 2021
R2021F R2021F
1818 ERiE#,/ 12A31H R2021%
Grantees Date of grant Exercise price 8 RITHE FRRE  ERETHE  ARRW i RATE 128318
REA REBH TRE MR R MR R MR MR IR MR AFTHE
(HKS$)
(#7)
Directors, chief executives
and substantial shareholders
EE IETHAE
REERR
Chan Tsan Lam 13 May 2020 0.355 620,000 = = = 620,000 620,000
BRI 202065A13H
Chan Yin Yan 13 May 2020 0.355 6,200,000 = = = 6,200,000 6,200,000
BRAM 202065A13H
Poon Po Han Lisa 13 May 2020 0.355 6,200,000 — — — 6,200,000 6,200,000
EER 2020654 13H
Hung Chun Leung 13 May 2020 0.355 500,000 = = = 500,000 500,000
HER 202065A13H
Chan Bing Kai 13 May 2020 0.355 500,000 = = = 500,000 500,000
B 202065A13H
Cheng Chak 13 May 2020 0.355 620,000 = = = 620,000 620,000
gz 2020657130
Employees and senior management 13 May 2020 0.355 19,900,000 = - (800,000) 19,100,000 19,100,000
EERSHREERE 20206 5R13H8
Others 13 May 2020 0.355 3,300,000 = = = 3,300,000 3,300,000
Hity 202065A13H
37,840,000 = = (800,000 37,040,000 37,040,000

The maximum number of shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Option Scheme and/or any other share option scheme of the
Company is 62,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the issued shares
of the Company as at the date of adoption of the Option Scheme and 10%
of the issued shares of the Company as at the date of this report.

As at 31 December 2021, the total number of shares which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted and remained
outstanding under the Option Scheme was 37,040,000, representing
approximately 5.97% of the issued shares of the Company. The total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Option Scheme was 24,960,000,
representing approximately 4.03% of the issued shares of the Company.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received annual confirmations from the controlling
shareholders, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold
Alliance, and Treasure Line and, in respect of their compliance with
the non-competition undertaking provided in favour of the Company.
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the said
undertaking and are of the view that Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green,
New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line have complied with the
non-competition undertaking since the Listing Date up to the date of this
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021 are disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. These transactions had either been discontinued before the
Company was listed on the Stock Exchange or constitute fully-exempted
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during
the Period is as follows:
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Percentage of the Group's total

EAEEUTEENE DL

Revenue Purchases

Wi g5

The largest customer BARF 57% N/A A3
The five largest customers in aggregate ARRFAR 86% N/A i A
The largest supplier RAMHER N/A i A 29%
The five largest suppliers in aggregate AARHEEER N/A TNiE A 58%

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Board are aware, neither the
Directors, their associates nor any shareholders of the Company (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's
share capital) had any beneficial interest in these major customers and
suppliers.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual
report, there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the issued shares
of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every Director
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which he/she may sustain or incur by the
execution of his/her duty, provided that the indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any
of the said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate directors
liability insurance in respect of legal action against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.
PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they are
advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. TANDEM (HK)
CPA Limited, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TAN DEM TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited
BRESSHMEBEFAERADT

To the members of
Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian Chang
Group Holdings Ltd. (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 67 to 187, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2021, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

HARESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

YR - BER R EH R EFE

At 31 December 2021, the Group has property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$764,841,000, accounting for
approximately 56.8% of the Group's total assets. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, as there was a loss arising
from the medical consumable products segment due to the
keen competition of the disposable face masks market, the
management of the Group concluded there was indication
for impairment and conducted impairment assessment on
certain machineries and equipments with carrying amounts of
approximately HK$13,329,000.

R2021F 128318 ESEMNYE BEEIXBEY
76484100087 K91 BESEBREEMNGLE% - NEZE
2021 F12A3MBILEFE ARENELNEMSHEFHZ
ERERELOTNEEE E£EREEERAEGTERERN
% WHETREELA13,329,0008 TR S K REETT
AR o

The recoverable amounts of the machineries and equipments
have been determined based on their fair value less costs
of disposal using sales comparison approach. Based on the
valuation prepared by an external independent professional
valuer, the relevant assets were impaired to their recoverable
amount of approximately HK$5,440,000, which is their carrying
values at year end and the impairment of approximately
HK$7,889,000 has been recognised in profit or loss during the
year.

HERREN T RESEEERNERARER N EKAEFE
ELBAET - REINEBYBEHEMBRR 2 HERS
HEEEFAREEMNATWNESECDBEZ 5,440,000
7T FERRIEX 7,889,000 BTN EENFER o
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MRBTFTHERERMANEXRHE - ReH
AHYREEAMBERRNBIRAEENER -
ZERHERERMEBREAMBRER LD
AERRETREN - RATSHZFEHE
HEBNESR -

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMNETNNEERARENSE

Our procedures to assess the Group's impairment

assessment of property, plant and equipment included the

following:

HFIRHE EEEYE - BEMAREORENGERFEE
THIBIEA -

a)

d)

understood the methodologies used by the independent
professional valuer to estimate resale values;

TRB Y EXGEMATRAO AL EBEER

evaluated the independent professional valuer's
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

FHEB EXRMAEMNER - BN RFEIE

communicated with the management of the Group
about the valuation technique adopted by the valuer,
and assessed the relevance and reasonableness of
valuation techniques used by the valuer;

B SEEEEERGEMRBNGEEETER
AR FHE S ER R A O B EER AR RS IR |

considered the appropriateness of the resale
values, adjustments and assumptions adopted by
the independent professional valuer based on our
knowledge of the business and industry;

REBRMBEHRITENTH  TREEEE B
BEXGHEMRBNABRRBRRAEE MK



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

WX - BE R R EH B EFE(E)

The assessment of the recoverable amounts is inherently
subjective as it involves the exercise of significant management
judgement and estimation, particularly in determining
adjustment for difference and costs of disposal applied.

B eENFEAE LASEIHN  AREFPRETER
ERHE R AR LEREBEERRAMERN L ERAN
o

The determination of the impairment losses recognised on
property, plant and equipment which is important for overall
financial statements involves the management’s usage of
significant accounting estimates and judgements. Accordingly,
we identified this as a key audit matter. Disclosure for property,
plant and equipment is included in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ETHEBMBHRRBEZNIYE - BE MREHERNR

BRI R EEEERERNGHEF kA - But - &M
BEBERREREASEE - WX BELRRBORESRRES

BUBERRME7

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 WS E B ES

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$212,186,000
(after the loss allowance provision of approximately
HK$6,266,000), which approximated to 15.8% of the Group's
total assets.

202112 A31 8 - EZEIGIEREREIEA) A 212,186,000
BT (B EHEE BB E 4 6,266,000/87T)  1h BEEEEE
EM#I15.8% °
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REFTER )

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMNETNNEERARENSE

e) evaluated the reasonableness of the underlying data
including asset condition and the market transactions;
and

AHEERER A E
54

BREEERANMTIER S

f) assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

FHESR A M B RRAEEENEEE

Our procedures to assess the Group's impairment
assessment of trade receivables included the following:

HIREE
£IH :

BEEEE S RWHENRENGEFE2E T

a) obtained management's assessment of ECL of trade
receivables and assessed the reasonableness of
the key underlying information referenced by the
management;

RSEEEHE ZREFENRREREERETHF
i WRHEEEEMSENRREREN RS AR

AEREEZRER AR 61
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables(Continued)

B 5 BN B R E TS ()

Management performed credit evaluations for the Group's
customers and assessed expected credit losses ("ECL") of
trade receivables. The impairment assessments on credit-
impaired debtors and debtors with significant balances are
separately assessed based on the individual customer’s
settlement record, their current repayment ability, and taking
into account information specific to respective customer as
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
debtors operate. In addition, the impairment assessment
on the remaining debtors are established with a provision
matrix with loss rates based on aging of debtors, as well
as the Group's historical default rates and forward-looking
information.

EEEY BERENEFPETEENELFGESEBEK
ENBEREEBR(AMEEER] - REENEFPHNE
sk twfBEANERENDHHERLEEERENE
BARBEBEXRGEHNEB AETRER S - TEEHEH
BEFAREBANLEMBREBERTNEBER - 1Loh - #
HREHANREFHEBEARBEBARKRAL &
SEELENLERAEEENAENBRREBERE
fE o

The determination of the ECL of trade receivables which
is important for overall financial statements involves the
management’s usage of significant accounting estimates and
judgements. Accordingly, we identified this as a key audit
matter. Disclosure for trade receivables are included in Notes
21 and 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

ETHERYERAMEBEENE SEKFEEHEER
BESLEEBEREAGHET R - At - HAE
BEERLBARETZE BHERUFENREINGS
B SRR B 7E 21 K2 35(b) ©
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRSSO EERRESSEE

in respect of trade receivables of which identified by
management for individually assess for impairment,
we discussed with management about the status of
significant individual debtors’ specific profiles and risks,
reviewed their current repayment ability and assessed
management’'s assumptions used to determine the ECL
provision;

FLE R R ERRER G 28 BB FHENF -
BAIEEE R E T RA WA ERAZRGER RN
FREHER AMMERIMR R BB 2 B - FEMFIE ATH
BRENRFHEREEANECRBEEFREREN

R

for those trade receivables whose credit loss were
using provision matrix, checked and assessed whether
the loss allowance provision is properly supported by
considering the debtors’ aging analysis and settlement
records, history of bad debt and available forward-
looking information; and

REEFEERBEERNZSZEZRIFEAEMS
BfiRERFEEEREREKEREBAKREKD
i~ EELE  BRELRAGBHELEENNZRE
BH; &

we further considered the adequacy of the Group's

disclosure regarding the estimation uncertainty
involved in determining the ECL provision.

BfgE—FPER EEBEETAEMEEEREGR
P R REE AR ERTT R -



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

HARETEE

Allowance for inventories

FEREE

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of inventories on
the consolidated financial statements was HK$171,883,000,
representing 12.8% of the total assets. The write-down of
inventories of HK$7,328,000 was recognised in profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

R2021F 128318 KAV EREXRFGFTEFEDFES
171,883,000/8 70 ' (hAREER12.8% - REE2021F 12 A

3NBZEE - IFEMEY 7,328,000 T O A IBRIER

The allowance for inventories was made on the management'’s
review of the condition of inventories at the end of the
reporting period, and made allowances for inventories that are
identified as damaged, slow-moving and obsolete or no longer
recoverable. The management carried out the inventory review
on a product-by-product basis. The Group made allowances
by reference to the latest market prices and current market
conditions, including incremental cost directly attributable to
the sale and non-incremental cost which must incur to make
the sale.

GFEREBHHEEEEENMERRNTE Hﬁ/RIEJEEEXE?‘r
B BEERBRE T RERENTEEED - EEERERE
EnEEHFEETES . BESELSERTMEKLER

MA(BREHEEERGEEN AR BIELHEMEENIE
EERA) L BE -

The determination of the allowances for inventories which
is important for overall financial statements involves the
management’s usage of significant accounting estimates and
judgements. Accordingly, we identified this as a key audit
matter. Disclosure for inventories is included in Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ETUBRBMBHRRBEENTERBINEEEEREX
SRt AT RFAE - At RAIESEEERSBERETEER -
FERB BN BRSNS A MIERRME 20 -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and

our auditor’s report thereon.
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REFEFER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRSSO EERRESSEE

Our procedures to assess the Group's allowances for

inventories included the following:

TAIRHE

a)

©

BEREFERENERFBE TIISA

reviewed management’s policy on identification of
damaged, slow-moving and obsolete inventories and
critically assessed whether appropriate provisions had
been made;

EHERERRNBIRSBEFOBER - LWERT

EREAEFLEERE

observed the stocktaking process to compare whether
the damaged, slow-moving and obsolete inventories as
identified;

BIRFERINE - UHLBENNBRRLZEERT

evaluated the key assumptions, such as latest market
prices, and current market conditions including
incremental cost directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental cost which must incur to make the
sale on a sampling basis; and

BRMEEETLREREBR  wsxFmERB TR
(BREHEERRGEEERANRAELHEERELN

FHEERAN) K

considered the reliability of management's assessment
by checking the utilisation of inventories across the
subsequent sales.

FBRER & HEDFEOEDERE BTSRRI

BRI SEME -

Httsw#

ERFAEFEHEMENAST - HWEHBR
FRANABEER  ETEBEEPNEAME
HR LRI ZBEN RS o
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OTHER INFORMATION (conTINUED)

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED
WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

] Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in @ manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Hon Siu Fai.

TANDEM (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
29 March 2022

Practising Certificate number: P07525
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

iRl m

Year ended 31 December 2021

HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
PEE FET T
Revenue Uz 6 1,117,688 787,394
Cost of goods sold B SR A (863,830) (593,697)
Gross profit ER 253,858 193,697
Other income H A 7 7,105 7,588
Other gains and losses H bz K B8 8 1,062 818
Impairment losses recognised on R - BE R
property, plant and equipment REERARERSE 17(c) (7,889) =
Impairment losses recognised RE SRR ER
on trade receivables BEREE (349) (1,101
Selling and distribution costs SHE R KA (7,424) (8,477)
Administrative and other THRREMEERS
operating expenses (126,290) (96,175)
Finance costs IR ID N 9 (7,667) (8,822)
Profit before tax FRBE A 2 T 10 112,406 87,528
Income tax expense Frig®if 13 (16,142) (13,814)
Profit for the year FRER 96,264 73,714
HK cents HK cents
Earnings per share BREF p=2 (1l il
Basic R 15 15.53 11.89
Diluted i3 15 15.39 11.88
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

S E] D TS

Year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE 2021 F 12 A31 BIEFE

2021 2020
20214 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T T
Profit for the year FRBEF 96,264 73,714
Other comprehensive income Hit2mE k=
Item that may be reclassified A& e EFIIA Bz 2 HA -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation HEIEINTEE H 258
of foreign operations 29,093 34,542
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZHW ML 125,357 108,256
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

in S HIFGINI R

At 31 December 2021 2021412 A31 H

2021 2020
20216 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e Y& 17 764,841 720,736
Financial assets at fair value WAREF ARG ESRMEE
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") (M= AR ERT ABZH
SREE]) 18 30,454 29,586
Finance lease receivables Rl E A ERIE 19 1,617 4,042
Rental deposits Hemke 77 229
Deferred tax assets EEFIBE E 28 918 1,256
797,907 755,849
Current assets REBEE
Inventories Ea=s 20 171,883 99,187
Finance lease receivables e R B EFIR 19 2,425 2,425
Trade and other receivables B 5 R HE A GIE 21 252,346 188,828
Income tax recoverable AR B AT 27 35
Restricted bank balance PR HIERTT AR 22 7,780 =
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KRS 22 114,667 116,966
549,128 407,441
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables E 5 R E M ER IR 23 288,133 202,302
Payables for construction in progress FENTERITIEFIA 24 20,168 24,609
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEMER 25 216,003 193,259
Deferred income B A 26 1,561 1,064
Lease liabilities HERE 27 10,638 16,891
Income tax payables FERTFTISHL 9,937 17,989
546,440 456,114
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (8E)FE 2,688 (48,673)
Total assets less current liabilities REERRARBAS 800,595 707,176
AREEMERERAR 69 -l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
in e HIINAER

At 31 December 2021 72021412 31 H

2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Payables for construction in progress B TRERIE 24 7,309 1,992
Interest-bearing borrowings TEMER 25 19,278 36,739
Deferred income EE W 26 12,276 9222
Lease liabilities HEaFE 27 342 10,534
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEE 28 6,602 10,461
45,807 68,948
NET ASSETS BEERE 754,788 638,228
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital A& 29 62,000 62,000
Reserves (e 30 692,788 576,228
TOTAL EQUITY SR 754,788 638,228

These consolidated financial statements on pages 67 to 187 were FOTAZBTEMZFHREMBRER_F

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March TIHEZAZTNAEEEEREREET
2022 and signed on its behalf by B WAL TEEREREY

CHAN Tsan Lam CHAN Yin Yan

Director Director

EF EF

70 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ino g mE2EE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ=2021F 12 A31 BHIEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
APTARREE AER
Share
Share Share Capital Statutory  Translation option Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total

BEA  ROBE EXRE  LAERE AERE BRERE | RHEA st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT THT FHT THT THT THT THT
(Note 29)  (Note 30(a))  (Note 30(b))  (Note 30(c))  (Note 30(d))  (Note 30(e))

(MiaE29)  (MfEE30(a)) (BEE30(b)) (BFEE30(c)) (PEE30(d)) (M¥aE30(e)

At 1 January 2020 H202061A18 62,000 34,203 77,810 23,994 (16,283) - 355,501 537,225
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 73,714 73,714
Other comprehensive income Hir2EEA - - - 2 34,542 5 2 34,542
Total comprehensive FR2ENEEER

income for the year - - - - 34,542 - 73714 108,256
Appropriation of statutory reserve  1REUETE &t - - - 4,202 - - (4,202) -
Recognition of equity-settled BRLEREE NG

share-based payment (Note 37) BB AE31) . . B . . 2047 . 2047
Dividends (Note 74) BBzt 14) - - - - - - (9,300) (9,300)

At 31 December 2020 and

H20205 128318 R

1 January 2021 202118181 62,000 34,203 77,810 28,196 18,259 2,047 415713 638,228
Profit for the year FREF - - - - - - 96,264 96,264
Other comprehensive income Hiv2mks - - - - 29,093 - - 29,093
Total comprehensive FRZENEEE

income for the year - - - - 29,093 - 96,264 125,357
Appropriation of statutory reserve 1R BUATE &S - - - 6,025 - - (6,025) -
Recognition of equity-settled TR EREENRG

share-based payment (Note 37)  BA& B A (Hfz#31) - - - - - 503 - 503
Lapse of share options (Note 37)  BERRER (A2 31) - - - - - (45) 45 -
Dividends (Note 74) BB (Hit14) - - - - - - (9,300) (9,300)
At 31 December 2021 H2021E12831H8 62,000 34,203 77,810 34,221 47,352 2,505 496,697 754,788
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mBHEREXR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #(ZE 2021412 A 31 HILFE

2021 2020
20214 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B ot F#&T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES ReEEy
Cash generated from operations KEMZIEHES 32 122,722 81,600
Income tax (paid) refund (B REIFEH (28,447) 2,677
Net cash from operating activities RETHABSRESFE 94,275 84,277
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REER
Receipt of government grants in WERB R
relation to acquisitions of property, 5% 55 B 5% 1 O BRI+ B
plant and equipment 4,574 9,518
Interest received BUF B 794 575
Proceeds on disposal of property, HEME BEX
plant and equipment REFTS A 593 1,316
Receipt of finance lease receivables HQEXfHﬁZE&‘Ké% =60 2,425 808
Proceeds from settlement of financial B AR EFTAER
assets at FVTPL Eﬁiwﬂéizﬁﬁ%%fk - 1,196
Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEME  BER&HE (62,487) (99,200)
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BEERASEABR
N REE - (732)
Net cash used in investing activities BRETEHFFARSFE (54,101) (86,519)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REER
Dividends paid EARE (9,300) (9,300)
New interest-bearing borrowings raised FTIgET SER 34(b) 301,999 318,282
Repayments of interest-bearing borrowings BB EER 34(b) (295,349) (207,380)
Repayments of payables for ERENERZIRENRE
construction in progress 34(b) (18,317) (38,856)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEEEE 34(b) (16,934) (19,116)
Interest paid EARFE 34(b) (7,253) (8,124)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities ~ BAEEEN (FT ) Fri8
ReFE (45,154) 35,506
Net (decrease) increase in cash REeERESEEWORD)
and cash equivalents EHNFEEE (4,980) 33,264
Cash and cash equivalents FUESRESEEY
at the beginning of the year 116,966 85,567
Effect on exchange rate changes EREHHT 2,681 (1,865)
Cash and cash equivalents ERBEESRBESEEY
at the end of the year, BRITHESEES
represented by bank balances and cash 114,667 116,966
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ=2021F 12 A31 BHILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 26 April 2017 and its shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange’) on 8 March 2018. The ultimate controlling party of
the Company is Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (the “Ultimate Controlling
Party’), who is also the chairman and executive director of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Company together with its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the "Group”) are principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sales of electronic cigarettes products
("e-cigarettes products’) and medical consumable products,
and providing integrated plastic solutions in Hong Kong and
in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC"). Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC whose
functional currency is Renmenbi ("RMB”), the functional currency
of the Company and its other subsidiaries is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK$, which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions
Interest Rate Benchmark

Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

—RER

AREEERAR AR (AR2F )R 2017
FLA2WBEREHSTMNLAERR
BERETRAR  HEMHR2018F3A8H
ERAHMERIMERAR(HERAT])E
R_ETH o ARAQ BB AIERR T5 BRIEM L
E(TREERS]) EAARRAEFRE
TES - ARAEMREENETEL %M
BHA I A AR FIRA) A BRI AR EB D EE o

AAFINELEBRIREER - XAF R
EMBRARIATARBAIXER)EER
BEERPEAREMA(HEDHEET
BEER(EFEER)EEEBELRHE
ENIEE AR E BT BRARATR -
MIEB A RIA & EBFIBEHNERE VB
FMIFE16 ©

BRREETBERINARE(TARB DA
W EBOMB ARSI - AR A] R E A
BRANINEEEE RET([BRT]) - BRIE
EEH  EAMBHRRAETES &
TEMBARRAINEEER -

BREEMBREEN(EFEM
BIREER ) 2 B85

REFERFERNE B BREE
Rz 85T

RAEE  AEBERRGEVBREREE
RERAB2021F1 A1 Bk 2 BRI F
EHHEASERN T EESHMAE
([BEASTTHAR DEMNBBUKRES
AR 2 1E35] -

FREP RS £ BT Fib A AE R
16 ZIERT ZHEEE
BRUHHRE LR MREAE

FoR - BAZE
R 3958 - F
B 75 5 25 2E Rl

F79 - BAEME
H|ELERE LR
ARV RS

AR 1657 2 18R]

HE - R
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

In addition, the Group applied the agenda decision of the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (the “Committee”) of the International
Accounting Standards Board issued in June 2021 which clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories.

Except as described below, the application of the amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments relate to changes in the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of interest-
bearing borrowings as a result of interest rate benchmark
reform, specific hedge accounting requirements and the related
disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures ("HKFRS 77).

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021
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fm 5 il 15 $ 2} Bl 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform — Phase 2 (Continued)

At 1 January 2021, the Group has several interest-bearing
borrowings, the interests of which are indexed to benchmark rates
that will or may be subject to interest rate benchmark reform.
The following table shows the total amounts of these outstanding
contracts. The amounts of interest-bearing borrowings are shown
at their carrying amounts.

2.

EREEMBREEAN(EFBE
BmEEL ) 2185 @)

RAEAFEERFERNNEBUHREE
B2 1&5T ()

EREENBEHEERE IR  BESI
ERIE 395 BB B ERIE 7%

BB BIRE BRFE 4R REENFEHE
BRIE 16 PP F R BN E —F _[ERZE

FTHIZE ()

R2021F1A18H  AEEEB TEHEME
BRI S EECERI KA - i EEREK
BER AR REERE I FE - TR
BIZERBITANZBESE - sTEER
ZERREREREYIR -

United States

Financial liabilities............c.cc....cccccciiioer, cRaE
Interest-bearing borrowings FHEMER

The amendments have had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements as none of the relevant contracts has been transitioned
to the relevant replacement rates during the year. The Group
will apply the practical expedient in relation to the changes in
contractual cash flows resulting from the interest rate benchmark
reform for interest-bearing borrowings measured at amortised
cost. Additional disclosures as required by HKFRS 7 are set out in
Note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Dollar (“US$")
London
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“LIBOR")

ESHE )
WBERTT
GES73Y

([fRBERTT
GES/I-M)
HK$'000
FET

42,133

HK$

Hong Kong
Interbank
Offered Rate
(“HIBOR")
BT
BRRIT
EEZiI-N
(T &BRIT
EEHFE D)
HK$'000
FET

97,770

AR AFESETEMAESOEREE
BERE - FAZIEFTEHRAMEmERT
EEE AEBEERIRBERANTENT
BRERZAEREEREMEENEORES
REZERMAIITHE L - RIEEEH
BREERBTRAEECHEBEHRGE
BT ERERMIFE 35(b) o
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for
the current year (Continued)

Impacts on application of the agenda decision of the Committee —
Cost necessary to sell inventories (HKAS 2 Inventories)

In June 2021, the Committee, through its agenda decision, clarified
the costs an entity should include as “estimated costs necessary
to make the sale” when determining the net realisable value of
inventories. In particular, whether such costs should be limited to
those that are incremental to the sale. The Committee concluded
that the estimated costs necessary to make the sale should not be
limited to those that are incremental but should also include costs
that an entity must incur to sell its inventories including those that
are not incremental to a particular sale.

The Group's accounting policy prior to the Committee's agenda
decision was to determine the net realisable value of inventories
taking into consideration incremental costs only. Upon application
of the Committee's agenda decision, the Group changed its
accounting policy to determine the net realisable value of
inventories taking into consideration both incremental costs and
other cost necessary to sell inventories. The new accounting policy
has been applied retrospectively.

The application of the Committee's agenda decision has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance as both incremental costs and other cost necessary
to sell inventories are insignificant.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments?®

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021°

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation
5(2020)®

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies®

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract?

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020?

' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

“  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

EREEVBREEN(EFEY
WREER |) 2 B7T =)
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ZIBE] BT A AR A
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5(20217)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance
on the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as
current or non-current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by
management intentions or expectations to settle the
liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does
not test compliance until a later date; and

° clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer
of the entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not
affect its classification as current or non-current only if
the entity recognises the option separately as an equity
instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a
consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the
corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5(2021) (Continued)

Based on the Group’'s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December
2021, including interest-bearing borrowings, lease liabilities and
payables for construction in progress, and the related terms and
conditions stipulated in the agreements between the Group and
the relevant lenders, the application of the amendments will not
result in reclassification of the Group's liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity's financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to
material transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group's significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group's future consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty - that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set
out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates
involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group's consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the recognition exemption
of deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets in paragraphs
15 and 24 of HKAS 12 /Income Taxes so that it no longer applies to
transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences.

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, for
leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to
the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 requirements to the
relevant assets and liabilities separately. Temporary differences
on initial recognition of the relevant assets and liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group will recognise
a deferred tax (to the extent that it is probable the taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary difference
can be utilised) and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-use
assets and the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Continued)

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with early application
permitted. At 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, which are subject to the
amendments amounted to HK$90,822,000 and HK$10,980,000
respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing the full
impact of the application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following
standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing
whether modification of terms of original financial liability
constitutes substantial modification under the “10 per cent”
test, a borrower includes only fees paid or received between the
borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either
the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS
16 removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement
relating to leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
remove any potential confusion.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Listing Rules”) and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 Lease, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.1

3.2

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

L Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Significant accounting policies

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

REGAMERERNEEREE
BrHEE =

3.2 EEETTHE®

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
in line with the Group's accounting policies.

Allintragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021

HEEERE)

WA EE RGBT il =R
BART-—HAZHEAZ XK
EeEH T HERTERRIRET

ErER - RFAKHHERRNM
BWMAETARE  EHSFHRERE
AEEHEAHRRFRT 2

SEARFENMAEEENRARE -
B WA X REEAREK
BERRRARZHNA T REHINEE
FRER2EEEH -

XKEEP &Rz

A B AR B 4B R (B it)
R zE - AT 2 B 40 AT A
MER SR SR TE
Fo o

JB#)E 15 — (B PR R m S RS (3
— AR MRS )k — I KK
AR 1R A AR e 7 S AR A

A& A N E AP — BRI
EREHEBE  MEml2Ex2
FE1THEBE B EOE Z IR R

7 -
pt -

. REAEEEHH  BERER
183 % A = M B FTIR AL
R

s AKBEWENRIEIIRR IR
BE MxBAEERARERE
HIRF R E PRS- 3K

s AEEMBENLRAERALE
EEEHAENEE  BA%
BEESEERBONNREA
BRI R HIITEVRER o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT |40 & 10
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 EEEITEHEw®

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Nature of goods:

The nature of the goods provided by the Group is as follows:

(i) manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products;

(i)  manufacturing and sales of moulds and plastic
products; and

(i) manufacturing and sales of medical consumable
products.

Sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products
and medical consumable products are recognised at a point
in time at which the customer obtains the control of the
promised asset, which generally coincides with the time
when the goods are delivered to customers and the title is
passed.

For the business of sales of e-cigarettes products and
moulds and plastic products, it is common for the Group
to receive from the customer the whole or some of the
contractual payments before the goods are delivered f(i.e.
the timing of revenue recognition for such transactions). The
Group recognises a contract liability until it is recognised as
revenue.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of not
adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing
component.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

REGAMERERNEEREE
BrHEE =

3.2 EEETTHE®

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases (e.g. leased properties) that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
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3. REGSHMEERMNEEREE
BEBUR 2

3.2 EESMBE@®

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received,;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets, upon exercising purchase options, the carrying
amount of the relevant right-of-use assets are transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant
and equipment”, the same line item within which the
corresponding underlying assets would be presented if they
were owned.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBBERNEEREE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BRI ()

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESTEEX®
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBERAEBA G
Refundable rental deposits AR B £ 1% %
Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under ENAIEEHESESIBIERSME
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to HEAEIFAR - WP EAR
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional Bt E - RYIEERFHALERD
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use FARERABINAENR - WETA
assets. FREEEMKA
Lease liabilities HEAE
At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises REEMKRBE  AEBEKREARXR
and measures the lease liability at the present value of NHHENREERRLTEHE
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating BE - FEEENRORER - ¥
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the EEANETHENRBS R X K
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement &@@ﬁﬁfﬂﬁsﬂ% HHMESEE
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily RRMEITETE o

determinable.

The lease payments include: HENREHE :

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed e EENKEEEEHEEN
payments) less any lease incentives receivable; OB ERAEES

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or e EBURR—IBHEE LR ZATE
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at HERK )\EAE-TEUIA A B iE 8
the commencement date; A EYIFEE

*  amounts expected to be payable by the Group under o  AEBEREFBEMBEERES
residual value guarantees; FE 2 RIB

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is e BEEBEENTEENAS
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and BEEEETEZEERE)

&

*  payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the e WIFHEMIIFETR(NAEE
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to 1%fkﬁﬂ9&$$. TR EIERELR
terminate the lease. IEHEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted

by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)

whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in

the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review, in which
case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item

on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate

lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability,
less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using
the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease
modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform
if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

° the modification is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

° the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HREGAMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BETEE )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EESMBE@®

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

If lease modifications are made in addition to those lease
modifications required by interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the applicable requirements in HKFRS
16 (see the accounting policy above) to account for all
lease modifications made at the same time, including those
required by interest rate benchmark reform.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

° the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

° any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

o there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.

THE (&)
REBEREBEA @)

IMRBHEEENERRNHEEE
HHMNEETTHEES  AEEE
REBMBREERE 165F (R Lt
SR BR)NEREREMBEHEEE
MEEETRIE - BREFRELENR
BERMMEBEN -

HF AR < M2 EH

R EHARBEERERELE
HEAHWAENBEERR2ME - A
SECEREEME NIAE R
ERAIITHRE AT HAEBE

R/ EEEEN

- MEMNREPEFHENLE
AIREBEEREH ANEE
REEFHERIERZRE

e MENRZEMBIEFER
TE FY2021 %6 A30H 5k 2 Al
BN R

«  EEMEMERREFTEE
BHR -

ERATEREFZHESER2EH
ZTEE R RE B AR 2 A A A
[l — 75 =% A & 78 B 1 s o 22 A
F16WMEHARNEBWIFEE
{ERT)

AEREEZRER AR 21
2021 FE 3,

i

< Al



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

&=
wilk

Bl 5 ¥ 2% B 5

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

92

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract
is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at
amounts equal to net investments in the leases, measured
using the interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial
direct costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or
dealer lessors) are included in the initial measurement of the
net investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated
to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic
rate of return on the Group's net investment outstanding in
respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Sales and leaseback transactions

The Group applies the requirements of HKFRS 15 to assess
whether sale and leaseback transaction constitutes a sale
by the Group.

The Group as a seller-lessee

For a transfer that does not satisfy the requirements as a
sale, the Group as a seller-lessee continues to recognise the
assets and accounts for the transfer proceeds as borrowings
within the scope of HKFRS 9.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HREGAMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BETEE )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EESMBE@®

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEETTHE®

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit costs

The obligations for contributions to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group had no forfeited contribution
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future
years.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
employees of the Group's entities established in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement
plans organised by local governments. Contributions to
these plans are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and
other than these monthly contributions, the Group has no
further obligation for the payment of retirement benefits to
its employees.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HREGAMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BETEE )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EESMBE@®

Employee benefits (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
(including directors) and others providing similar services
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at
the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. For share options that vest immediately at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted is
expensed immediately to profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEETTHE®

Share-based payments (Continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are lapsed after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to accumulated profits, where appropriate.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share-based payments reserve will be
transferred to accumulated profits.

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where that
fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they
are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of
the goods or services received are recognised as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EE®FBE®

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HREGAMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BETEE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EESMBE@®

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of
lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject
to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than properties
under construction as described below). Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGASMEREMNEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BETEE )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEETTHE®

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Buildings and machinery and equipment in the course
of construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable
to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for
their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition.
To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented
separately as “right-of-use assets” under property, plant
and equipment in the consolidated statement of financial
position. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as land and buildings under property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets other than construction in progress less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. HREGAMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BETEE )

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)
3.2 EESTEEX®

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

-
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Intangible assets

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development activities (or from the development phase of
an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

° the intention to complete the intangible asset and use
or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

] the availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the development and to
use or sell the intangible asset; and

° the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated
intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses (if any),
on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) to determine whether there is
any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
(including right-of-use assets) are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment (including
right-of-use assets) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable)
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #ZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGSMERENEEREE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BETEE )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EESEHE®)
Inventories 75

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

104

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost

as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly

reduces an accounting mismatch.

(i)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net
gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

3.2 EEETTHE®

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets (including
rental deposits, trade receivables and other receivables,
restricted bank balance and bank balance), and other item
(finance lease receivables), which are subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables and finance lease receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument's external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower'’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables and finance lease receivables, when
the amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset and other item subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default
and loss given default is based on historical data
and forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical
credit loss experience and forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.
For a finance lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flow
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial asset and other item subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised cost
of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and finance lease receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all

the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another

entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised

cost, the difference between the asset’'s carrying amount

and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group's financial liabilities including trade and
other payables, interest-bearing borrowings, payables
for construction in progress and lease liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’'s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2 EE®FBE®

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the contractual
cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability to which
the amortised cost measurement applies as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to account for these changes by updating
the effective interest rate, such change in effective interest
rate normally has no significant effect on the carrying
amount of the relevant financial asset or financial liability.

A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is required by interest rate benchmark reform if and
only if, both these conditions are met:

o the change is necessary as a direct consequence of
interest rate benchmark reform; and

. the new basis for determining the contractual cash
flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
(ie the basis immediately preceding the change).

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the
net amount presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position when, and only when, the Group currently
has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised
amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the Group
or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cONTINUED)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to a parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(@)  That person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b)  Children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c)  Dependants of that person or that person's spouse or
domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (coNTINUED)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Judgement in identifying whether a contract includes a lease —
contracts for the supply of e-cigarettes products

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not a major
customer ("Customer A”") and its affiliated companies (“Customer
A Group”) has contracted for the rights to substantially all of the
capacity of the factories and the related plants and machineries
of the Group and whether the contracts with Customer A Group
contain a lease. After assessing the forecast production volumes
over the contract term, the directors of the Company have
established that the Group can regularly use the factory and the
related plant and machinery for other purposes during the course
of the contract to supply goods to other customers. Therefore,
Customer A Group does not have the right to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from the use of the factory and the
related plant and machinery. As a result, the directors of the
Company concluded that Customer A Group has not contracted for
substantially all of the capacity of the factory, including the related
plant and machinery, and therefore the contract does not contain a
lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (coNnTINUED)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment used for generating for rental
income

The Group has developed certain criteria in making judgements
whether certain properties used for generating rental income are
qualified and recognised in property, plant and equipment. Certain
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental income,
and another portion that is held for use in the operation of the
Group's business. If portions could be sold separately or leased
out separately under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the
portions separately. The properties are investment properties only
if an insignificant portion is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services. Judgement is made in an individual property
basis to determine whether the above criteria are so significant
that property does not qualify as investment properties.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Impairment assessment of trade receivables

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amount of trade
receivables amounted to approximately HK$212,186,000
(2020: HK$145,334,000) (after the loss allowance provision
of approximately HK$6,266,000 (2020: HK$5,893,000).

Management performed credit evaluations for the Group's
customers and assessed ECL of trade receivables. The
impairment assessments on credit-impaired debtors and
debtors with significant balances are separately assessed
based on the individual customer’s settlement record,
their current repayment ability and taking into account
information specific to respective customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
debtors operate. In addition, the impairment assessment
on the remaining debtors are established with a provision
matrix with loss rates based on aging of debtors, as well
as the Group's historical default rates and forward-looking
information.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (coNTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(ifi)

Impairment assessment of trade receivables (Continued)

The determination of the ECL of trade receivables which
is important for overall financial statements involves the
management’'s usage of significant accounting estimates
and judgements.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The Group's trade receivables and the information about
the ECL are disclosed in Note 21 and Note 35(b) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Deferred tax asset

At 31 December 2021, a deferred tax asset of HK$4,928,000
(2020: HK$5,865,000) in relation to unused tax losses for
certain operating subsidiaries had been recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The realisability
of the deferred tax assets mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences will
be available in the future, which is a key source of estimation
uncertainty, especially the uncertainty on how the COVID-19
pandemic may progress and evolve. In cases where the
actual future taxable profits generated are less or more than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result
in revision of future taxable profits estimation, a material
reversal or further recognition of deferred tax assets may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal or further recognition takes
place.

Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the condition of inventories at
the end of each reporting period and makes allowance for
inventories that are identified as damaged, slow-moving,
obsolete or no longer recoverable. The management carries
out the inventory review on a product-by-product basis. The
Group makes allowances by reference to the latest market
prices and current market conditions, including incremental
cost directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
cost which must incur to make the sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cOoNTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Allowance for inventories (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, the net carrying amount of inventories
was HK$171,883,000 (2020: HK$99,187,000). Written-
down of inventories of HK$7,328,000 (2020: HK$7,410,000)
was recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets and construction in progress are stated at costs
less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly
in assessing the calculation by using the fair value less
costs of disposal, which is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm'’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental
costs for disposing of the asset. If there is no binding sale
agreement or active market for that asset (or asset group),
management will make reference to the best information
available to reflect the amount that an entity could obtain at
end of the reporting period.

At 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts of certain
property, plant and equipment, subject to impairment
assessment were HK$13,329,000 (2020: HK$15,572,000)
related to the medical consumable products segment, after
taking into account the impairment losses of HK$7,889,000
(2020: Nil). Details of the impairment of property, plant and
equipment, including right-of-use assets, are disclosed in
Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FERE®

EET TP EEENEERIF (&)

(iii)

(iv)

FEREE ()

M2021F12A318 T EE®E
SH{H /171,883,000 78 7t(2020 4 -
99,187,000 ;T ) ° #H Z=2021F 12
A31BIEFE - FEMEE 7,328,000
BIL(20204F : 7.410,000%7C) B 7

BaER e

YE BB RZ R E

ME - BELERE (BREREEE
RIERTIRE) BRAR R AT E KR
B (WA) Jfk RET-REER
BHIRER - NEBEFETHE X
TEH R Y - TERFERERERA
B ER - RAR TR SEERAU
BEEATANRNEER S A EH
B SAEBmSERRLEEEL
BERAGL WA EALRDHHE
EmmzEE (HEEMR) KR
Bhi5  EEER2ERHERNR
EER  ARBREEBRARE KA
RSN EHE -

R2021F12A831H @ &LREFTM
METYE BEERIXENER
E/413,329,0008 7T (20204 :
15,572,000;85C) + R BEFEME
mab D AR E B8 57,889,000 7T
(2020 : £) - BEABRIEFERAE
BEEEANNYIE  BERSBEREC
15 - WENRE SRR E17

AEREEZRER AR
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SEGMENTS INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision makers ("CODM"), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods delivered. No operating
segments identified by the CODM have been aggregated in arriving
at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments are as
follows:

1) E-cigarettes products segment: manufacture and sales of
e-cigarettes products.

2) Integrated plastic solutions segment: manufacture and sales
of moulds and plastic products.

3) Medical consumable products segment: manufacture and
sales of medical consumable products.

Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from manufacturing
and sales of e-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products
and medical consumable products.

Segment results represent the gross profit less selling and
distribution costs and impairment losses recognised on trade
receivables, written off of property, plant and equipment, loss on
disposal of property, plant and equipment, impairment losses
recognised on property, plant and equipment and gain on transfer
of property, plant and equipment to finance lease receivables
incurred by each segment without allocation of other income, other
gains and losses, administrative and other operating expenses,
finance costs and income tax expense. This is the information
reported to the CODM of the Group for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

SEGMENTS INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5. S@MBEH®

Segment revenue and results (Continued) o EB UL a2 FEAE (%)

The followings are analysis of the Group's revenue and results by AT AREETTRE RLED KRR
reportable and operating segments: EEDW

Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Total

—BE{xE
ETEERm MRAIR BREEER #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THRT TR THET FTET

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021%512H831H

IEEE

Segment revenue 7 Efi s 634,271 481,366 2,051 1,117,688
Gross profit/(loss) ER(E8) 137,416 120,245 (3,803) 253,858
Impairment losses recognised NE 5 FEWGRIARERR

on trade receivables KRB E 1B - (349) - (349)
Written off of property, ME - BB MR

plant and equipment (20) (422) - (442)
Loss on disposal of property, LEME - BEK

plant and equipment RIENEE - (236) - (236)
Impairment losses recognised R - BE K

on property, SRR RE R

plant and equipment - - (7,889) (7,889)
Selling and distribution costs HE R A - (7,424) - (7,424)
Segment results DEEE 137,396 111,814 (11,692) 237,518
Unallocated income and K EWA R F

expenses
Other income EUA 7,105
Other gains H ez 1,740
Administrative and other TR EMEERS

operating expenses (126,290)
Finance costs BB RS (7,667)
Profit before tax R 5 A 112,406
Income tax expense FrS i (16,142)
Profit for the year F N A 96,264

AEREEERERAR 121 - el
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

5. SEGMENTS INFORMATION (cONTINUED) 5. 9BEH®
Segment revenue and results (Continued) pas Y E S {C D

Integrated Medical

E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Total

—B

TIEES  WANE BELRS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FHETT

Year ended 31 December 2020 HZ=2020612A31H

IEFE

Segment revenue PaN-it Gy 441,703 339,307 6,384 787,394
Gross profit EA 105,418 85,755 2,524 193,697
Impairment losses recognised E 5 FE R IR FE R

on trade receivables KR EE1E - (1,101) = (1,101)
Gain on transfer of property, R - BE R

plant and equipment to B{EN G

finance lease receivables HE A 402 = = 402
Written off of property, W - BE&

plant and equipment Bt 6 (10) (255) - (265)
Selling and distribution costs SHE N SHRK AR - (6,582) (1,895) (8,477)
Segment results DEBELE 105,810 77,817 629 184,256
Unallocated income and RS ACHA R

expenses
Other income E YA 7,588
Other gains and losses H s K e 1E 681
Administrative and other TR EMSERS

operating expenses (96,175)
Finance costs BATS R AN (8,822)
Profit before tax BRTADE 87,528
Income tax expense Frie ik (13,814)
Profit for the year F R A 73,714

i.: |-. 122 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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5.

SEGMENTS INFORMATION (conTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

At 31 December 2021
Assets
Reportable segment

2021512831 H

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 il 15 $ 2} Bl 5E

E-cigarettes
products

ETEER
HK$'000
TER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Integrated
plastic
solutions
—fEe
R R
HK$'000
THET

SBEE B
PHEERERS

Medical
consumable
products

BRH%ER
HK$'000
TER

Unallocated

R B
HK$'000
T

HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

IGIE]

ast
HK$'000
T

assets 153,683 570,159 31,284 591,909 1,347,035
Liabilities aff
Reportable segment AmENDEE
liabilities 140,104 70,356 - 381,787 592,247
Other information Hitg s
Capital expenditure BARFEX 2,058 17,448 - 61,416 80,922
Depreciation e 4,388 38,399 2,121 6,107 51,015
Inventories written-down  7F & - 3,421 3,907 - 7,328
Research and e
development expenses 17,620 13,000 246 - 30,866
Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic ~ consumable
products solutions products  Unallocated Total
—Ebxe
EFEEMR FRAR BEERESD KoBS 4Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHT FAT FAT FHET
At 31 December 2020 72020512 A31H
Assets BE
Reportable segment AmEDEE
assets 114,780 478,984 36,225 533,301 1,163,290
Liabilities =R
Reportable segment AmEoHas
liabilities 102,726 34,812 126 387,398 525,062
Other information HihER
Capital expenditure VNGB 7,791 40,595 23,863 43,931 116,180
Depreciation e 3,623 36,872 1,166 5,450 47111
Inventories written-down 77 & # # - 1,152 6,258 - 7,410
Research and EEFH X
development expenses 11,530 7,457 1,567 - 20,554

AEREEERAERAE 123
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

5. SEGMENTS INFORMATION (conTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

° segment assets include certain property, plant and
equipment, finance lease receivables, inventories and
trade and bills receivables. Other assets are not allocated
to operating segments as these assets are managed on a
group basis; and

° segment liabilities include trade payables and contract
liabilities. Other liabilities are not allocated to operating
segments as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical
location of the Group's property, plant and equipment (“specified
non-current assets”). The geographical location of the specified
non-current assets is based on the physical location of the assets.

Specified non-current assets

PEEHE 2
THEEREE®
MENE D IRIBE DS BEERME :

s NHEEBRBETYE BERR
e EBUBERENR FELH
ZREFEREESEE  HMEE
BARDEEZEREDH  ARFEE
REREEERE K

e NHWEEBRHEZIENFELERN
BE - EMABEHORIRERED
B AZEEEREELEER -

HEER

TR EBAKEYME - BB L&EHE
(EEFRBEE B ENER - 18
EFRRBDEENBEMEIAEENER
BRI ©

IEEHRBEE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Hong Kong B 1,722 4,256
The PRC H 763,119 716,480
764,841 720,736
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

SEGMENTS INFORMATION (cONTINUED) 5. 9BEH®
Geographical information (Continued) hEE R ()
Specified non-current assets (Continued) IEEIETREEE ()
Information about the Group's revenue from external customers is BEAREEIINE = PRGN ER IRE P
presented based on the location of customers. B Z7 -
2021 2020
2021 4F 2020 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Revenue from external customers REIBEFE K=
The United States of America EHE S RE 163,558 173,136
The PRC [ 237,904 194,183
The United Kingdom HE 25,033 32,183
Hong Kong B 49,702 32,346
Netherlands P 555,407 348,968
Japan B 14,247 =
India ENE 13,963 2,425
Germany == 50,120 22
Others Hth 7,754 4,131
1,117,688 787,394
Information about major customers EHEFEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing HEFENRAEPNRZ(EAEBHE
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows: EEEB 0% BT ¢

Integrated Medical
E-cigarettes plastic consumable
products solutions products Total

—B{EE
ETEER MRAR BEEER #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FExT FExT FExT

Year ended 31 December 2021 #Z2021%F12H31H

ILFE
Customer A Group EFEALE 634,271 254 = 634,525
Customer B and its affiliated BFBLHEB AT
companies - 144,904 - 144,904
Customer C and its affiliated BRFCKEBB AT
companies - 118,232 - 118,232
634,271 263,390 - 897,661
Year ended 31 December 2020 & Z 20205128318
IHFE
Customer A Group BPEALE 441,703 3,861 5,464 451,028
Customer B and its affiliated EPEBREBEAR
companies - 107,597 205 107,802
441,703 111,458 5,669 558,830

AEREEERAERRE 125
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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wilk

For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12831HIEFE

6. REVENUE
2021 2020
2021 £F 2020 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT AT
Revenue from contracts with customers &/E B3R 255 15 5FE A
within the scope of HKFRS 15: REBEFEHEE
Sales of e-cigarettes products HEETEEMR 634,271 441,703
Sales of moulds and plastic products HEBARBERBER 481,366 339,307
Sales of medical consumable products  $5%& BB HIED 2,051 6,384
1,117,688 787,394
The revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of BEBMEREEAE 1S RBERNRERF
HKFRS 15 is based on fixed price and recognised at a point in time. SRR R EEEBRAEINE—F
R o
Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance PRFEFENRBRBIRENRZER
obligation for contract with customers
E-cigarettes products, moulds and plastic products and medical BFEER BAREBRGREEERE
consumable products are delivered within a period of less MR EBAE—FNR o LI DR TRE
than one year. In addition, the transaction price allocated to the TEANR BRI TEKXN - BEILEEH
unsatisfied contracts is insignificant and therefore is not disclosed B EERE 15 AT T AT IHKE o
as permitted in HKFRS 15.
7. OTHER INCOME Rtk A
2021 2020
20214 2020 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&xT FHET
Bank interest income RITF BUMA 489 473
Finance lease interest income BEEEN S WA 305 102
Government grants (Note) RIS+ 8k (ML) 1,788 2,302
Management service income EERBWA 150 145
Rental and utilities recharge income e RKEBRBERA 729 Qb4
Sales of scrap materials RERIHE 2,481 1,690
Sundry income FETEUA 1,163 1,912
7,105 7,588
Note: Hiat -
Included in the amount is the amortisation of government grant of HK$1,388,000 FefEeRallEYE  MERXBEEBENK
(2020: HK$315,000) in relation to the acquisition of property, plant and T 8 Bk B §5 1,388,000 7% JT(2020 % : 315,000
equipment. JT) e
'||: |-. 126 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HtEREGIR
2021 2020
2021 £F 2020 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Exchange gain/(loss), net b 5 g (518 ) )F 58 872 (1,050)
Fair value gains on financial assets BANBEFABENECRIEE
at FVTPL (Note) NAEWRER(AE) 868 1,631
Written off of property, M - B KRR
plant and equipment (442) (165)
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - HER&EER
plant and equipment (236) -
Gain on transfer of property, plantand ~ ER¥E « EMREZEUK
equipment to finance lease receivables B EMH S IEI S - 402
1,062 818
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, fair value gain recognised Kiat : REZE2021F12A31BIEFE > JELEH
in profit or loss for unlisted investments - key management insurance KE-FE2EBABRREOINIBEER
contracts amounted to HK$868,000 (2020: HK$435,000). B A ft 1B W 2 4888 73 868,000 7 7T(2020

£ 1 435000 87T) °

During the year ended 31 December 2020, fair value gain recognised in REZE2020F12A3MBLLEFE - KI5
profit or loss for derivatives not designated as hedging instruments - EAHTPTANITET A - XX EKIEH
Cross Currency Swap (“CCS”") amounted to HK$1,196,000. ([ZX Etia 8 ) N8R R A R EW

#5751,196,0008 7T °

FINANCE COSTS 9. MBEE
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest on interest-bearing borrowings  &HE &K FI.E 6,864 6,976
Interest on payables for construction FENERIEFIENFE
in progress 414 698
Interest on lease liabilities HEARENES 389 1,148
7,667 8,822
AEREEZRERAA 127 [l
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10. BRIRAIEF
Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging: BRI R A TR T3 5 I8 8=
2021 2020
20214 2020 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Staff costs, including BTIRA
directors’ emoluments (BEEEMS)
Employee benefits expenses EERAMMAX 159,142 104,679
Discretionary bonus BB TE4L 30,761 21,095
Contributions to defined M) € B8 FUR R AT B 5K
contribution retirement schemes 14,055 5,715
Share-based payment expense & 17 B < Ak AN 436 1,761
204,394 133,250
Other items Hitig g
Cost of inventories HFEKA 863,830 593,697
Auditor’s remuneration 1% £ B 5 A 1,086 1,122
Depreciation (charged to “cost of goods ¥ & (;t Al M EE KA |
sold” and "administrative and other MIITB R EAb L & RS
operating expenses”, as appropriate) (@A )) 51,015 47111
Write-down of inventories FEMBGIAIEm@REERA]D)
(charged to “cost of goods sold") 7,328 7,410
Short-term lease payments oA E A
(charged to “administrative and (Bt ATITH R
other operating expenses”) HihgemY ) 14 49
Share-based payment expenses to 1@5\9\\5’]/\ B mE
eligible participants other il Sl E AN
than employees 67 286
Research and development expenses A 30,866 20,554
'||£ |-, 128 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEE'S

EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors’ remuneration

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
n O Hil 5 3R 2= Ml 5
HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

The aggregate amounts of remuneration received or

receivable by the directors of the Company (the “Directors”)

are set out below.

Year ended 31 December 2021

B &Y 3
(a) EEHM

ARAREE(TEE )M E RS

Mz @smasmT -

. FREF ERATERRILIRF

BZE20215F 12831 BLLEE

Contributions

to defined Share-based
Directors’ Salaries and Discretionary contribution payment
fees  allowances bonus plans expenses Total
ERMN g
Bzt HeREM  BEEA  HEMR  Mess #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT TR TR
Executive directors ' HITEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRI - 5,102 15,263 18 9 20,392
Chan Yin Yan 378 - 2,691 3,256 18 91 6,056
Poon Po Han Lisa EER - 2,243 1,832 18 91 4,184
Independent non-executive BV IH7TEE?
directors?
Chan Bing Kai B R 180 - - - 7 187
Hung Chun Leung HER 180 - - - 7 187
Ng Chi Wai RER 180 - - - = 180
540 10,036 20,351 54 205 31,186
AEEEERBERRE 129
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

11.

130

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEE'S ". EREF BHERTEREIF

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2020

MavEE =
(a) EEHM )
HE202012 A31 BILEE

Directors’  Salaries and
fees  allowances

£ Helkam
HK$000  HK$O000

Contributions
to defined  Share-based

Discretionary  contribution payment
bonus plans expenses Total
ERMHEHR Kin

RBTEAL S BeRA Mt
HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000

AL AL TAEL TAEL TEL TEL
Executive directors ' HTEZF
Chan Tsan Lam BRIZM = 4457 14311 18 39 18,825
Chan Yin Yan BRFER = 2,466 2,661 18 389 5,534
Poon Po Han Lisa EER = 1,950 1,376 18 389 3,733
Independent BUHHITEE?
non-executive directors?
Chan Bing Kai BR R 180 = = = 31 211
Hung Chun Leung HER 180 = = = 31 211
Ng Chi Wai REE 180 = = = = 180
540 8,873 18,348 54 879 28,694

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is also the chief executive officer of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above included
those for services rendered by him as the chief executive
officer.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of these
Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was
no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEE’'S
EMOLUMENTS (CoNTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of
directors

There were no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the Directors or their controlled companies entered
into or subsisted during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Saved as disclosed in Note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company, or an entity connected with the director, had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the year or at any time during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

Discretionary bonus

Executive directors of the Company are entitled to bonus
payment which are discretionary and determined based on
the Group's performance.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

n O Hil 5 3R 2= Ml 5
HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

M. EREE BEERTERRIF
MaEHE =

12.

(b)

(c)

(d)

LEEAZBAZER - BEX
REMRR S

H E20214F K2020512 8318 1k
FE BEUNEARAREZTRFEEN
ERARAIBATIRNFEZE
HER BERSREMRS -

EERRE  ZHREHNETH
EX#ER

BRIEAMBHREMANBAEESE
I % 7 N/NC Y O s = NN
EENHEZEETEEHNERBNE
FTEEIEEEEEAEEEER
SEEBBEANEMRS - T8
NEXRAFESHE2021F R
2020912 A 31 B IFF E & I b5
BFE

o

BB TEAL

AARATESFARESRRE LR
BASBERRETNICAFA

IgEsFMAL
HZE 20219 K% 202012 A31 HILFE

R

RRFMALTHODONAT

Number of individuals

AB

Directors and chief executive EENERATE 3
Non-director FEE 2 2
5 D

AEREEZRER AR
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

12.

132

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (coNTINUED) 12.

Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining two (2020:
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

TEEEFMALE
NEFHBWZ (2020 4F - HE)RIEEE
MIEARRREBTBRAEBZZEHEEYZ
HENFEBAT

2021 2020

20214 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&T T

Salaries and allowances e MoERL 2,249 3,266

Discretionary bonus BIBIEAL 3,079 200
Contributions to defined TE R RRET B 3K

contribution plans 18 36

Share-based payment expenses & 17 B < Ak AN 82 bt

5,428 3,546

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

WHARRBEZEHFMNFUATHEN R
SEREEAZMT :

2020

2020 4F

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 & 7T E 1,500,000 87T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& T E 2,000,0008 7T = 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T = 2,500,000/ 1 =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T E 3,000,000/ 7 1 =
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of these highest paid
non-director individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There was no
arrangement under which any of these highest paid non-director
individuals waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FiSMBAX
2021 2020
2021 2020 &
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BdaE F#ET AT
Current tax BREA T 18
Hong Kong Profits Tax BABNEH
Current year KEE 6,351 4,658
(Over)/under provision in prior year BAFERE
(EB%E) TR (1,214) 1,256
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EFTSH
Current year AEE 15,052 11,389
Under/(aver) provision in prior year BEFETR
(FBFR) B fe 1 (4,962)
20,190 12,341
Deferred tax ELERIE
Changes in temporary differences TR ETEEE (5,145) 863
Utilisation of tax losses recognised BERHRIEEEZEA 1,097 610
28 (4,048) 1,473
Income tax expense for the year FRMEHBEX 16,142 13,814

The Group's entities established in the British Virgin Islands (the
“BVI") are exempted from income tax.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the assessable
profits of a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary of the Group
(as elected by the management of the Group) is subject to the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime that the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits will be taxed at 8.25% (the "graduated tax
rate”), and assessable profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5% (the “standard tax rate”). The Hong Kong Profits Tax of other
Group's entities which established in Hong Kong and Cayman
Islands is calculated at the standard tax rate of 16.5% of their
respective estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020.

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax at a statutory rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

REBRLES([RBELES )KL
AEBEBERPIAEH

BHZE2021F KX 2020F 12 A31 BILFE -
AEBREBEMA AN E AR (AASE
EERER ) WERRENBIZRAEHM
WHNF - BB 2B BB TR R 5
82N WR([REFE]) M2EEB
TCUA E R FE R B E A 812 16.5% R (12
EHREK]) AEBMEMNEERFAZHS
PR B BE ) BB TS TR E 2 2021 F
202012 A3 BILEEEESBHETE
RERFEY16.5% FIZETRTHE -

HE2021F K%2020F12 A31 BILFE
AEBRF R EIEAEIE25% KEE
TR BN P B S PTSH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

FRrS BT 2

FATRIE S Al AR S W R BB AR

tax per the consolidated income statement as follows:

FEERNT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THT
Profit before tax B 5 A& 112,406 87,528
Income tax at applicable tax rate HEARERFENMEN 23,319 20,084
Effect on graduated tax rate RERENZE (165) (165)
Non-deductible expenses NAIBIF 1,851 1,768
Additional deduction allowance for TS A AN RE SN
research and development costs (note)  JEZREL(#/7E) (7,536) (3,800)
Tax exempt revenue ey (173) (337)
Tax concession PR R (30) (20)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ RIERTIAEE 2 HIBFE 317 -
Utilisation of tax losses previously AR BRI IEEE
not recognised (227)
Others HAtb (1) (10)
Over provision in prior year BEFEHERERE (1,213) (3,7006)
Income tax expense for the year FRFEBIFY 16,142 13,814

The applicable tax rate is the weighted average of tax rates
prevailing in the territories in which the Group's entities operate.

Note:

The State Taxation Administration of the PRC announced in September 2018
that enterprises engaging in research and development activities would
be entitled to claim at maximum 175% of their research and development
expenses as Super Deduction. The Super Deduction is extended for three years
to 31 December 2023. An Executive Meeting of PRC's State Council decided
that, beginning 1 January 2021, the Super Deduction will be increased for
manufacturing enterprises from 75% to 100%.

The directors of the Group consider the eligibility of the PRC subsidiaries and
recognise the additional tax deduction for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

-
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ERAREREARENEREEMERIR
TTHYINAEF TR

Bt

FEBERRBEBN2018FE) A - EWET
BN EEMIEEREEANSTS175%H BBAT
B BREIEER=F%2023F12A31H1E - #F
BB e— RSB TIEE@RTEB2021F1 /18
#e - BB AS R 75%IE NZE100% ©

AEEEZCZEEFRAMBARREHABRILE
REZE2021F %2020912 831 B L FEREEIN
B0 o



14. DIVIDENDS

15.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

14. BRR

2021 2020
2021 £F 2020 &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT AT
Final dividend in respect of 2020 of 2020 F ARHAR E R T BAR
HK1.5 cents per ordinary share 1580020194 « 1.58M)
(2019: HK1.5 cents) 9,300 9,300
Not recognised final dividend - RERHOARIRE —NEE
Final dividend declared after the BEXRAPRSIRANARIKRE
balance sheet date of HK2.0 cents per &R E A% 2.0 7B
ordinary share (2020: HK1.5 cents) (2020 4F : 1.58M)(KaE)
(Note) 12,400 9,300
Note: At a meeting held on 29 March 2022, the Directors recommended the Kiat - FE2022F 3298 BITHEH L EFE

payment of a final dividend of HK2.0 cents (2020: HK1.5 cents) per
ordinary share totalling HK$12,400,000 (2020: HK$9,300,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2021. The proposed dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 will be accounted for as an appropriation
of reserves in the year ending 31 December 2022 if it is approved at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. The proposed final dividend
has not been recognised as dividend payables in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021.

HERMNEE2021F12A831BLEFENK
HEREEREBAR20EW2020F - 1.5
) - #8 5H12,400,000% JT(20204F -
9,300,000/8C) - R EERRBFRE
RS E BE2021F12ANBULEEE
MEFBREBREZ2022F12A83181E
FENADEFEENA IR - B2EAHR
B AR 202112 A 31 BN A Bk
NERERBEMBEE -

EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BiREF

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following
data:

ARRHEBEANEBEERERLEERRTY
WA SIEE -

2021 2020
2021 2020 £
HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&T FET

Earnings for the purpose of calculating — Btat B & A E AR #5E & F

basic and diluted earnings per share: B -
Profit for the year attributable to RARE=EFE ALY
equity holders of the Company F A |

96,264 73,714

AEREEERAER2E 135
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

15.

136

EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 15. BB @
‘000 ‘000
T & TFh&
Number of shares: RI7EE -
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ Ftat EEARERZ T
shares for the purpose of calculating T EAR NNAE 8L
basic earnings per share 620,000 620,000
Effect of dilutive potential BEEETBERTE
ordinary shares:
— Share options of the Company — NN EHE A 5,405 396
Weighted average number of ordinary  Ftat & &S &R
shares for the purpose of calculating AR INREF 9 E
diluted earnings per share 625,405 620,396
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FRRERZF B 15.53 11.89
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) AR EEZF| B1L) 15.39 11.88

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, diluted earnings
per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding by the assumption of the
conversion of all potential dilutive shares arising from the vested
share options granted by the Company. The computation of diluted
earnings per share does not assume the exercise of the unvested
share options granted by the Company because the adjusted
exercise price of those share options was higher than the average
market price of the Company's shares.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021

HE2021FR2020F 12 A3MHILEFE -
EREERFNEARRBRENERBE
MRAEFTE £ FT A B EE SR M EIRNE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

16. SUBSIDIARIES 16. B AT
Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as RIRERNMBARFBLT
follows:

Place of Date of Particulars of ~ Attributable equity interest
incorporation/ incorporation/ paid up capital/ held by the Company
establishment establishment  registered capital ~ AAFRHMEEES  Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary HMAL/ HMmL/ Hrex/ 2021 VPl place of operation
WEAR R R Rk EEAFE 20215 200F EEETIEESE
Directly held by the Company
AR AIEERE
Tian Chang Investments Limited The BVI 20 April 2017 US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding/
Hong Kong
Tian Chang Investments KBRETEE  2017FLA208 157 100% 100% REER/ BB
Limited
Sun Leader Holdings Limited The BVI 20 April 2017 US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding/
Hong Kong
Sun Leader Holdings Limited EBRAHE  017%4A 08 1%7L 100% 100% REER/BE
Indirectly held by the Company
AREEERE
Tian Chang Holdings Limited Hong Kong 16 May 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding/
Hong Kong
ARERERAR EE 2006557168 100007 100% 100% RERR/ B
Tian Chang Industrial Limited Hong Kong 13 June 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of e-cigarettes
products and providing
integrated plastic
solutions/Hong Kong
AREZARAA &% 2006F6A138 100007 100% 100% HESFEEMRRE—E#
LABRARR/ TR
AREE(RINBRAT The PRCU 26 September 2006 HK$100,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales
Tian Chang Industrial of e-cigarettes products
(Shenzhen) Limited* and providing integrated
plastics solutions/The PRC
AREZ(RY)ARAR REO 2006F9A 268 100,000,000/ 100% 100% SERHEETEEMR
RE—-BITBER
R/ HE
AEREEERAERAE 137 | :j[
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

HE2021F12831HIEFE

16. SUBSIDIARIES (conTINUED)

Place of Date of
incorporation/ incorporation/
establishment establishment

Name of subsidiary EauAe AL,/
WEARERE BRIt KA
BEMMAREZBRAA The PRCI1 22 March 2011
Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial

Company Limited*
BEMTARESERAT R 2011E38228
Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited Hong Kong 27 September 2000
FHERAEEERAR 5 2000597278
MHEEA ORI BRAF The PRI 17 June 2011
Sun Leader Mould Industrial

(Shenzhen) Limited*
MHERACRINBRAT RE O 20116 A17H
FHERAEE (BN ERAR The PRI 27 June 2011
Sun Leader Mould Industrial

(Huizhou) Limited*
THERREL(EMERAA mE 2011F6 5278
Tian Hong New Materials Hong Kong 10 October 2019

Technology Limited
REFITHRRARAR BE  019F108108
RETHRRE (EM) BR AR The PRCY® 4 December 2019
Tian Hao New Materials

Technology Limited*
REFHERE(EMNERAA RE 2019F 12548

16.

Particulars of
paid up capital/
registered capital
BRER/
EfEAFE

RMB50,000,000

AR 50,000,0007T

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000

HK$56,000,000

56,000,000 87T

HK$80,000,000

80,000,000/ 7

HK$10,000

10,00077T

HK$5,000,000

5,000,000 7

EBAT®

Attributable equity interest
held by the Company
PONGEEET] Y

2021 2020
20204

2021 %
100%

Principal activities/

place of operation

TRERKenY

100% Manufacturing and sales
of e-cigarettes products,
medical consumable
products and providing
integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC

RERHESTEER
BRRRmRRE B
it YEYAL

Providing integrated plastic
solutions/Hong Kong

00% RE-BUIBRRAAR/
i

Providing integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC

100% 100%

100% 100%

100%

100% 100%

100% 100% RE-BILIBERAE/
i

Providing integrated plastic
solutions/The PRC

100% 100%

00% RE-BILIZRRAE/
B

Sales of medical consumable

100%
100% 100%
products and polyester

fibre ("PET’) products/
Hong Kong
ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁm&m%ﬁﬁ
(TPET)ESR/B%
Manufacturing and sales of
PET products/The PRC

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100% BERBEEPITER,/TE

English translation for identification purposes only.

) Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

138

Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC.

Limited liability company registered in the PRC.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (coNTINUED)

Notes:

a)

The above items of property, plant and equipment (except for
construction in progress) are depreciated on a straight-line basis after
taking into account the residual values over their estimated useful lives
as follows:

Right-of-use assets

EREEE

Buildings

75

Leasehold improvements

HEMEERE

Furniture and fixtures 5 years
BRLRETEE 54
Machinery and equipment 5-10years
B e 521 5E 104
Motor vehicles 3years
aE 3
Computer 5-10years
) 5104

Certain buildings, right-of-use assets and machineries and equipments
are pledged as collateral to the Group's interest-bearing borrowings with
aggregate net carrying amount of approximately HK$125,980,000.

Impairment assessment

During the year ended 31 December 2021, as there was a loss arising
from the medical consumable products segment due to the keen
competition of disposable face masks market, the management of the
Group concluded there was indication for impairment and conducted
impairment assessment on certain machineries and equipments with
carrying amounts HK$13,329,000. The recoverable amount of these
certain machineries and equipments, within the medical consumable
products segment, are estimated individually.

The recoverable amounts of the machineries and equipments have been
determined based on their fair value less costs of disposal using sales
comparison approach. The fair value is based on the recent transaction
prices for similar machineries and equipments adjusted for difference
between the comparable assets and the valuated assets. The fair value
measurement is categorised into Level 3 fair value hierarchy. Based on
the valuation prepared by an external independent professional valuer,
Roma Appraisals Limited, the relevant assets were impaired to their
recoverable amount of HK$5,440,000, which is their carrying values at
year end and the impairment of HK$7,889,000 has been recognised in
profit or loss during the year.

17.

n O Hil 5 3R 2= Ml 5
HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

VE - BERRME=

Kt

a)

L mERERERE (EETRER
SR RFREER - BREMGFAIERSF
HRERRTERIIMT

Shorter of useful lives or over the unexpired term of lease
AT {6 A EAURE sl R B B RO 7 & AR

50 years or over the lease term, as appropriate

50 F s A _EEVTEEHARR (AR 1B AL E )

20 years or over the lease term, as appropriate

20F A EMEEHRRORIERHE)

ETEF FABEENRESERR
HEEREAIAERERFEARY
125,980,000 BT AET BERE IR ©

AERH

REBZE2021F12A3NBLEFEE - ARK
BENENSMHBAORFENBEERE
MAOHEE AEEEEELABATER
BEREIHREEA13,329,0008 THE

FRERSBETRETE - ZZBEH
RS IS KR T I % R 1E
FES T

BERRBOTRESEEEREARE

L

/mtb'iﬁiiéﬁﬁ%‘ittff?zm ARE

ERBEUMSRBIOIPENREEARARTA
LEERFEEEEZEANZELE - AAER
ERERFIRAAEBEER - BIBINEBL
BEGEMESERFLEERAGRR 2
HERS  AEEEFAREEE/NTKE
SHEOREZE 5440000087 FABEBZ
CHERBHEENENERRED ER
R57,889,000 7T ©

AEREEZRER AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 18. RAREHAREHEMEE
2021 2020
20214 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET AT
Unlisted investments - key management FF FMi%E - BERRBED
insurance contracts 30,454 29,586
The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is TEERERRAONANEBENZ
determined by reference to the respective surrender cash value of EREPRERE A LHBABERR
each insurance contract at the end of the reporting period, which is BeEBTF DTEENMBA@ERE
primarily based on the performance of the underlying investment HENKRRUARRBHEEREE
portfolio together with the guaranteed minimum returns, ranging FBENF2%E3.9% 2 (2020 F -
from 2% to 3.9% per annum (2020: ranging from 2% to 3.9% per FEINTF2%F3.9%26) -
annum).
The movement of the key management insurance contracts is FTETEERBEANES TN
analysed as follows: ™
2021 2020
20215 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
At the beginning of the reporting period R ¥R ER¥] 29,586 28,419
Additions NE = 732
Fair value changes recognised
in profit or loss REERRN AL BEEE 868 435
At the end of the reporting period REREHR 30,454 29,586
The key management insurance contracts are pledged FTEZEEBEERREHNEAELER
as collateral for the Group's interest-bearing borrowings EAAREBEE £420537,000/8 T
amounting to approximately, in aggregate, HK$20,537,000 (2020: (2020 4F - 15,848,000% 7r ) Ky &F B
HK$15,848,000). fERA IR o

-
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19. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

The finance lease receivables are set out below:

Lease payments

19. BEkMBEHEEREA

FEl R E HES ARSI T

Present value of
lease payments

HEMNLRK HESHBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 % 20204 2021 F 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHB T FET THET T
Finance lease receivables Bl EEHERIE
comprise: B -
Within one year —F R 2,730 2,730 2,425 2,425
In the second year £ 1,820 2,730 1,617 2,425
In the third year E=F 1,820 = 1,617
Gross investment in the lease  THER A 4258 4,550 7,280 4,042 6,467
Less: unearned finance income & : ABREVEA AU A (508) (813) N/A N/A
Present value of minimum EUWHERE
lease payment receivables NE3RE 4,042 6,467 4,042 6,467
Analysed as: DA
Current Mk 2,425 2,425 2,425 2,425
Non-current JEmED 1,617 4,042 1,617 4,042
4,042 6,467 4,042 6,467

Interest rates implicit in the above finance lease is 4.03% per
annum (2020: 4.03%). Finance lease receivables are denominated
in USS.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered
into a lease agreement with a third party whereas the Group
leased out its machineries with carrying values amounted to
approximately HK$7,344,000 for a term of three years. The sum of
lease payments is fixed and approximates the carrying values of
the leased assets.

Finance lease receivables are secured over the plant and
machinery leased. The Group is not permitted to sell or repledge
the collateral in the absence of default by the lessee.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 35(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

L BERHENE SRR AT FEL03%
(2020 4F : 4.03%) - FEWFE R E KB
EILHE -

HE20FENANBIEEE AEH
HME=HFIVHERE  BEZHBEAE
B EIRE(E A A 7,344,000 7 7T A #
W MA=F HEMNKEHABTS
HMHOEMAEEERMEES -

MEHERUGKRIBEARENRE K#2R1E
HHR - REEBNFEARAL BEHNE
MTHESEEERR -

MEFGEFBTHNGEE P ERRME
35(b) °
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INVENTORIES 20. &8
2021 2020
2021 5§ 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Raw materials Ea 72,050 44,203
Work-in-progress R m 28,625 19,047
Finished goods X 0 71,208 35,937
171,883 99,187
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 21. BHREMEBEWKRIE
2021 2020
2021 5§ 2020 4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B ot FE T FHET
Trade receivables - contracts BEEWREB-ZEFEY
with customers
From third parties JEWE=7 21(a) 218,452 151,227
Loss allowance for credit losses EEEERE 35(b) (6,266) (5,893)
21(b) 212,186 145,334
Bills receivables P R 1% 21(c) - 2,502
Other receivables H i s E
Deposits e 212 146
Prepayment for insurance REQTENFIB 2,993 3,058
Prepayment for utilities IKEBETBENFHKIE 4,546 7,666
Other receivables H b U FRIR 4,980 1,954
Value-added tax receivables JE IS (B R X 26,081 26,907
Prepaid expenses and other deposits AR RH iR 1,348 1,261
40,160 40,992
252,346 188,828

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 21. HERAEMEBIRE =
21(a) Trade receivables from third parties 210) REEFE=FWE Z EWFIE
The Group grants credit period up to 90 days to its AEERHAZRZERAERZRPED
customers upon the issuance of invoices. &m0 HMEER -
21(b) The aging of trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by 21(b) HEZRHE D WE FEWFKIEFD
invoice date is as follows: FrIEBEEE) NIRRT -
2021 2020
20214 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30HR 147,904 119,363
31 to 60 days 312 60H 40,253 10,063
61 to 90 days 612 90H 16,368 7,379
91 to 180 days 912180 H 7,661 8,330
Over 180 days 180 B £ - 199
212,186 145,334
At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of the R EER - B S EEIA(E 0k
trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by due date is as B IEEE) R BB B 2R DT a0
follows: ™

2020
20214 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Not past due fe R 25 145,829 102,209
Past due; EEIE]
Within 30 days 30HA 63,143 27,153
31 to 60 days 312 60H 945 9,652
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,871 6,126
91 to 180 days 912180 H 398 2
Over 180 days 180 HIA £ - 192
66,357 43,125
212,186 145,334
For balances past due over 90 days, the Group has B EA0 B LRI E - A&
reasonable information to support the amounts are fully EEBEENIFBEZE2EITE
recovered. gl qEI

AEEEERBERAE 145
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
21(a) Trade receivables from third parties (Continued)

At 31 December 2021, amount of approximately
HK$4,653,000 (2020: HK$2,680,000) included in the trade
receivables were in connection with factoring arrangements.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in Note 35(b) to the consolidated
financial statements.

21(b) Bills receivables

There were no bills receivables outstanding as at 31
December 2021.

At 31 December 2020, the bills receivables were interest-
free, guaranteed by banks in the PRC and have maturities of
less than six months.

RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH

Restricted bank balance

As at 31 December 2021, bank balance placed in savings account
amounted to approximately HK$7,780,000 (approximately
RMB6,365,000) (2020: Nil) were restricted, which is equivalent to
the amount owed to the contractor as there was a legal dispute
between a contractor and its sub-contractor for the construction
of factories completed in previous years. As a result of this legal
dispute, the People's Government of Huizhou City issued an
injunction order to the Group to withhold the amount owed to the
contractor until the dispute has been resolved. The legal dispute is
still ongoing at the date of issuance of these consolidated financial
statements. The amount will be released by the order of the
People’'s Government of Huizhou City. The restricted bank balance
carry market interest rate at 0.3% (2020: Nil) per annum for the
year.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021
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BOREMBUHRIE o)
210) REFE=FWNE S ERFE %)

A2021F12 A31H © 494,653,000
BIT(20204F © 2,680,000 T )M 8
SR RIERIRIBLHE AR o

B 5 Ko Ho A & WOk IR B9 R (B FT 5 5
BRI SR A M ERER M FE 35(b) ©

21(b) B RE

HE221F12A831B 1L EKRE
BIEWERE

MN2020E12 8318 BWEE®
B AP EMRTERERAEAR
REIE -

ZMHABITRHRSE STRBRR
&

ZREBITER

MR2021F12A31H AR ABmHEHE
DEERRNBTFERTINREEZSHFE
ERAG  FRREFPOMNBITAS S
#97,780,000 7% JT(#9 A R # 6,365,000 7T)
(2020 F - F)ZBRH| - ZKBHEERER
EBEZHIE - ARZAEMYD - BINT
ARBMAEBEBAEGSEFZBER
AIMBEARBEZERFIE - HEZERE
B mREREMH 2B - AR IEETT
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B - ZRBHRITESNTSERNRES
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

22. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE/BANK BALANCES AND 22. SRFISEIT#Ees SHITHRRR

CASH (CONTINUED) - AC))

Bank balances and cash RITHEBRES

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from R 17 45 5% ) T-0.00% £ 0.385% (2020
0.00% to 0.385% (2020: 0.00% to 0.385%). F - 0.00% F 0.385%) TG FIRET B o
The carrying amounts of bank and cash balances are denominated RITRBEeHENRESEUTIEST
in the following currencies: & :

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T T
HK$ BT 27,396 17,000
uss ETT 49,392 75,957
RMB AR 37,740 24,009
EUR BL T 139 =
114,667 116,966

Details of impairment assessment of restricted bank balance PR HIERTT A B R IR T AR R B R 7

and bank balances are set out in Note 35(b) to the consolidated EH RS SRR FE35() ©

financial statements.

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. EHRHEMERSRIEA
2021 2020
2021 2020 4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7E FE T THTT
Trade payables B EMARE
To third parties ENE=7F 23(a) 200,684 130,062
Other payables Hfth FE S FRIE
Contract liabilities BHAaE 23(b) 9,776 7,602
Salaries and bonus payable FES & RIEAT 50,847 39,765
Accurals and other creditors JEETE A K H A R BRI 26,826 24,873
87,449 72,240
288,133 202,302
AEREEZRERAA 147 [l
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (cONTINUED) 23. HERRMEARE @
a) At the end of the reporting period, the aging analysis of the a) RI|EHR REZAHIH>NE
trade payables based on invoice date is as follows: SEMNFIERRESITAT
2021 2020
20214 2020F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT
Within 30 days 30BN 67,492 65,611
31 to 60 days 312 60H 92,925 51,851
61 to 90 days 61290H 20,183 6,652
Over 90 days 90 H A E 20,084 5,948
200,684 130,062
The credit period on trade payables is up to 90 days. B S RENFIERNEERTEBIB0A -
b) Contract liabilities b) BHERE
The movements (excluding those arising from increases and FAREEAYBRELENE 155
decreases both occurred within the same year) of contract NEEEYHABREH(TEERTNR
liabilities with customers within HKFRS 15 during the year IR FTEERNES) T ¢

are as follows:

2021 2020

20214 2020

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#& T T

At the beginning of RS AR Y]

the reporting period 7,602 10,767
Recognised as revenue R AW (7,602) (10,767)

Receipt in advance AR 9,776 7,602

At the end of the reporting period ~ RA¥REHIER 9,776 7,602

24. PAYABLES FOR CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 24, BNERIEREA

2021 2020

20214 2020 5

HK$'000 HK$'000

FH&T FHT

Current portion mEhE S 20,168 24,609
Non-current portion IERBNE D 7,309 1,992
27,477 26,601

i.i |-. 148 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

24. PAYABLES FOR CONSTRUCTION IN PROGRESS 24.

25,

(CONTINUED)

Payables for construction in progress represent the amounts
payable to the constructors in respect of the construction of the
production plants located in the PRC which the payment terms
are unsecured, interest-free and repayable from one to four years
since its inception. The amount to a constructor represents the
present value of the payable amounts at effective interest rate of
4.75% at 31 December 2021 (2020: 4.75%). At 31 December 2021,
the amount of HK$414,000 (2020: HK$698,000) represents the
imputed interest.

n O Hil 5 3R 2= Ml 5
HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

BAERIERE =

ENERTRRAERNPEER %25_
R FETBE T A BRIFIE - ATy
B REBEAHRBERR — im¢7\1
BiE- N2021512831H —REE
R FIBIEEMNRENRBERER X
4.75% (20204 : 4.75%) 5118 720214
12831 H © ©58414,0008 JT(2020 % -
698,00087T) BIEFTFIE °

INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 25. AHRER
2021 2020
20214 2020 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
F& T T
Secured borrowings: BHERER 235,281 229,998
The carrying amounts of the secured WA BIREKEBER
borrowings that do not contain 2 BRI EREEE
a repayable on demand clause are BIETYRHEEE -
repayable:
Within one year —FR 17,406 18,910
In the second year E_F 12,096 17,324
In the third to fifth year E=FRF 7,182 19,415
36,684 55,649
The carrying amounts of the secured BB BEREREBENRZ
borrowings that contain a repayable FEAEZRAE
on demand clause (shown under (RRBEEIR)
current liabilities) but repayable: AR T AR EEE
Within one year —FR 173,794 145,596
In the second year F_F 9,690 10,253
In the third to fifth year E=ZRF 15,113 18,500
198,597 174,349
235,281 229,998
Less: Amounts due within one year REAREIRZ
shown under current liabilities —FRNEEERE (216,003) (193,259)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities RIEREIB &R &5 19,278 36,739

The secured borrowings from banks and a financial institution
are wholly repayable within seven years since its inception. At 31
December 2021, the secured borrowings carried weighted average
effective interest rate of approximately 2.73% (2020: 3.34%) per
annum.

RERTREMEENERIFERESR
IRBETEFAEEER - KR2021F12 8
31 8 - BEBEFIENEFLHERFF=
#92.73% (2020 4F : 3.34%)aT B °

AEREEZRER AR
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INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS (cONTINUED)

At 31 December 2021, the borrowings are secured by:

(i) certain buildings and right-of-use assets in respect of
the prepaid land lease payments with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$279,435,000 (2020:
HK$277,297,000);

(i)  key management insurance contracts with fair value of
approximately HK$30,454,000 (2020: HK$29,586,000), as set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements;

(iii)  trade receivables in connection with factoring arrangement
of approximately HK$4,653,000 (2020: HK$2,680,000), as set
out in Note 21(b) to the consolidated financial statements;

(iv) certain machinery and equipment with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$61,513,000 (2020:
HK$67,337,000);

(v)  guarantee granted by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region under the Small-Medium
Enterprise Loan Guarantee Scheme — For Working Capital
Loans; and

(vi)  corporate guarantees issued by the Company.

DEFERRED INCOME

At 31 December 2021, the Group recognised deferred income on
government grants amounting to approximately HK$13,837,000
(2020: HK$10,286,000) which are used for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment. These grants are to be realised to income in
profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets. Included
in the deferred income on government grants, approximately
HK$12,276,000 (2020: HK$9,222,000) represented the income that
is not expected to be realised to profit or loss within 12 months
subsequent to the end of the reporting period and therefore is
presented under non-current liabilities.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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26.

AFRER@

R2021F12 8318 ERTIHATSEIE
IR

(i) BREEFES £ 427943500074 T
(2020 : 277,297,000, 7T )& T
BFERABEMN RS REHE
FRAEEE :

(i) A S0 1B #930,454,000 78 TT(2020 4F -
29,586,000,F7L )£ EERABRR
BHNERE BFEIRERMTE 18 FTEL) ¢

(i) #94,653,0007%8 JT(20204F - 2,680,000
Br)BEREBLZEBEBENE SER
KB (4R A B R &KL 21(b) AT
)

(ivi BREFE S 461,513,000/ 7T
(20204 - 67,337,000% 7T ) &= T
AR K 3R A

(v FERNTHERBMARES DD
XERERABREHORDESE
RIER R

(v)  EARARHAKRAER

i BE Uy &2

M2021F12 8318 AEBEEABRITH
Bl #9 I 1T IR 25 49 /313,837,000 78 JT.(2020
F 110,286,000 C)  FARUEEY % -
WE R o ZEMANKREEEENT
FAFHNER BB - REFTHEE
FEUW S 0 4912,276,00078 J5(2020 F -
9,222,000;8 T )ETEB T8RN M EHRE
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27. LEASE LIABILITIES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

27. HEA®R®

Prepaid Machinery
land lease and Leased
payments equipment properties Total

FEfT L

HERE HEHRRE HEWE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FTHxT FTHxT FHxT

Right-of-use assets FRAEEE(BEYWE -

(included in the property, WERRE)(Hit17)

plant and equipment)

(Note 17)

Reconciliation of carrying IREBEZHE-E2

amount - year ended 202012 831H

31 December 2020 IEFEE
At 1 January 2020 ®20206F 1818 42,840 70,921 3,102 116,863
Additions NE - - 1,762 1,762
Transfers B = (9,599) = (9,599)
Depreciation e (1,029) (7,564) (1,662) (10,255)
Modifications [0 - - (1,159) (1,159)
Exchange differences fEHZRR 2,467 3,269 10 5,746
At 31 December 2020 7202012 A31H 44,278 57,027 2,053 103,358
Reconciliation of carrying RHEZHE-8Z

amount - year ended 2021%12H31H

31 December 2021 IEEE

At 1 January 2021 7R2021F1H1H 44,278 57,027 2,053 103,358
Additions RNE = = 486 486
Transfers B = (6,180) = (6,180)
Depreciation e (1,101) (7,273) (1,433) (9,807)
Exchange differences fEHZR8 1,367 1,595 3 2,965
At 31 December 2021 R2021%F12A318 44,544 45,169 1,109 90,822
At 31 December 2021 7A2021F12831H

Cost AR 55,826 63,894 3,929 123,649
Accumulated depreciation ZEHTE (11,282) (18,725) (2,820) (32,827)
44,544 45,169 1,109 90,822

At 31 December 2020 72020512831 H

Cost BN 54,136 70,851 3,672 128,659
Accumulated depreciation 2FHE (9,858) (13,824) (1,619) (25,301)

44,278 57,027 2,053 103,358

AREEERERART 151
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

27. LEASE LIABILITIES (cONTINUED) 27. HRRAfR®
The Group leases various lands, machinery and equipment and AEBHGEAELERASR THIR - K
properties for its daily operations with initial lease terms range MR EARYZE  YIRBEN T 2E50F
from 2 to 50 years (2020: ranging from 2 to 50 years). (20209 : 7P F2E50F2F) °
2021 2020
20215 2020 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FBxT
Lease payments: HERK
Short-term leases of properties REETRRAZEEMERE
recognised in profit or loss 114 49
Total cash outflow for leases HER SR A% 17,437 20,313
At 31 December 2021, the weighted average discount rate applied MR2021F12A31B st EHE&AE
on the calculation of present value of lease liabilities was 2.00% B A/ FHEEIR =X 7/%¢2.00%
per annum (2020: 2.82%). (20204F : 2.82%) °
Lease payments
HEMNRK
2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET AT
Lease liabilities payable HESBERNFIA
within one year —F AR 10,638 16,891
within a period of more than one year HAMR #RiE 1 4 -
but not exceeding two years BRHBE2F 342 10,402
within a period of more than two years ~ HifR B8 2 & -
but not exceeding five years BTEBBLF — 132
Total lease liabilities HEREAR 10,980 27,425
Less: Amount due for settlement with &, : WREBE TR
12 months shown under E’J121I)EJ Bk
current liabilities HEE B FR (10,638) (16,891)
Amount shown under RIEMENBE T FIE A FRIE
non-current liabilities 342 10,534
The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates to HREENEBESNRTEEBTET IAEH
discount future lease payments since interest rates implicit in the T‘“ﬁﬁﬁdﬁ}\zi SEFMNEE RLHEEN
leases are not readily determinable. In determining the discounts HEITALIE o NETHERIRRE - A&
rates for its leases, the Group refers to a rate that is readily lﬂ%‘jg&&ﬁmzﬁljz{/ﬁ%@ﬁéﬁ » H
observable as the starting point and then applies judgement {gggz—j&ﬁ%gﬂﬁz B R TR REE
and adjusts such observable rate to determine the incremental SRETFIE o

borrowing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

28. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

28. RERARE AR

HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

EIGAMBREAME - BHTRLEHRA
BERABCHEE - TRAMNMBEHRER

EVEH RYRE B IR AE SR DA -

2021 2020

2021 2020 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&xT THIT

Deferred tax assets R IRE E 918 1,256
Deferred tax liabilities BIERIBEE (6,602) (10,461)
(5,684) (9,205)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets RERMBEFEHHENFEZRLERIES

recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

BENMEERAEEREZEHIT

years:
Timing
differences
on income and
expenses
(including
depreciation)
Tax losses recognised
ERRKA
ol c gty
FREEE
BiEEE (BFEHE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2020 720201 A1 H 6,157 (13,434) (7,277)
Charged to profit or loss i i= Ed AR5 (610) (863) (1,473)
Exchange difference PEH =% 318 (773) (455)
At 31 December 2020 72020812 A31H 5,865 (15,070) (9,205)
Offsetting Eiic! (4,609) 4,609 =
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) — iRIEFIIBEE(BIE) 1,256 (10,461) (9,205)
At 1 January 2021 M2021F1H18 5,865 (15,070) (9,205)
(Charged) credited to profit or loss A8z A (FIBR )zt A (1,097) 5,145 4,048
Exchange difference PEH =58 160 (687) (527)
At 31 December 2021 720215128318 4,928 (10,612) (5,684)
Offsetting 35 (4,010) 4,010 -
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) EZEFBEE(ARE) 918 (6,602) (5,684)
AEREEERAERA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

28. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (coNTINUED) 28. BERFEE AR

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax RS ER - NEE AR HER K&
losses of approximately HK$22,132,000 (2020: HK$23,959,000) M B9 AR £ BB T B 18 4) /522,132,000 8
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset To(20204F : 23,959,000/ ;¢ ) - A1 K
has been recognised in respect of the remaining approximately Hom A M B FEOR M - BRI EBLER T
HK$1,919,000 (2020: Nil) due to the unpredictability of future profit #)1,919,0008 7T(2020 F : F) HERIEIT
streams. The tax losses reflected in above deferred tax assets MIBEE - FlURERIBEEEMRERNR
arising at the end of the reporting period which can be offset BEMEMREEN TR ESMMEBRFIRKIE
against future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries will R AR SR R IE BB AS A AT B HR
expire as follows: B -

2020
2020 F
HK$'000
T
Year of expiry BEF 5
2021 20214 - 1,912
2022 2022 F 1,348 3,335
2023 2023 %F 16,723 16,642
2024 2024 % 506 491
2025 2025 % 119 115
2026 2026 % 53 =
18,749 22,495
No expiry EIHR 1,464 1,464
20,213 23,959
At 31 December 2021, the estimated withholding tax effects R2021F 128318 DR EH 2 F A H
on the distribution of accumulated profits were approximately sSHIEIE 2249 435,190,000 JT(2020 4 :
HK$35,190,000 (2020: HK$28,825,000) which would become 286825000787T) » ME DR BIA - EFR
payable when they are distributed. In the opinion of the Directors, 7 BRIZERAENERZSERNSE
these accumulated profits, at the present time, are required EERESR - WA R RAED IR Bt
for financing the continuing operations of these entities and no WERAE L RBINERER B4 ©

distribution would be made in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
no provisions for additional deferred taxation have been made.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL 29. l&&F
2020
2020 F
No. of
shares
g 4=
‘000 HK$'000
T FHETT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each &RXEIE 0.1 B LA E B
At the beginning and end of RS H Y R ER
the reporting period 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITREE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each &RXEIE 0.1 & LA E BAL
At the beginning and end of RS B9 R EAR
the reporting period 620,000 62,000 620,000 62,000
RESERVES 30. W

30(a) R E
M aEBRETARIRNESEZ
ISR BEFEEnEAEBE =5 -
RERSHEESZENEARREEE

30(a)Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company's shares over its par value.
Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company's

Articles of Association, it is distributable to the Company's
shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

30(b)Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the waiver of the amount
due from the Group granted by the controlling shareholder
in prior years and the aggregate amount of the nominal
value of the issued/registered capital of the entities now
comprising the Group less consideration paid to acquire the
relevant interests (if any).

30(c) Statutory reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
enterprises incorporated/established in the PRC, the Group's
subsidiaries in the PRC are required to maintain certain
statutory reserves. The statutory reserve can be used to
make up for losses, expand the existing operation and
convert to additional capital.

30(b)

30(c)

RAR ZFLEANKTARA
BR - FIIRAARBABENN
AR EBERT DR 2 E -

=N
BEARAREERBEFEAZKER
TERONERASEFRR R &
BRERAEE 2 BEEBNERT/
o fifh P S B B T A8 JR1 A AR R A
SMREMEH) -

EERE
RIFARRROR R AR H 1 P B i AR
NI BENRTE  ARER
B BT B N B R RESE TOAE
B ZERBUARBERER &
RIRBEERBORBINEA -
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30.

31.

RESERVES (CONTINUED)
30(d)Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of foreign operations
for consolidation.

30(e)Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share
options granted to employees and non-employees and is
dealt with the accounting policy as set out in Note 3.2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “"Option
Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 May 2019. The
major terms of the Option Scheme are summarised as follows:

(@) The purpose of the Option Scheme is to provide an incentive
for eligible participants to work with commitment towards
enhancing the value of the Company and the shares for the
benefit of the shareholders of the Company to retain and
attract persons whose contribution are or may be beneficial
to the growth and development of the Group.

(b)  The eligible participants of the Option Scheme include: (a)
any executive director, or employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Group or any entity in which the Group holding
any equity interest (“Invested Entity"); (b) any non-executive
director (including independent non-executive directors) of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and (c) any non-employees
(including but not limited to supplier, customer, consultant,
adviser, contractor, business partner or service provider of
the Group or any Invested Entity) in the absolute discretion
of the board of directors in the determination of who has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

(c)  The maximum number of shares which may be allotted
and issued upon exercise of all outstanding share options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group shall not
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

(d)

The total number of shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all share options to be granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the Option
Scheme.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be
issued upon exercise of the share options granted under the
Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Group (including both exercised or outstanding options) to
each participant in any twelve-month period shall not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time
being.

There is no minimum period required for the holding of a
share option before it can be exercised.

A share option may be exercised at any time during a period
to be determined by the directors, the period may commence
on a day after the date upon which the offer for the grant of
share options is made but shall not be later than ten years
from the date of grant of the share option subject to any
provisions for early termination thereof.

Upon acceptance, the eligible participant shall remit
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant. The
acceptance of a share option, if accepted, must be made
within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the
share option.

The exercise price of a share option shall not be less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the share of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations on the date of
the offer of the grant;

(ii)  the average closing price of the share of the Company
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of the offer of the grant; and

(iii) ~ the nominal value of the share of the Company.
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31.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

)

The Option Scheme will expire on 27 May 2029.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, 800,000 share
options were lapsed. As at 31 December 2021, the number
of shares in respect of which options had been granted
and remained outstanding under the Option Scheme was
37,040,000 (2020: 37,840,000).

On 13 May 2020, options to subscribe 37,840,000 ordinary
shares were granted to several eligible participants
including directors, employees and non-employees under
the Option Scheme at an exercise price HK$0.355 per share.
The validity period of the share options is ten years from
the date of grant (i.e. from 13 May 2020 to 12 May 2030), of
which 50% of the share option was exercisable and vested
on the date of grant and the remaining 50% of the share
options shall be vested and exercisable from 13 May 2021
to 12 May 2030. Eligible participants are not required to
complete a specified period of service before becoming
unconditionally entitled to those equity instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) 31. WS (o
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HZE 202112 A31 HIEFE

Categories of Date of grant of
participants share options

Rit
SRERS fABERH

Number of share options

BRESE

Outstanding
Exercise  Exercise period as at Lapsed Outstandingat  Exercisable at
price of  (both dates 1 January during 31 December 31 December
share options inclusive) 2021 the year 2021 2021
R 2021 F R 2021 F R2021 F
BRE  TEEHE 1A1H 12318 12A31H
T#E (BEEEMA) i RATE FREHN o RATE AT

Directors 13 May 2020

- 2020F5 8138

Employees 13 May 2020

20205 R 130

)
o

Non-employees 13 May 2020

FEE 2020458130

0.355  Exercisable in two
tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 14,020,000 - 14,020,000 14,020,000
#2020 5 A138%
2030F5A 1282
RERTTIE

0.355  Exercisable in two
tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 19,900,000 (800,000) 19,100,000 19,100,000
#202065A138%
20305128
T

0.355  Exercisable in two
tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 3,920,000 - 3,920,000 3,920,000
#2020F5 8138 %
2030F5A 128
TR

Total 37,840,000 (800,000) 37,040,000 37,040,000
a5t

Weighted average
exercise price (HK$)

IEFHTREGET)

0.355 0.355 0.355

REREZRERAT 159
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

31. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (coNTINUED) 31. MERR#EETE o)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F12A31 BILEE

Number of share options

felhed =)
Outstanding
Exercise  Exercise period as at Granted  Outstanding at Exercisable at
Categories of Date of grant of priceof  (both dates 1 January during 31 December 31 December
participants share options share options inclusive) 2020 the year 2020 2020
#2020 720204 #2020
R FEE  TEEE 1A1H 124318 12A318
2EERR fEIRERH IE (BEaRMA) W ARITE FRERH WARITE AT
Directors 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in two
tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 - 14,020,000 14,020,000 7,010,000
= 202045138 #2020 54138
Z2030465H12H
SRBTE
Employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in two
tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 - 19,900,000 19,900,000 9,950,000
B8 202045 A13 8 #20205F5A 138
Z2030%5A8128
ARETRE
Non-employees 13 May 2020 0.355  Exercisable in two
tranches from
13 May 2020 to
12 May 2030 - 3,920,000 3,920,000 1,960,000
HFEE 2020658 13H # 2020658138
E2030F5A128
SRR
Total - 37,840,000 37,840,000 18,920,000
st
Weighted average
exercise price (HK$) 0.355 0.355 0.355
I
TRECET)
The fair value of the share options on the date of grant is RETHH BRENAIALBELHAR
approximately HK$2,550,000. During the year ended 31 December 2,550,000 JT o B 2202112 H31H
2021, the Group recognised approximately HK$503,000 (2020: LIEFE - AEEMRA503,000%7T(2020
HK$2,047,000) as the equity-settled share-based payment F 1 2,047,000ETT ) VERAE R EE B
expenses. BENERA o
k=fi-. 160 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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32.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021
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31. REBRHEETEI (&)

The fair value of share options on the date of the grant is estimated ﬁ%ﬁx%ﬂﬁ@ AETIF A B EREA
by using the Binomial Model with the following parameters: HE28T

Grant date 13 May 2020 G qan =Rt 202045 A 13 H
Exercise price HK$0.355 TEE 0.35578 7T
Risk-free rate 1.02% 4 [ g ) 1.02%

Expected volatility* 36.206% TR AR fR * 36.206%
Expected dividend yield* 5.607% Ta HARR B e = - 5.607%

@ The expected volatility is with reference to historical price volatilities of * JEERIR D2 EAR A REREEGEUMN

the share price of the Company and companies of the similar business
nature, adjusted for any expected changes to future volatility due to
publicly available information. Expected dividends are based on historical

dividends. Changes in the subjective input assumptions would materially

affect the fair value estimate.

AIREMELRE  WIRERNEAFRE
BB BRFORIETEIRE SR HE - 8
B S AE S IS AER - THHARR

LB A RERFTEEERTYE

CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 32. BEFRRES
2021 2020
2021 & 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET TFET
Profit before tax B A0 A8 ) 112,406 87,528
Adjustment for: BATEHFAE -
Depreciation of property, W - BERSETE
plant and equipment 51,015 47,111
Amortisation of deferred i SE BT 47 B 8
government grants (1,388) (315)
Write-down of inventories FEMOR 7,328 7,410
Impairment losses recognised on 2 5 YR IAER AR EBE
trade receivables 349 1,101
Interest income FBUA (794) (575)
Fair value gains on financial BAREFABENSRHEE
assets at FVTPL NAERE (868) (1,631)
Finance costs BA TSR AN 7,667 8,822
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - WEREREEE
plant and equipment 236 -
Impairment losses recognised on R - BE MR EERREBE
property, plant and equipment 7,889 -
Gain on transfer of property, plant and EEME - HEMKEREY
equipment to finance lease receivables  BIEMEXIEU S - (402)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 4% « & R R s 442 165
Exchange differences fEH =5 856 (81)
Share-based payment expenses A& 15 B < B 2R 503 2,047
Changes in working capital: HEE L EE)
Restricted bank balance SRR FIRITAS (7,674) -
Inventories FE (75,682) (17,445)
Trade and other receivables B 5 N EH A GRIE (57,683) (34,008)
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERNFIR 78,120 (18,127)
Cash generated from operations EMSRE 122,722 81,600
AEEEERERAT 161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

33. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. RRREARS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in BiGAPBRREMAEENRS,
the consolidated financial statements, during the years ended 31 B RN - B = 20215 K 2020912 A 31
December 2021 and 2020, further information of the related party RIEFE - BEBEH RS REHRNE—
transactions and balances is set out below. HERETIOT -

(@) Transactions with related party (a) EEREBEA 2R 5Z

AEBEGERERSITLHEHER
HHENREENMAEME
20193818 F202242 728
BRFEHS 55940008 7T °

The Group had entered into a lease agreement with the
Ultimate Controlling Party to lease an office premise located
in Hong Kong with annual rental fee of HK$594,000 from 1
March 2019 to 28 February 2022.

2021 2020
2021 2020 FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
Interest expenses on lease liability FHE&ENFEMAX
- The Ultimate Controlling Party ~ — & &4ER T 16 39
(b) Balances with related party (b) EEEREERS Z48R
2021 2020
2021 % 2020 5
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T T
Lease liability HEEE
- The Ultimate Controlling Party ~ — &ARIZR% Ty 99 676
(c) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to (c) EHMRAIEANRBEERS

connected transactions

EXMFE3BEMEBEALRSEK
THRANBUASHATENBER
o R ARZERZHERE™
BRAIE 14A 76 IE T RIEFARK
FEE WERRET EMRAE
TLAERFETERIE ©

The related party transaction in respect of Note 33(a) above
constitutes connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, the transaction is exempt
from the disclosure requirement in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules as it is below the de minimis threshold under
Rule 14 A.76(1).

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021

I, 162



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

(CONTINUED)

(d)
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33. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. MR RAERRXS 5
Remuneration for key management personnel (d FAEEXEEBAS(BEES)
(including directors) of the Group: Y EA -

2021 2020
20214 20204F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
Salaries and allowances e Koy 13,625 11,156
Discretionary bonus EIETEAL 21,324 18,599
Contributions to defined TE B SR IRET B3R
contribution retirement schemes 90 90
Share-based payment expenses  BRD B4 B AR 298 1,243
35,337 31,088
Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in EEMemE—THFBERREEH
Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. TEERERMIEE 11 ©

34. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS 3. FRBEREZCHEMEH

Major non-cash transactions (a) XEFBEEXRH

(a)

The followings set out the major non-cash transactions
during the year:

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group incurred additional payables of approximately
HK$17,949,000 (2020: HK$15,218,000) to constructors for
the addition of property, plant and equipment. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has terminated
certain leased premises with the carrying amount of right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities balance of nil (2020:
HK$1,159,000) and nil (2020: HK$1,259,000) respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
incurred imputed interest expenses in respect of the
payables for construction in progress of approximately
HK$414,000 (2020: HK$698,000) which were not settled and
were credited to the payables for construction in progress

UTRAFENERFESRS

HZE2021F12A3MHILFE » K&
ERAEME  BERSEMES
REIMNE IR SR FRIB 49 17,949,000
TL(2020% : 15,218,000;85T) « B &
2021 F 12A3BHILEFE - AEEBEE
WIEETHEDE  FRABEER
HESENERERESNABZ (2020
F:1,159,000/870) RE (20209 -
1,259,000/8T) °

HE2021F12A31HLEFE K
SEREEIRERNENRKEELED
414,000 7T (20209 : 698,000/ 7T)
RESTFERS ZFMEZH X
HEE AR AEZIZAENZRIE -

AEREEZRER AR
2021 FE 3,
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34. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

164

(a)

Major non-cash transactions (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group entered
into lease arrangement in respect of leased properties.
On the lease commencement, the Group recognised
approximately right-of-use assets of HK$486,000 (2020:
HK$1,762,000) and lease liabilities of HK$486,000 (2020:
HK$1,762,000) respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group entered
into a lease agreement with a third party whereas the Group
leased out its property, plant and equipment with carrying
values of approximately HK$7,344,000 and recognised
finance lease receivables of approximately HK$7,275,000
for a term of three years. The sum of fixed payments is fixed
and approximates the carrying values of the leased assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, interest-bearing
borrowings of HK$2,680,000 (2020: HK$4,234,000), which
were drawn on factored trade receivables with recourse
have been settled through trade receivables discounted to a
bank.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, right-of-use
assets of HK$6,180,000 (2020: HK$9,599,000) have been
transferred to property, plant and equipment because the
finance lease for the machinery and equipment have been
fully settled.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH FLOWS 34. ARBERECHEMBER»

(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) BMETEFELEBENYIER
activities
The movements in the Group's liabilities arising from AEBRETHMEEEEBENES)
financing activities are as follows: U

At Imputed Foreign At
1January  Financing Interest interest  exchange 31 December
2021 cashflow  expenses Addition  Modification Transfer ~ expenses  movement 2021

R2021E  RERS st W1
1818 #iE  AEEX "E BH B3 fSEX  HE#®  12AnA
HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Fhx Fhr TR a7 Fhx THx FRL TaL T

Year ended EZ2021512531R
31 December 2021 LEE

Payables for construction ~ ERERTEFIE

in progress 26,601 (18,317) - 17,949 - - 414 830 21,477
Interest-bearing borrowings 5t 8 &3 229,998 (214) 6,864 - - (2,680) - 1,313 235,281
Lease liabilities HEafR 21,425 (17,323) 389 486 - - - 3 10980

284,024 (35,854) 7,253 18,435 - (2,680) W4 2,146 273,738
At Imputed Foreign At

T January  Financing Interest interest  exchange 31 December
2020 cashflow  expenses Addition  Modification Transfer ~ expenses  movement 2020
R0NF  BERE ezt 20005

1618 nE  FERZ HE (£ &2 FISER NEZE  12ANA
HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$O000  HKS000  HKSO000  HK$000
TAR FATL TETL TAT TAT TATL TETL TAT TATL

Year ended HE2020%
31 December 2020 1NANALEE

Payables for construction ~ ERERTIEFIE

in progress 47922 (38,856) = 15218 = = 698 1619 26,601
Interest-bearing borrowings it B &R 119,630 103926 6,976 = = (4,234) = 3,700 229,998
Lease liabilities HEER 46038 (20,264) 1148 1762 (1,259) - - = 27425

213,590 44,806 8,124 16,980 (1,259) (6,234) 698 5319 284,024

AREEERERAE 165
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

35(a)CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

35. #MTR

35(a) & @t T B3

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT T

Financial assets EREE

Financial assets at FVTPL BAREFABSHNEREE 30,454 29,586

Financial assets at amortised cost R AT ENSRMEE 339,737 267,055
370,191 296,641

Finance lease receivables EWHEEAE 4,042 6,467

Financial liabilities MESRE

Amortised cost B SR A 463,657 394,175

Lease liabilities HEAE 10,980 27,425

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’'s major financial instruments include rental

deposit, financial assets at FVTPL, finance lease receivables,

trade and other receivables, restricted bank balance, bank

balances and cash, trade and other payables, interest-

bearing borrowings, payables for construction in progress

and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are

disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these

financial instruments include market risk (currency risk,
interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk, liquidity
risk and risks arising from the interest rate benchmark

reform. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set

out below. The management of the Group manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)  Currency risk

Certain group entities have foreign currency sales and
purchases denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB other
than the functional currency of respective entities,

which expose the Group to market risk arising from

changes in foreign exchange rates. In addition, the
Company has intra-group balances with several
subsidiaries denominated in foreign currency which
also expose the Group to foreign currency risk.

166 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(@i

Currency risk (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
which included trade and other receivables, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, interest-
bearing borrowings and intra-group balances at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

n O Hil 5 3R 2= Ml 5
HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

35. @M TR
35(b) IS EMEEEERBE#)

m5EE (%)

(i)

Financial assets

B A ()

RIE IR - NEELASNE FT
BENEBEENEBAER
ERE S MEMEUWHIR - 8RiT
BHERE  BHNEMEN
HFIE S EEREEBART
BIAEER)HBREELA T -

Financial liabilities

SEEE ERBE
2021 2020 2021 2020
2021 5 2020 F 2021 4F 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FTET FAT FAT
Functional currency REEHE H I
against foreign
currency
RMB against HK$ AR BT 5,219 4,672 17,422 109,464
RMB against US$ ARBHZET 316,715 186,145 153,964 181,312
HK$ against RMB BT AR 133 21,798 = 9,483
Sensitivity analysis B HT

The following table details the Group's sensitivity
to a 5% (2020: 5%) increase and decrease in RMB
against HK$, RMB against US$ and HK$ against RMB.
5% represents management's assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

TRFAVNAERMHARB LA
B ARBHEETRBILELA
R¥FHE KB E5%(2020F:
5%) ZBURE 5% AEEEY
[ERmpee) v AT o

AEREEZRER AR
2021 FE 3,

167

< Il



-

.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A\
&8

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Bl 5 ¥ 2% B 5

HE2021F12831HIEFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

168

Market risk (Continued)

(@i

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

A positive number below indicates an increase in
post-tax profit for the current year where a 5%
strengthening of RMB against HK$ and US$ or HK$
against RMB. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK$
and US$ or HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal
and opposite impact on the post-tax profit for the year
as set out below:

35. @M IR

35(b) MRS ELBR B

EREERBE®

mGEE (4)

0}

RMB against HK$ AREHBET
RMB against US$ AREEHETT
HK$ against RMB BILHARE

B (E)
BN DT (18)

THESRTMMAREEET
URETHBITHEAREHHE
5% + BRIl ZS 4F 5 Bk 76 1% 0 7 38
e AR EETARET
HAETHARKEBELY - Al
EHAFERBEBMNERT

TIRERE 2 Bk E
2021 2020
2021 4 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET
458 3,930
6,103 209
(6) (554)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the changes in foreign exchange rates
had occurred at the end of the reporting period and
had been applied to the Group's exposure to currency
risk for financial instruments in existence at that date,
and that all other variables, in particular exchange
rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management's
assessment of reasonably possible changes in foreign
exchange rates over the year until the end of the next
reporting period.

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the
reporting period does not reflect the exposure during
the reporting period.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2021

RN M TR ARSI P R
BEHNBEMRBLERCER
RAKEERFENESRTA
M E ¥ RO B AT A H fth 8
ELEER)RHIBERE

ﬁ_‘io

taEeSEEEEHAFER
E AR S HRINEE RS2
Al BE BB AT ©

EEERA  BREIWTTR
KEBIINEEXRR - BAR
s EA R AL O 3 A I B R
HARYRR O ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate restricted and bank balances,
interest-bearing borrowings and lease liabilities with
net carrying amount of approximately HK$163,616,000
(2020: HK$164,229,000) with floating interest rate.
The Group currently does not have a policy to hedge
against the interest rate risk as the management does
not expect any significant interest rate risk at the end
of the reporting period.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the
replacement of some interbank offered rates (‘IBORs")
with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details of the
impacts on the Group's risk management strategy
arising from the interest rate benchmark reform and
the progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under “interest
rate benchmark reform” in this note.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rate
has been 1% (2020: 1%) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's post-tax
results would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$1,366,000 (2020: HK$1,371,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rate had
occurred throughout the year and had been applied
to the exposure to interest rate risk for the closing
balance of the bank balances, lease liabilities and
interest-bearing borrowings in existence at the end
of the reporting period. The stated changes represent
management’'s assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the year. In the opinion
of the management, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk
because the exposure at the end of the reporting
period does not reflect the exposure during the
reporting period.

n O Hil 5 3R 2= Ml 5
HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

35. EM TR
35(b) IEEMEEBERBE &)

5 E g (#)

(i)

M=ER

AEEERHREREFNER
% BL)Z B F| IR ) R RAT
Eh HFBRERRBEEEE
(BRZEMN X BE) REF
B #7163,616,00078 7T(2020
F: 164,229,000 T )78 B8 -
ANEE B B A7 BUR AR 8 R R
B REREIEEBINR
SR N FEETMEAFER
B o

BRI EIREAS T RN EEE
EITRAMNRE - BEFET
$R1T IR A A = (R 1T
BRFHAR ) BRI TE
B B A R o B BRI R AR
BN A T B O R
EREmEREEN R AR
B R 15 B AN Y R A R A
Byl

REREHAR - WHIE EFH, T
1% (2020 4F - 1%) - TMFrA EA
BRRIFETE  AEENTIEE
EHSR 18 N #1,366,0007%5
TC(20204F : 1,371,000/87T) °

B 5 47 TR R AR
BENARFEHEREEAR
s BRI - T
& B ERH B EREREBY
FEERMOARER - LhE
BB R MR A FERRA
DAL - FEER
B GEES T RERESF
R - AR E K
BN S (=
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

170

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(iii)  Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk through its
investments in key management insurance contracts
measured at FVTPL. The fair value of the unlisted
investments will fluctuate, subject to the returns which
are at the discretion of the issuer of the investments.
Such contracts have minimum guaranteed returns
during the holding period. Management is of the
opinion that the price risk arising from the contracts is
not significant.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group's counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group's credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to finance lease receivables,
trade receivables, other receivables, deposits, restricted
bank balance and bank balances. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its
credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that
settlement of certain trade receivables are backed by bills
issued by reputable financial institutions.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial
assets and other items under ECL model. Information
about the Group's credit risk management and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as
below:
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EERERILTERX -

1= RERR KB ES

EERBEAEENZZETER
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BiENRR - AEENEERRE
xﬁéfﬂ&mﬂéﬁ" ERREHREK
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
and finance lease receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group determines credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. The Group only accepts bills
issued or guaranteed by reputable Hong Kong or PRC banks
if trade receivables are settled by bills and therefore the
management of the Group considers the credit risk arising
from the endorsed or discounted bills is insignificant. In this
regard, the management considers that the Group's credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 33.7% (2020:
31.1%) and 82.3% (2020: 81.5%) of the total trade receivables
was due from the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively.

Credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors with
significant balances are assessed for ECL individually.
Except for trade debtors that are subject to individual
evaluation, which are assessed for impairment individually,
the remaining trade receivables are grouped based on
certain common credit risk characteristics by reference to
the Group's aging of outstanding balances.

The counterparty under the finance lease receivables
arrangement is assessed for ECL individually.

Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in
this note.

35. @M TR
35(b) MEEBREEEERBK ®)

RS R BEG ()

KEEL &R E S B ERIE
W EHEHA

EZEREEERR  AEEERE
F#mﬁﬁ@ﬁ Ef%m&ﬁ@
EERF  EUBREIRETE
LA B e BRETE - AN EERE AR

ERITHNESK P RHRITEITK
ﬁ%mfﬁ AEAEEEEER
REBESMREBMELANEE
BRI TEKN gt mE EEE
REAEENEERREBERK -

AEEMEERBRER RER
33.7% (2020 %F - 31.1%) % 82.3% (2020
F :81.5%)ME ZEWFIEBRE T D
PR ASRESEAREFRAREFH
SKIE °

EERERBRR R AR KEEE
E’JJEJ%Z@E Eﬁéﬂ%uuﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ{:f
B8 o BRZA @ RIFY 4 ey 1R B E 5IFF
ﬁﬁfﬁﬁl\ CBRTEIRERELS
EAREE W AEEERRKREBE
ETHAEGERRFBSE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

172

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances and restricted bank balance

Credit risk on bank balances and restricted bank balance
is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances
by reference to information relating to probability of default
and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based on
the average loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and deposits based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative and
gualitative information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management believes
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these
amounts since initial recognition and the Group provided
impairment based on 12m ECL. For the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020, the Group assessed the ECL for
other receivables and deposits are insignificant and thus no
loss allowance is recognised.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. @MI R
35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 35(b) M EREEEEREE %)
POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEE R R EFTE (&)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment REEBABEERRTRTHE
comprises the following categories: FEATEER ¢
Internal Other financial
credit rating Description Trade receivables assets
REEENER B RWRIE HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
and does not have any past-due amounts not credit-impaired
iy RSGEFENRRBE - WERERSER REFENEREEHE- 12EAES
FEERE P““Eﬁa
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired
BRLE BEHAKEEIHARESR REFEPRAEEEE - 12@R"ES
BEREEIHEREBRER FEERE FEEE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
risk since initial recognition through information not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
E2= EERRBEBNBAIMNEERELH BREFENAHEESE- EEFEHRES
BRSPS RRUREEE L FEERE FEEE-
FEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
] BERBRTAECHRGEERE REFEHAREESE- EEFEHRES
ZERE FEBE-
FERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off Amount is
severe financial difficulty and the Group written off

has no realistic prospect of recovery
6| ARBRTEBARARENM KRS AR mHERER
AEEHROEATIAY BERATR
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)
35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposure of the

Group's financial assets and finance lease receivables,
which are subject to ECL assessment:

35. @ TR
35(b) ISR EE B ERBE (&)

=R ERR KR EG (&)
TRFLAKEETAMERERR
AR REEREREEEER
EHEERR :

2021 2020
Financial asset External Internal TGN Gross carrying
at amortised cost Notes  credit rating credit rating  12m or lifetime EC amount amount
REHERATE 12{EAREME 2021 % 20205
MemEE M SBEETR AREETR HFEHABEER BREAE FHE®E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables - 21 N/A Low risk  Lifetime ECL -
contracts with not credit-impaired
customers 101,234 57,974
BHRBFE-RTPEH NEA Rk EEFENEHEE
ER-JFEERE
Watch list ~ Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired 61,454 34,643
EXEE BEFERESHEE
BR-JFEERE
Watch list ~ Lifetime ECL
(Note 2)  (provision matrix) 51,035 53,867
BELE EEFEHESEEE
(Fiz2)  ER(EmERE)
Loss  Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired 4,729 4,743
B EEFENEDEE
ER-EERE
Bills receivables 21 From BBB+ to A+ Lowrisk ~ 12m ECL - 2,502
eSS FiBBB+ & A+ EmR 12@ARBEESR
Other receivables 21 N/A (Note 1) 12m ECL
and deposits 5,269 2,329
Hih R FUE R RS TEA (FzE1)  1n2EAESEEESR
Restricted bank balance 22 A+ N/A~ 12mECL 7,780 -
XRHNRITEER A+ TER NERBHEEES
Bank balances 22 From BBB+ to A+ N/A 12m ECL 114,502 116,890
RITERR HBBB+ Z A+ TER 2EAESEEER
Other item
HitgH
Finance lease receivables 19 N/A (Note 2)  Lifetim e ECL
(individual assessment) 4,042 6,467
e A AR EFE NEA (MzE2) BEFEHESHEE

EE—(ERIHE)
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

35. @M TR
35(b) ISR EE BERBEE (&)

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)
35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Notes:

1. For other receivables and deposits, the credit risk on the balances
is low as the counter parties have good repayment history. The
amount of loss allowance assessed by 12m ECL is insignificant.

2. For trade receivables and finance lease receivables, the Group
has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for credit-impaired trade
debtors and trade debtors with significant balances are assessed
for ECL individually, the Group assesses the loss allowance on the
remaining debtors by using a provision matrix, grouped by past
due analysis.

Provision matrix — Debtors’ aging

For the remaining debtors, the Group assess the impairment
for large number of small customers with certain common
risk characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to repay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms are assessed collectively using a provision
matrix based primarily on the debtors’ aging profiles. The
following table provides information about the exposure to
credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed based
on provision matrix as at 31 December 2021 within lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired). As part of the Group's credit risk
management, the Group applies internal credit rating for its
customers. Credit-impaired trade debtors and trade debtors
with significant balances with gross carrying amounts of
HK$4,729,000 (2020: HK$4,743,000) and HK$162,688,000
(2020: HK$92,617,000) respectively as at 31 December 2021
were assessed individually.

1= EmER K E e (4)
BEE

REMERRERIESTS - &
HEERREE  DEXSHFY
BREL R - Al TR 121
AEBEEERNGERBSEY
FEA -

2. BEZRURERELBEBEER
B E  AREERMEEUBIR
EREAFIFH AT EFERE
BHRERERNEREE -KRiEE
BMERKRR N BB REERNE
WRRREBETRBEE BB MG
Hh - REEBBRABEER (KA
HD AT &I AR ARk BT IR
R ESREE -

R IE — JEW AR ARl

BB TERBERME - AEEF A
AEABFNEFPREBEA QKGR
AR BENARRENET
HERRES HERBEGER
HEFGE EPETZUEBFANE
BAMKE TREY B BEN202
F12A3NBIREREEERNEME
GEHEHRHEEBEBUEEER
B)AFENEZRRFENEE
BERER - EAREBEERRE
EH—89  ASBEHEXFER
NEEE S o 12021512 A 31
B EZEREERIGERRAEEKE
EHMEWREREREBLED A
4,729,000 7T (2020 4F 4,743,000, 7T )
K 162,688,000 TT(2020 % - 92,617,000
JEIT ) B R BIFEE -
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

176

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Provision matrix — Debtors’aging (Continued)

Gross carrying amount

35. @M T R

2021
20214

Average

loss rate

35(b) A EREERERBEE)

1= BB R R IE T ()
TR — JEW ARSIk A (#1)
SREAE

2020
2020%F
Trade Average Trade
receivables lossrate  receivables

EEE LR T EIEER B 5 RKFIR

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Not yet due EEEEIE 0.89% 44,995 0.56% 44,526

1 - 30 days past due BE/H1230H 6.45% 3,547 5.30% 3,559

31 - 60 days past due BEIE31 2 60H 12.21% 978 5.74% 4,897

61 - 90 days past due BEIE 61290 H 33.15% 1,088 28.12% 702
More than 90 days BEIEA90 B £

past due 100.00% 427 100.00% 183

51,035 53,867

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
provided approximately of HK$349,000 (2020: HK$1,101,000)
impairment allowance for trade receivables based on the
provision matrix.

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, for debtors that are
individually assessed, lifetime ECL rates are assessed as
insignificant based on historical credit loss experience and
forward-looking elements and the Group determines that
no loss allowance provision is necessary in respect of these
balances for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

35. @M TR
35(b) MBEREE B ERBEK )

1= EmER R E S (4)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

TRERREMSL T ERRE B
M 3 2 A A A4 A 1B
R -

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the
simplified approach.

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
REFEDR B{EFEB
EHEEEE BEHEEEE
(Y E|EERE) (EERME) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F#ET F#ET
As at 1 January 2020 7202061 A1H - 4,568 4,568
New financial assets originated ~ ¥TREE B ENTA 1,101 - 1,101
Exchange adjustments 0E 5 49 175 224
As at 31 December 2020 72020128 31H 1,150 4,743 5,893
Changes due to financial M2021F1H18
instruments recognised as BREFTH
at 1 January 2021: SIBES) :
— Impairment losses reversed — B ORI EEE (163) - (163)
New financial assets originated ~ ¥TREE B ENTA 512 - 512
Exchange adjustments ME X 38 (14) 24
As at 31 December 2021 M 2021%F12831H 1,537 4,729 6,266
ARKEERARAA 177 [l
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. #MT R
35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 35(b) MEEREEEZERBE &)
POLICIES (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 15 BRI B E ()
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are B o REWHIBREEEEEE Y E
mainly due to: ZHRN

2021 2020
20214 2020 4F
Decrease/

increase in Increase in
lifetime ECL lifetime ECL
Non-credit- Non-credit-
impaired impaired
FEEERIE HEERIE
MEEFES EkSEEE

BHEE BEEE
51812 1N B8 hn
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Settlement in full of trade debtors with HA2{E 578,00078 7T

agross carrying amount of (2020¢ =)

HK$578,000 (2020: Nil) B 2 R A B IR (163) —
New trade receivables with gross BRMEI42(E 50,636,000 57T

carrying amount of HK$50,636,000 (20204F : 53,867,000 7T)

(2020: HK$53,867,000) BT E 5 KRR 512 1,101
The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is A ER RABEAEGEREYNS
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial W3R - BmERT S BTE(EFAL
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. EREENCEARERF HE
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has SEWZBEOHMRE(URESE
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or when the trade B%E)) NEEBIMEE S EWRR
receivables are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs He AREE MZEBARIUAR
earlier. The Group has taken legal action against the debtors 1TEPAB R B EARRTE -

to recover the amount due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flow. The management of the Group monitors the utilisation
of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group principally relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group has available unutilised bank loan facilities of
approximately HK$235,867,000 (2020: HK$209,568,000).

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table has been drawn
up by the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group is required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other financial
liabilities of the Group are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate at the end
of the reporting period.

35. @M TR
35(b) MEEBREEEERBK ®)

B EIER

BRRBETRAREEMS  A&E
HHENASFEMETER LG
KEEEEORARUAAAER S
BREBSMNRERSRENS M
TREENKE - AREEEES
ERITERNER - BEFEER
2K -

NEFETBRBRITERATDE
W EEZRIR R2021F 12 A31
H AEBEASKRBARTER
& 49235,867,000 3 7T(2020 4 -
209,568,000 °

TRAAFIASES R A ENH
TEHH - ZRDBREAEERA
RERKEENZFEHNERAE
AMBRERERE - ERBME -
BEREBRERGHORITERS
AFARREREE > TWRTESR
REEBITOEAER - REBEAMIE
TELRBENIIHADRERE

EREHEE -

FZRBEANBRRACRERE - &
FEREIBM R RRERE
MR BLIR SR NIRRT R E -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

EMTH®
35(b) SRR EE BERBER (&)

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED) 35.

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

RENER R (&)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity table

Total

Total contractual
carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cash flow ondemand
B# (F:3
AEEES AN=1
REAR REREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET

Weighted
average
interest rate

Less than

1-2 years 2-5 years

ik 4
PR
(%) HKS$'000

(%) TER

IREEASE 12526
HK$'000

TER

2E5F
HK$'000
THET

At 31 December 2021 R2021E12831H

Trade and other payables &5 R EfEN A N/A
TERA 200,899 200,899 200,899 - -
Interest-bearing EERAE)
borrowings (Note) 2.73 235,281 236,292 216,580 12,413 7,299
Payables for construction  [E(T7ERE TI2FE
in progress 4.75 27,477 27,511 20,202 7,309 -
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 2.00 10,980 11,096 10,749 347 -
474,637 475,798 448,430 20,069 7,299
At 31 December 2020 R2020F12A31H
Trade and other payables B SR E MR FE N/A
TEA 137,576 137,576 137,576 = =
Interest-bearing TEERE)
borrowings (Note) 3.34 229,998 232,146 194,218 18,007 19,921
Payables for construction  [E{I7ERR TR
in progress 475 26,601 26,931 24,931 2,000 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 2.82 27,425 27,916 17,280 10,503 133
421,600 424569 374,005 30,510 20,054
Note: Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are Mzt : EAREREREZNBITERES

.

180

included in the “less than 1 year or on demand” time band
in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2021, the
aggregate carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$198,597,000 (2020: HK$174,349,000). Taking into account
the Group's financial position, the management does not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The management
believes that such bank loans will be repaid within five years
(2020: within five years) subsequent to the end of the reporting
period in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. @I R
35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 35(b) M EAMEEEERBEK ®)
POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B (48)
Maturity Analysis — Bank loans with a repayable on demand FEIA 2T — A B I EKNEEEH
clause based on scheduled repayments HIIRTT B 5T EE A

Total
Weighted Total  contractual Less than
average carrying  undiscounted 1 year or
interest rate amount cashflow  ondemand 1-2 years 2-5 years

CL) 1%

il ] AERRE HTE
FENE  REERE  REAE REXEE 152f 2555
(%) HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
(%) TR TR TR TR TR

At 31 December 2021 20215124318
Interest-bearing FHEER

borrowings 2.88 198,597 200,410 174,502 10,430 15,478
At 31 December 2020 2020512318
Interest-bearing FHEER

borrowings 3.64 174,349 176,511 146,432 10877 19,202
The amounts included above for variable interest rate MR SR ENEEFEAN 2R R
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable WEMNHNERGHEGFEEZE A/ g
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates FETEMN i SREEEHEZL -

determined at the end of the reporting period.
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)

182

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate benchmark reform

As listed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
several of the Group’'s LIBOR and HIBOR interest-bearing
borrowings may be subject to the interest rate benchmark
reform. The interest rates of these instruments are based
on the LIBOR, which will mature in 2022. Replacement of
the benchmark rates of these instruments from LIBOR
to Secured Overnight Funding Rate ("SOFR") has yet to
commence but it is expected that there will be renegotiations
of terms in the future. The Group is closely monitoring the
market and managing the transition to new benchmark
interest rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBOR regulators. During the transition, the Group is
exposed to the following risks in relation to interest-bearing
borrowings based on LIBOR:

° Additional time may be needed for parties to the
contract to reach agreement as they may renegotiate
terms which are not part of the interest rate
benchmark reform

. The existing fallback clause included in the
instruments may not be adequate to facilitate a
transition to a suitable SOFR

The Group will continue to monitor the development of the
reform and take proactive measures for a smooth transition.

Some of the Group's financial instruments are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes.

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cONTINUED)
35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

Fair value of the Group’'s financial assets that are
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. The following
table gives information about how the fair values of these
financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
techniques and inputs used), as well as the level of fair
value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the
input to the fair value measurements are observable.

n O Hil 5 3R 2= Ml 5
HZE2021F12 A31 BIEFE

35. @M TR
35(b) ISR EE BERBEE (&)

FIEREHE ()

BREEEERAABEFENETEN
ERMEEQAE

AEEBDEREEINEREH
REBAREFE - TREF-MFAIE
FHEFeRMEEANEZERGFRI
EFFEANGETERBARE) -
ARER A EFTERABENA
BREESAREFENTENRR

BEERHRRI(E—EF=RBR)

Fair
value
hierarchy

WARE [REFR

Valuation
techniques and
key inputs

B E R R BRI A SR

Fair value Fair value
as at 31 as at 31
December December
2021 2020
72021 F ENpIviES
12A31H 12A31H
W RE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFHT
Financial assets at FVTPL 30,454 29,586

— Unlisted investments
- Key management
insurance contracts

BRASER A
MEREE
—JFLETIRE
—IEBEEAR
R A&

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, there
were no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair
value measurements.

Level 3

i
[1]
TE]
=

The fair value of the key management
insurance contracts is determined
by reference to the surrender cash
value, which is primarily based on
the performance of the underlying
investment portfolio together with the
guaranteed minimum returns, reported
by the bank on a regular basis.
TEERABRBRENNDIAESSR
ZRRBeEET  DFEERNIEH
KEBREHNREARRBIREER
% HIRTTEHER -

HE2021F % 202012 8318 1k
FE - F—EBHR F_EREF=
EBHAREE 2 B EEE o

AEREEZRER AR
2021 FE 3,
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #Z= 20214912 831 HILFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. @M TR
35(b) I EREE B ERBEK®)

35(b)FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate benchmark reform (Continued)

The reconciliation of assets measured at fair value based on
level 3 and the disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value
measurements are included in Note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The fair value changes that are recognised in profit or loss
for unlisted investments — key management insurance
contracts amounting to approximately HK$868,000 (2020:
HK$435,000) relate to the contracts held at the end of the
reporting period. Such gains are included in other gains and
losses.

The fair value changes recognised in profit or loss for
derivatives not designed as hedging instruments — CCS
amounting to nil (2020: HK$1,196,000).

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of
other financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair

values.
36. COMMITMENTS 36. i
(a) Capital commitments (a)

T EIZEE ()

BREF=ZEBRZAREFENEE
iR AEBFREANGBERF R
R EFERFANGERT 2
BB N R AT HMRMTE 18 ©

EMRE-TZEBRAERBRE
AR BHEERHDAIRBEEDHNA
868,000/ 7T (20204 : 435,000, 7T)
HARERRFENEOBEE -
BT AU R IEIE -

TR PTANIATA -
X EBERREBEERN A EE
AT (20204 : 1,196,000;T)

EEZR/EEAVBRRAILEH
RARBERMNETT AR GHNEMS
REENCRABKREEREEAR
BEABAER -

BARERE

2021 2020
2021 2020 &
HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&T FET

Contracted but not provided net RERTIREININEETL
of deposits paid for construction in BRBEESRE(RIZS)
progress

1,766 52,701
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

36. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

37.

(b) Lease commitments
The Group as a lessee

The Group has a non-cancellable lease commitment of
short-term leases with a term of 12 months or less. The
future aggregate minimum lease payment of these leases
are as follows:

36. %&IE )

(b) FHERIE
KEEEREAFA

AREBERH121EA K ARB AT
BEEHHEHEEAE 2FHE
ARRE R RERENKMOT

—F AR

Within one year

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

302 117

The Group as a lessor

Certain property was leased for a term within one year.
The Group had contracted with tenant for following future
minimum lease payments:

AL BE3 AN
ETOENHERRAS —FUA -
AREBEDH TR REERE K
HEHEPRILEX -

—FUR

Within one year

2021 2020
2021 5 2020 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T

755 528

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the payables for construction in progress, interest-
bearing borrowings, and lease liabilities as disclosed in Notes 24,
25 and 27 to the consolidated financial statements respectively,
net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital, share
premium, reserves and accumulated profits.

37. EXEAKRER

AEENERNEEEERRASEANE
BOAFERLE  ARFEBECER MK
AERBRRRERZADR - B L—FE
o AEREZBERRRSIE -

AEBENERNRBHRERFREAK - EF
BRERENERTIRENE FEERREE
BEMDRIREGA B RERM T2 25K
2THEE) MR RREFEBYRAR
RS A ARGES (R D BITRA
(8 - MR BNERK) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

37.

38.

186

il 5 $R 2= Ml 5
HE2021F12831HIEFE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

To better manage the Group's capital structure and financing
needs, the Group sometimes enters into sale and leaseback
arrangements in relation to machinery leased. These legal transfer
does not satisfy the requirement of HKFRS 15 to account for as
sale of machinery. During the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, the Group did not raise any additional borrowings in respect
of such sale and leaseback arrangements.

The directors review the capital structure periodically. As part of
this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations
of directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues, share buy-
backs and repayment of existing debt.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

37.

38.

BXRABRER 2

AREFEERAREBEREERBERK -
REETRFI LB HA#SENERRA
ZHE - REATEBRIFEB BT BHRE
LHIFE1RHRTE - RIEREEHIEA
BR o M #l =2021F &2020F12H31H
IFFEHH - AEETARE@EEZ DA
THEETEEIMER o

SESTHHEARBETRE - T TE
Z—BD DESHEARAKNAREBERD
HERRETER REESNERR
& AREREBRE - BITH
BEBEREERBEY  FEEBEAR
BRE T -

FLFMMEB KRR

2021 2020
2021 % 20204
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T

Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries NG| = =2

Current assets REBEE
Amounts due from the subsidiaries JFE I B8 A R F0E 111,078 117,528
Other receivables H fh fE U kI8 306 355
Income tax recoverable AR B FTISFR 27 —
Bank balances RITHE R 566 428
111,977 118,311
Current liability REBEE

Other payables H bR 360 367
Net current assets RBEEEE 111,617 117,944
NET ASSETS BEFE 111,617 117,944

Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital &7 29 62,000 62,000
Reserves 1 38(a) 49,617 55,944
TOTAL EQUITY SR 111,617 117,944

* Amounts less than HK$1,000
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

The statement of financial position was approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2022 and signed

on its behalf by

CHAN Tsan Lam
BRI

Director

EF

38(a) Movement of reserves

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fm 5 il 15 $ 2} Bl 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2021 #HZE 2021412 A31 HILFE

38. ARXFMMBRAR =)

CHAN Yin Yan
FR A& X
Director

EE
38(a) EEHEE

Share Share option Accumulated

Bl LR R 2022FE3 29 HEEE &
HERIFREFIZEY B TEFAXE T

premium reserve profits
BMORE BRERE 2T B F
HK$ HK$ HK$
A IT BT BT
At 1 January 2020 7 2020F1 A1 8 34,203 - 18,967 53,170
Profit and total F R & 2 E i ES
comprehensive R
income for the year - - 10,027 10,027
Recognition of equity- mRREEENR S
settled share-based B R AR (B77#37)
payment expenses
(Note 31) - 2,047 - 2,047
Dividends (Note 14) B (Hrat 14) = - (9,300) (9,300)
At 31 December 2020 7A2020F12831H 34,203 2,047 19,694 55,944
At 1 January 2021 M2021%181R 34,203 2,047 19,694 55,944
Profit and total FRmF REERE
comprehensive FERE]
income for the year - - 2,470 2,470
Recognition of equity- RRELEENR S
settled share-based B <& A AR
payment (Note 31) (Krzt31) - 503 - 503
Lapse of share BB (I 31)
options (Note 37) - (45) 45 -
Dividends (Note 14) IB(Hrat 14) - - (9,300) (9,300)
At 31 December 2021 M 2021%F12A831H 34,203 2,505 12,909 49,617
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
7h F Bl 55 itk 3

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for ~ A&k E AREIR « HZE 202045 ~ 20194 + 2018
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated ~F X 2017F 12 A31 HIFFEMFIR @ KNEEH
financial statements in this annual report, the annual report for the MRBEREFBREFENEEUALREERBEM]
years ended 31 December 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017, is set out below. AR

RESULTS E4 |

For the year ended 31 December

BE12831HLLEE

2017 2018 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FHT
Revenue Uz 572,864 959,947 1,251,074 787,394 1,117,688
Cost of goods sold 725 on 38 65 A AR (438,825) (722,123) (937,715) (593,697) (863,830)
Gross Profit EF 134,039 237,824 313,359 193,697 253,858
Other income E bl A 4,868 5,410 4,925 7,588 7,105
Other gains and losses E Az K 518 - = 1914 818 1,062
Impairment losses R BE& - - - - (7,889)
recognised on property, RETERW
plant and equipment REEE
Impairment losses RE S EWFIA = = = (1,101) (349)
recognised on trade R BEEE
receivables
Fair value loss on BARETABREA - (272) - = =
financial assets at FVPL SREEANE
518
Selling and distribution costs $5% K 5 #5Ak 7 (11,604) (12,457) (11,374) (8,477) (7,424)
Administrative and other TN EfAE &R (66,909) (107,794) (135,404) (96,175) (126,290)
operating expenses
Finance costs B R AR (13,525) (12,027) (9,069) (8,822) (7,667)
Listing expenses WX (15,844) (6,402) = = =
Profit before tax BR % A 5 A 31,025 104,282 164,351 87,528 112,406
Income tax expenses FriSfiA X (10,947) (28,527) (37,155) (13,814) (16,142)
Profit for the year ERER 20,078 75,755 127196 73,714 96,264
Other comprehensive 2w (EE) s 16,948 (4,831) (13,312) 34,542 29,093
(loss) income
Total comprehensive income 2 H Ul #4258 37,026 70,924 113,884 108,256 125,357
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAR
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2017 2018 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FHEIT T F#&xT
Total assets 4B E 654,789 971,749 973,529 1,163,290 1,347,035
Total liabilities BEE 370,675 520,508 436,304 525,062 592,247
Total equity AR 284,114 451,241 537,225 638,228 754,788
it; |-. 188 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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